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By GEORGE
A. MEDONALD

'Y ACHING dogs were bavke

ing in cadence with the

WAMES band that was

leading the parade down

Pennsylvania Avenue. 1

can take parades or let them alone. I
would have let this one strictly alone ex-

cept for the orders of the little gray man
in the shabby office up om Qepittd| Hiill.
This was a special It launched
the 5th Victory Loan and it also launched
Major Ramon Alvarez, the flying ace
from South America, on & good-will tour
fo cement the friendly relations between
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the United Stales and the new amiii-Axis
government of Argentina. Alvarez was
an international hero. It was my job to
see that nothing happened to him during
his brief stay in Washington.

The capital city was full of Axis under-
cover agents. Just about the time the
Secret Setvice and Intelligence Depart-
ments thought they had them all tabbed,
£ new crop sprang wp. Very often these
lethal lads were all bound round with
diplomatle red tape. Thelr cases were
usuwlly assigned te Mr, X, the unknown
trouble-sheoter for the head men in the
administratien.

I had been brought to Washington to
help shoot trouble. My reputation as a
hard-boiled private detective in New
York had been my chief recommendation,
I guess. My friends called me Cupid Cain
on account of the two hundred pounds of
muscle and flesh hung en a six-foot
frame. Others called me Killer Cain on
aeeount of the 2nd aeeuracy with
whieh 1 handled the Magnum .357 that
hung in the sheulder elip Under my tropl-
eal worsted sult.

My eyes flickedi over the open touring
car I was pacing from the sidewalk. I
wondered why the little gray man had
wanted me to cover the Argentine ace. I
had learned considerable Spanish during
a couple years 1 had operated am agency
for the Ajax Invessigators, down in Rio
de Jamerio. Mayke that was why 1 had
been eased Into the South American sit-
uatien. Right new, there were seeret
serviee men trotting beside the ear 1A
whieh Majer Alvarez 2nd twe American
qees rode. My orders were o wateh the
erowds aleng the sidewalk. Lots of Latins
here sgll theught Adelph esuldn't be
l!&kfsa They might be d to Break

eq wnl tour of the eagle of the

as before he got saed. ¥
'Ihe slim, bearded flyer was a natural
for the good-neighbor stund. He had quit
Harvard to join Chennault's - Flylng
Tigers and had become one of the leading

rmq:

aces in that suicide outfit. He stayed with
the Tigers when they were mustered into
the service of the United States.

When Argentina decided tn toss out the
Nazis, the State Department publicity
boys had a brain wave. Major Alvarez
was furloughed home fo serve as an
ambassadior without portfolio between the
two nations, He damned near didn't
make It.

The tramsport flyimg him back was lost
at sea. Alvarez and five of the crew man-
aged to launch a life raft. Eight days
later, the raft was picked up by a return-
ing freighter. Major Alvarez was the only
survivor. He was slmost a skeleton, hallf-
crazed and unconscious, but still alive, He,
had spent weeks In hospitals, before he
got to Washington, and he still showed
signs of the terrific ordeal. No wonder
he rated along with Eddie Rickenbacker
# the man whe weuld net die.

Alvarez was a hero to both continents
of the Western Hemisphere, Tomorrow
he was going to marry Dolotes Molinar,
daughter of Juan Molinar, the Argentine
diplomat, chiefly responsible for the coup
In ehasing the Nazl sples out of Buenos
Afres, The flying ace had not seen his
fiaiere sitiiee e [kt Miatvad]. Dylores
was aftending Radeliffe then. After the
wedding; the newlyweds were to Hy to
%&i@@ﬂ% Aixes {0 launeh the gead-will tour

fe

MY CHAIN of thought was suddenly
interrupted. In my racket certaln
Infinitesimal things create lasting Impres-
slons. 1 knew the brief glint that hit my
retina was the refraction of sunlight en
dull metal. Then 1 saw a skinny man In
white liftlng an audomatic with a sure,
practiced gesture. 1 grabbed for my Mag-
num, but the skinny gunsel slid around
8 buge pillar of the building portico
where he stood sbove the crowd. I lost
sight of him for a couple of seconds.
Then 1 heard the double roar of his
automatic.
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My eyes jumped back to the touring
car. Major Alvarez half-ducked and half-
rolled from the rolled back top. He was
hunched down in the seaf. The Ameri-
canfiyessbent over hisin. Then the s,
bearded flyer straightened. He climbed
back up, spread hls hands In a Latin ges-
ture to show he was uhasmed. One dark,
thin hand slieed past his eaf, 6 If to ehakt
the path ef the bullets. Heflashela rew
of white teeth between his mustache and
bezrd; sighaled fer the ehauffeur o start
the ear. t Service men jumped on e
FuRRIRg Beatd, formed 2 ek barricade
g the parade slowly esntinued:

I my two hundred pounds
through the crowd that now milled ex-
citedly along the sidewzilk. Conuiton sense
told me it was useless. The skinny
assassin had ducked Into the crowd, prob-
gbly so smoothly no one had even ne-
tieed whleh way he went, 1 carried a
mental picture of him. skinved,
heavy-black brows, and 2 hump en his
nese that looked like 2 poor job 6f bene-

9. 1 elifbed the steps; but there
were Hifty slender men in White suits In
the milling erowd belew.

My brain was busy as I elbowed a patin
to a side street where I could telephone
Mr. X. 1 know an expert gunsel when I
see one and that hump-nosed Spiggoty
had handled that roscoe like an expert. I
couldn't figure out why Ramon Alvarez
was still alive and uninjured.

The little gray man listened in silence
when I told him of the attempt to gun
out Major Alvarez, There was no surprise
in his voice when he saidi: "I was afeald
that might happen™

I wasi't in the mood for resminiscing.
My feet burned and I had let the Spanish
gunsel get away, 1 asked my boss soutly
what 1 was suipposed to do abeuit [t.

*Go over to the Wardmore Hotel.
Juan Molinar may be there. If he isn't,
ask to see his daughter. Dolores Molinar
may have some idea sbout who weuld
want to murder Alvarez.”

"Listen, chum,” 1 protested. “I'm no
Gable or Sinatra. I learned down in Rio
that these Castilian dames don't mingle
with gringo stramgers. The Wardmore
isn't affieatmppwhere 1 can orush i snd
demand to sce 2 guest. I'd get tossed
right out on my stermum”

"Use Pete Kyle's name,” Mr. X said.
“I'll fix it up at this end. Even the wo-
men in the ambassadors' families know
Kyle's importames.™

1 whistled softly as 1 cradled the re-
ceiver. Now I knew we were playing in
the big league. Pete Kyle was the liaison
man between the State Department and
the investigation branches. Alvarez was
plenty brass hat of Mr. X wouldn't have
broken his rule that our department
worked absolutely lneognite.

The Wardmore was a swanky residen-
tial hotel, occupied mostly by families
in the diplomatic services. It housed rep-
resentatives of most of the nations on the
earth. The desk clerk stared down his
nose when I asked to see Jusn Molinar
or his daughter.

"Whom shall 1 say is callimg?' he
chilled.

"A representative of Mr. Kyle of the
State De, . 1 dished it back with
plenty of frost. It worked, for he got busy
on the house phone. A few seconds later
he retutned. He was almost cordial as lne
told me that Sepor Molinar was at the
embassy, Miss Dolores Moliinar was just
golng eut. She would see rie in the East
Lounge in & minute oF twe.

T HAD just parked my sylph-like fijgiree
in a big daasir when 1 soav 2 il dark-
haired girl get out of the elevator. She
stopped at the desk, then her dark eyes
followed the clerk’s nod in my direction.
I registered my sppreciation of Ramon
Alvarez' good taste a6 she eame across the
lobby: She was dressed in efie of these
simple, but expensive white 6uHits that
fensy and enhance the eharms 6f

Aguress)iltkenbeys.
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Her black hair was comtimsti etk lnosely
from her lovely, dark-ivory face and
caught in a bun at the nape of her neck.
She had the sort of complexion that
doesn't need cosmetics. Her eyes were
dark brown and they examined me
frankly from beneath strsight, black
brows as she walked toward me. The
Argentine beauty was more en the setl-
eus side than 1 had expeeted. She asked
impersenatiy:

"You wished to see me, sir?"

American schooling had left only the
faintest trace of an accent. She shook her
head slightly as I moved a chair toward
her. Her eyes repeated the question.
Finesse Is not one of my strongest points.
To me a straight line Is still the shortest
distanee between wo poiats.

“An aitempt was made to assassinate
yourffamas Major Alvarez, a little while
ago,” 1 said bluntly. “Fortunately, he

unharted and continued with the
parade. Do you know ainyone who would
dare attempt such an assessingtion before
theusands of withesses in bread day-
lighe™

Color drained from her face. She
grabbed the back of the chair 1 had
moved toward her. 1 thought it was the
shock of the news. Then I saw it was
more than that. Acute pain was making
#n agonized mask of her lovely face. She

t t6 speak. Then she moaned, bent
double with beth arms wrapped around
the red belt of her tailered suit. 1 jurped
for her, but 1 was tee late. She esllapsed
#hd lay writhing in herrible ageny R the
Hoor. Perspiration beaded her forefead
and the pupils ef her eyes were dilating
fantasticstly. Her red [ips were Heakadl
with feeth:

I hunkered down beside her, though
1 knew 1 could do nothing. She chioked
and as I bent closer, I heard her whisper:
*Ia boieMa’" Then the sound was too
falnt te distinguish words. I thought she
said; "ol peligre?” Roughly transisted, it
sesrned 26 If the dying glrl tried to tell

me something about a dangerous bottle.

A bellhop started across the lobby. He
came running when I called, I clipped:
"Get a doctor. Miss Molinar i§ seriously
ill. Send in the managsy.”

He was a bright kid. He flicked a
glance at the girl, then raced for the
desk. I knew the doctor would arrive too
late. Doleites Molinar was dead! If I
knew anything about toxicology, she had
been polsened!

Cold shivers started chasing up and
down my spine. Dolores Molinar had
looked the picture of health when she
got off the elevator and spoke to the desk
cletk. She had walked lithely and grace-
fully Inte the East Lounge o speak to
me. She hadn't taken any peisen while
1 was with her. Suicide was fulled out
imiediately. That weuld leave enly ene
esnelusion for &he eapital peliece when
they were ealled in. Anether foreigh eiti-
Zen had died. Killer Cain was right e
the spet when it happened. QED: i
PRI P e IR R

CAPTAIN MAGUIRE and his capital
storm troopers didn't know of my
hook-up with Mr. X. They rated me &5 &
high-class torpedo with a private peep's
license who peddled hls reseoe t6 the
highest bidder. Every new and then some
ginze er ether weuld twn up dead in
an alley oF in sere eheap stash. Laeking
mly other m?ee, Maguire's miniens usk-
ally tried &0 hang the jeb 8R fe.

Very often they were correct, though
unsuccesdiul. Wiat they didn’t khow was
the fact that the ginzos had deluslens of
knoeking off some Important allied offi-
elal, or some equally unfriendly aet. To
try to bring them 6 justice weuld mean
International esmplications and reverber-
ations. That was where 1 fitled into the
seherne of things. My plan ef diplomaey
was to earner the rats ahd let them make
the firstt breals foward hemieide, with me
35 the ebiect: To dale my Helhed had
been 2 hundred per eent perfeet: t'd
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collected a scar or two—but the Atlantic
Charter was still in force. And Maguire
was still trying to get a rope around my
neck as a kill crazy gunman. It {ooked
as if the murder of Dolowres Molimar
might give him just the excuse he wanted.

CHAPTER II
“It's Your Fumerl”

HE manager wsas a fussy, fat
little man in a morning coat
and striped pants. He was ar-

d by a tall, broad-
shouldered, samdy - haired
man who carried a small black bag. I

Suddenly she had collapsed
and lay writhing in horrible
agony on the floor

took saendy-locks to be the resident physi-
cian at the Wardmore.

The doctor took @ quick look at the
crumpled figure on the flaar. Then his
bleak, eyes measuired me from- my Size 11
brogues to my sunset hair. For a moment,
1 thought he tecognized me. Then his
face went blank agsin. He seid:

“I'm Dr. Brune. What happened to
Miss Molinas¥"

"That's your job, doctor,” I told him.
“She collapsed while she was talldng to
me. From §e way she was doubled up
in pdim, I'd suspect poisoning. But I'm
10 toxi ”

Dr. Brune dropped to one knee. He
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flidksti open her eyelids; then he gently
forced open her jaw. His sandy head
nodded slightly. He got up, dished me
aflattstans.

"It was poison,” he declared. “"Who
are you? How was Miss Molinar poi-
soned?’ His words were clipped by a
strong British accent.

I flipped open my billfold, siiowed him
my private detective's license. I had more
confidential credentials, but I didn't want
to show them unless I had to.

"I don't know how Miss Molinar was
poisoned,” 1 said fladly. “She {ame out
of the elevator, walked across the lobby,
telked with me for & minute or more, then
she collapsed. She took no poisen in that
peried of time. Ner did she show any
sign of having taken it £fwiw§ly= 1 den't
think it was swicide. 1hink she was given
serne sort of 2 delayed-aetion peisen that
didn't take effeet untl she get dewn
here.”

The manager started firing questions at
the doctor in Spanish. He was worried
sbout the international angle and the
scandal that might be attached to the
hetel. 1 kept my face blank as though
1 didn't knew what he was jabbering
about.

“The police must be called, Senor
Muralla,” the doctor clipped. “The State
Department will see that proper steps are
taken to prevent notoriety.” He turned to
me, still talking Spanish, and asked:
“I3n't that right, Detective Cain?”

“I don't speak Spamish” I told him.
*T suppose it was Spanish you were talk-
ing. You handle it pretty fluently.”

"I was a ship's doctor for several
years" he explained. “Visiting so many
foeeign ports, 1 picked up several lan-
guages, The manager has gone to call the
police. Before they arrive, do you care
to say whether yeu visited Miss Molinar
in a private of an official eapacity. I'm
net just eurleus. 1 have been their phy-
§i€i§£i sinee &he family eame to Washing-
teh.

“It was government business,” | said,
1 was groping in my mind for an excuse
to powder before the capital police ar-
rived. Maguire would certainly try to
hang the murder on me. I couldn't ap-
peal to Mr. X for help. That was one of
the rules of our department. An agent
whe get in a Jam with public authorities
was en hls ewn. Ouf usefulness was
ended when we no lenger eould serve as
@nenymeus agents.

“I'll notify the family," 1 told Brune
suddenly. “There's a lot about this poi-
soning that doesn't hit the eye. I've
never run across symptoms like these.
There was no cyanosis to speak of; she
suffered convulsions and frothed at the
mouth, but there seemed to be no con-
striction of the throat, Yet it acted ter-
tifieally fast when it hit. Get any ldea
what it might have been, Decter?”

"I'd have to make an autopsy to be
sure,” Dr. Brune said. He shoved back a
lock of his sandy hair, rubbed his jaw.
Then he said:: “It could be curare or one
of the other South American poisons. I'll
stay here to talk with the medical ex-
aminer and the police officers.”

I nodded and went across the lobby to
the elevators. The hotel manager had fin-
ished calling the police. He mopped his
brow and tried to explain to the few
guests who crowded the entrance to the
East Lounge that the police would net
want anyone to go inside the roem. The
elevater bey teld me the Molinaks eecu-
pled Swite 426,

A slim girl with a shoulder-length bob
of raven black hair answered my fring.
Felice Molinar's picture sppeared fre-
quently in the Washington society news.
She had all of the dusky beauty of her
sister Dolores, plus a vivacity and sparkle
that hadn't appeared in her older sister's
ealn, serlous face. Her big, blaek eyes
searehed my faee.

*I'm Detective Caim,™ I blurted out.
1 hated like hell to hand this lovely kid
asolar plexus walllop. “Your sister came
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dowmstairs to meet me.” She nodded her
dark head, waited e y. '“There's
been—she met with an acoidemt 1 stam-
mered.

“An accidemt”’ Her eyes probed at my
face. 1 guess she read the bad news in
my moon face. I shifted my grip on my
hat, plowed fingers through my red hair
trying to find words to lighten the blow.

SMALL, delicately featured woman
with silver hair came Into the foyer
trom the living reom. She asked a ques-
tlon and Felice told her mother In Span-
ish that 1 was the government agent
Delexes had gone dewn to see. Seme-

thing had happened to Deloses, the girl
s#id. For a lit seeond; the white-
haired mether shivered, then her sheul-

ders and ehin stiffencd: She told her
daughter te invite me inte the apartment.

Inside the graciously furnished living
room, Sevwra Nitdlinaiss ddekkepyes ffivedd
on my perspiring face. She asked
quietly:

“"How serious was the accident? Tell
us the truth, please.”

I heard my choked voice telling them
that Dr. Brune and I both believed Dolo-
res had been poisoned. SewwvaNibdlinar
started for the door. Her voice was
strained and husky, but it didn’t quaver
gs she said: “Come, Felice, We must
go to your sister”

I acted as if 1 was interpreting the ges-
ture rather than the speech. 1 saidi: “Per-
haps it would be better for you to stay
here. The police must be down there by
now. They have routine things to do
that are not pleasant to walch, A little
later, you ean see her privately. In the

meantifme, perhaps you ean help fne find
the beast murdered hef. I'm sure it
Wwas net shick

Felice Molinar was dabbing at the tears
thizit foodistl her big black eyes. She
pushed the handkerchief against her lips
a8 if to choke back the sobs that were
wracking her slim little figntee. When I

mentioned suicide, she stiffened and her
eyes blazed through a mist of tears.

"Certainly not," she declared. “Do-
lores was heart-broken when it was re-
ported Major Alvarez had been lost at
sea. But he returned safely and they
were to be married in two days. My
sister was much in love with Ramon
Alvarez and was very happy. Wihen she
went down t6 see you, she was golng to
do somme finall shopping for her trousseau
after she left you. Suicide was the
farthest thing from her mindl.”

Sevmve NMitdimar ssat ssifility iin aa ddegp-
cushioned chair, staring blankly at noth-
ing. Tears coursed unheeded down her
cheeks. She said in & broken voice: “We
should notify your father, Felice. He
should be here.”

The girl went to the telephone, made a
brief call in Spanish: A minute later she
was back. She told her mother thje polios,
through the State Department had noti-
fied the embassy. Juan Molinar was on
his way to the hotel. Felice turned her
tortured black eyes back to me. 1 felt
like something that had crawled out from
beneath & rock @ 1 questioned her. 1
asked exaetly what her sister had dene
that merning.

Dolores' schedule had been one of
orderly routine. Breakfast and a bath,
some packing for her honeymoon ttip
to Buenos Aires, a visit from the mani-
curlst, then dressing for her shopplng
trip. That brought It up to my telephone
eall. But there was something missing.
There had to be. No epportunity fer

ee 6F elsamﬂg seemed te fit inte
1 decided to lay the eards
eﬁ mé E&Gle

"Just before your ssister died, she whis-
pered something in Spamish. I didn't
understand it—but it sounded like ‘Tz
botelld and ‘el peligre’. Would that
mean anything to you?"

"A bottle—a dangerous bottle—" Ee-
lice Molimar's black brows met in a heavy
frown. Suddenly her lips tightened and



182 PRIVATE DETECTIVE STORIES

her eyes narrowed to slits. She
started to speak, then changed her
mind. Her face was expressionless
as she said: “I can't imagine what
it could meam.”

I knew I'd have to go all the way
with her. She had some valuable in-
fommation tucked away beneath that
lovely black hair.

She knew I meant it when I told her 1
didn’t care whether I blasted her or not.
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"Miss Molinar,” I said flatly, "I am a
special agent for the Government. Only
a few people in Washington kmow my
Gowernment connection. The capital po-
lice and many others know me only as a
private detective whose reputation is not
too good. It is necessary for me to keep
that stakus. Today an amempt was made
to ldll Major Alvarez. Your sister has
beed murdered i a vefy sinister and

leus manner. 1¢'s my jeb to find
eut whe is behind hese erimes”

“Isn't that the work of the Federal
agents or the capital police?” she asked.

"Many cases in Washington are so in-
volved ip. dipllomstitciintnijgethetitwonlé
be disastrous far them to become public
information. Our department warks en-
tirely undercover and with no official
status. But we get results and we pun-
Ish international criminals. I'd lke o
have yeu hire fe a6 2 pElvate deteetive t6

——
————
R ot it e
e et e

investigate your sister's murder. There
will be no fee, but I'll have the oppor-
tunity to be in on the ground floor and
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nose around asking questions without
too much suspicion and jealousy on the
part of the capital police. Provided they
don't try to pop me in the calaboose im-
mediately, for murdering your sisker," I
added grimly.

HE was silent for long seconds that

seemed like hours. 1 could see she
was studying the question from all sides.
She knew nothing about me, had only
my word that 1 was a Geverament agent.
My enly recommendation had been that
1 had wsed Pete Kyle's name oand Pete
was connected with the State Depari-
ment, Then she made her decision. She
walked over to the table, pleked up her
poeketbook, took eut 2 dollar bill, She
camme baek, handed it to me and said;
“Yeu are hired, Mr. Cain, Wihat ean I
do te help?”’

"Your sister was poisoned before she
left this apartment" 1 declared. “She
wasn't poisoned in the elevator and she
didn't take poison in the lobby or in the
lounge, when 1 was talking with her.
The poison was one that was delayed
in its effect. 1 think she tried to tell me
what it was when she used her last words

to mention what you said meant a diemger-

ous bottle. Doesn't that call anything to
your mentosy?”

Felice Molinar's face got pale and
there were littleffleckssof red in her black
eyes. She whispered shakily:

"Just before she started downstairs, our
new maid, Maria Serramo, came to give
Dolores her nerve capsules. Dr. Brune
had prescribed them when Dolores was
shocked by the news that Ramon Alvarez
was lost at sea. But since he was rescued,
she felt she hadn't needed them. When
the maid brought the capsules and water
to her, she took them rather than to hurt
the girl's feelings by refusing. Then she
went out to get the elevaiior.™

My spine tingled. It was almast too
good to be true. I asked her to find the
maid Shs hurried through the apart-

ment, calling her name. She came back
to the living room, with a puzzled ex-
pression on her lovely face.

I can't understand it," she said. “She's
gone! Inthe middle of the day, like this,
she has put on her hat and coat and
walked outt™

1 uitered a silent curse. Of course she
would be gone. Her dirty work was done
and she had taken to cover like a plague-
infested raf. 1 asked Felice some ques-
tions about the maid. 1 learned she had
been employed about three weeks before
through an employment agency. Her
credentials were so good that the family
hadn’t even bothered to check them,
Felice said the girl was from Argentina,
and was gbout twenty-five years old. She
was short, swarthy, had a slight east in het
left eye. That was 2 break, Either the
FBI oF the eapital eops should be able

plek u EE 2 short, dumpy Argentine
weﬁeh with 2 eoelced eye.

Felice showed me the bedroom and
bath she shared with her sister. She
pointed out the bottle of nerve capsules
in the medicine cabinet. 1 wanted to
take them, but 1 knew the capital police
would want to go over that bottle for
prints and have their laboratory analyze
the remaining capsules when they heard
Felice's story. She said they had called
in Dr. Brune on the few occasions they
needed a doctor because he was right
there in the hotel.

When I asked her who would want to
murder her sister, she shook her dark
head and her eyes filled with tears again.

I could understand them trying to kill
my father,” she said. “The nationalists
and Fascists in Argentina haie’ him be-
cause he has worked to join our nation
with the other South American repub-
lics infightimgythe Nazis. Dolores knew
nothing about politics. She was thinking
only of her future happiness. She knew
that the airplane trip to Buenos Aires had
been arramged so that Major Alvarez
could bring about some sort of diplomatic
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coup. Neither Dolates nor I had any
idea what special mission Alvarez was to
perform other than a good will tour.™
Heavy knuckles pounding on the door
interrupted my questions. That would be
the capital police. I didn’t want to see
Captain Maguire right then. The lan-
tern-jawed diief of #he eapltal oops
would have lots of Ideas abeut Dolores
Molinar's death. Most of them would
eenter areund hanging me for the erlme.
I explained this briefly to Felice. Ma-
guire’s boys would love to drag me to an
outlying preciact station for “question-
ing.” From the tone of my voice she
got the pleture of the rubber hose and
blagkjacks that would punetuate those
guestions. She szidi: “The kitchen door
leads to the eorrider en the other side
of an el in the building. It ean't be seen
from the frent door ef the t and
gm Feaf staifs a¥e just dewn the back
Her dark eyes were douded with doubt
again as she led me back to the kitchen.
I wondered if she was sorry she had
d me as a government agent on my
own declaration. At the door, she said

“Go ask Major Alvarez if he knows
why Dolores was murdiensiir

Then she shut the door quickly. I
heard her hurrying to open the front door
for the police.

WALKED down two fllights, then
corridor to t e eevators
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1 saw his shoulders droop; he made a
distastieful gesture of resignation. I
guessed the officials lnatl atiet], andl fhatily
obtajned permission o do &n aufopsy.

Wihen 1 called Mr. X from a phone
in the next block, his voice came the
nearest to registering defeat 1 had ever
heard from the little gray man. He said:
“The dirty . 1 shoyld have ex-
pected it. You'd better sigh off the ease,
Cupid. Magulre will &y t6.hang the -
der on you, Hele up somewhere for a
eouple of days until we ean get a life en
the ldller.”

"Like hellt™ I grated. I put that girl
on the spott She was murdered because
she was coming down to talk with me.
Her sister has hired me, as a private in-
vestigator, to find the killer. I'm geing
to do that little thimg.”

"Then it's your funeral™ the little geay
man clipped. His voice had a faint note
of appreciafion. “You understand that
you're operating entirely on your own.
If you get your neck in a sling, we don't
know you.”

"That's okay with me, chum™ I
agreed. “"But you might have the F.B.I,
boys throw out a dragnet for that cock-
eyed meid. Also for the h
gunsel who didn’t bump Alvarez off this
morning. I've got 2 huneh Hhee twe
jobs are closely ted up.”

Alvarez had been put up at the Colum-
bian, one of Washington's better cliff-
dwellings. The flying ace had been
scheduled tq speak at a lunch at the Bank-
ers’ Club on the bond drive. If he hadn't
been Informed of the death of his fiemn-
eee, he would prebably come back to
his hotel to rest after the luneheen.

I had time to grab a samdiwich and
cup of coffee and to get to the Columbian
before the bankers' luncheon broke up.
In the Capitol district or in downtown
Washington, it was a two-hour job to get
served a mesl. But I knew some of the
less pepular spots where it would take
semething less than a day to est. When
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I finished], 1 still had time to walk to
Alvarez' hotel.

I knew 1 was being tailed before 1 had
gone a half-dozen blocks. I made a few
turns, used the plate-glass windows of a
couple of stores for mirrors, and a skinny,
rat-faced little Latin always showed in the
view, That didn't make me mad. It
might be helpful. 1 led my shadow across
town to the more deserted sireets near
the Basin, Finally 1 got In a distrlet
that was Mestly warehouses and loft
Buildings: 1 pieled up speed and went
around a esuple earners fast. Fer a big
fan, 1 ean fmeve premptly whea If's
Reeessary: Otherwise; 1 weuldn't have
lived &5 1ang 25 1 have.

I ducked into a dark alley, flattemel
against a wall. My ear was cocked for
the scuff of his feet. 1 meant to step
out, collar him, and find out who had
put him on my trail,

It didn't work out that way. I stepped
out and the skinny guy stopped so short
he skidded on his heels. But his hand
whipped to the back of his collar. Re-
member I had spent a cowple years anmang
the Spiggoties down in Rio de Janeiro.
I learned sbout knifemen and their tech-
nique. This lad was a smoothie; 1 knew
that in & fllahh.

I jerked my body to the left fladtiingg
for my Magnum as I ducked down on
one knee. 1 fired across my chest, even
s ] saw steel glinting in the air, It was
that fast. 1 felt the whish of the knife
blade & It sliced the sir near my ear.
Then 1 heard the plunk 26 it bit lnte
weed beyend me. The rear ef my Mag-
num ehoked off any ether Aeise.

The skinny knife-thrower went down
as though a sledgehammer had tapped
him. 1 raced to his side, then cursed bit-
terly. My snap shot had torn tinpugh
his throat, He was deader than the Atlan-
tic Charter in Joe Stalin's opinion. I'd
get no Informatlon out of him. 1 firisked
him burriedly, found nething to identify
the little rat. He had a paek ef mafl-

juana cigarettes, a crumpled dollar bill,
some silver, and a couple keys on a ring.
Then my fingers probing his vest pocket,
found a little folded slip of paper.

It had been torn from a pad, one cor-
ner was partly gone. Showing at the
corner was a short black line, crossed by
a shorter, heavier, black line. 1t looked
like & lop-sided X, with part of the upper
left hand arm gone. The paper bore an
address In the waterfront dlstriet, hear the
river, Then I heard feet pounding the
pavement and the shiill wail ef a peliee
whistle.

The shot from my Magnum had been
heard and the cops were coming to in-
vestigate, 1 wasi't in a spot to answer
my questions or to be dragged to head-
quarters, The fooksteps were nearer HOW.
I raced my fingers futilely through the
other pocket, turned and lammed down
the alley.

CHAPTER I1I
Death Theeats

WAS lucky enough to flag a

cab a couple blocks from the

| warehouse district. My brain

| was busy as I rode uptown to

the Columbian. The killets

had hooked me up with the case damned

quiekly. 1 mentally checked the few peo-

ple whe knew 1 was Interested In Seuth
Awaerican pelities.

Felice Molinar and her mother were
ruled out immediately. They wouldn't
try to have me murdered. 1 was trying
to find Dolores’ killer for them. DF.
Brune knew 1 was mixed up in the ple-
ture, but he didn't fit 26 a suspect. He
was a Britlsher If 1 had ever met ene.

Most of the staff at the Wardmote
was made up of foreigners, since the
hotel catered almost exclusively to a for-
eign clientele. I'm not exactly unknown
in Washington, and some of the help
might have recognized me. Perhaps the
Faselst ring had agents spotted in the
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hotel. It would be an ideal hunting
ground for Axis agents.

I knew now that I was fighting a
ruthless, efficiently organized enemy ma-
chine. The clerk at the hotel desk was
a Latin, So was Muralla, the hotel mana-
ger. Either one of them, or both of them
could belong to the Fascist group from
South America. My temper began to siz-
zle. The rats underrated me if they fig-
ured a pint-sized knife-thrower could
take me.

I learned at the desk at the Hotel Co-
lumbian that Major Alvarez hadn't re-
turned yet. I parked my two hundred
pounds in an easy chair where I could
watch both of the main entrances. My
own spot was partly screened by pillars
and potted palm trees. About fiifteen
minutes later Alvarez came in. He was
accompanied by the American aviators
who rode in the parade with him. There
were a couple of brass hats from the
Wat Department with them.
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Flagging a bellhop, I flashat! my pri-
vate dick's badge in the palm of my hand.
I gave him a dollar tip to go page Alva-
rez and bring him into the lobby. He
wasin't to tell the Argentine ace who
wanted him but just to say it was Gov-
ernment business, The kid was a born
diplomat. He was back in & couple min-
utes with Alvarez and there wasn't a
sign of suspicion on the flyer's dark,
bearded face.

As 1 climbed out of the chair to greet
him, I thought I saw his dark eyes widen
as though in recognition. I was certain
I hadin't met him when 1 was in South
America. I decided I must have been mis-
taken for his face was a mask of polite
inquiry as he asked:

*Do you have a message for me, sir?"

I decided mot to do any siedivew-tsoxing.
Latins are temperamental. Maybe I could
jolt him into saying something that would
give me a lead.

"Your ffiancee, Miss Dolares Molinar,
was murdered at the Hotel Wardmore
about an hour agn,” I said bluntly. “Do
you have any idea who might want to see
her dead?”

I knew he wasm't adfimg. Color
drained from his face, leaving it a putty-
colored shade above the beard. His
mouth and jaw went slack. Fear, in-
credulity, and then suspicion chased
across the surface of his dark eyes. He
grabbed the back of a chair; rallied a
little, then sheved bis dark head toward
e, “Wihat kind of joke are you trying to
pull en me?’ he asked savagely.

“It's no joke,” 1 answered fiatly.
""SenonttaNlbblinarwassppticnedd aaddshiae
died in my presence. 1 am a private de-
tective. I've been engaged by her family
to find the murderer. Can you help me?”

He shook his head in a dazed fashion,
like a punch-drunk figiiteer. He said
vaguely, half to himsdf: “I must go there
at once.” He started across the lobby,
then eame back. Now his dark eyes were

nafrowed 1o suspicion. He rasped!;

"Wihy did Dolores Molinar's family
engage a private detective? Her father
is a diplomat. Surely one of the Fedetal
agencies would investigate such a cass”

"“Tiey probably will," 1 adimitted. “But
they are all tied up in red tape and inter-
nation intrigue. 1 happened to be work-
ing on a case that concerned a maid the
Molinar's hired. Maria Serramo was sus-
pected of stealing some jewelry from her
foemer employer. 1 happened to be on
the spot when Dolores Molinar died.
Maybe they had heard of Cupid Cain's
reputatien, 1've gotten some pretty good
results en other murder cases. Besldes,
it leoked a5 if the maid 1 was tf@iliﬁg
might be heeked up in the murder. Se
they hired e en 2 eontingent basis. 1f 1
get gie murderer, 1 get 2 fee. If 1 don't,

‘M euf My time and towble”

E ASKED me more zhout the maid.
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to fear dying,” he said simply. "There it
was in the open where it could be faced.
But the Nazl agents are not ss brave
#s their fighting men, They prefer to
stzb in the back in the diatk’”

“I guess you get used to riding with
death in the cockpit with the Flying
Tigers. That's what my friend Jim
Dougherty said in a letter I got from him
over there. 1 you knew

. He was a flying cop on the
New York pollee force, but he velun-
teered for service with a Buneh of yeung
aviglers whe went ever to jein the
Tigers.”

Alvarez' dark eyes seemed to be prob-
ing at my brain. He frowned for a min-
ute, then shrugged.

"I do not recall the nams" he said.
"We changed assignments fieequently.
Most of us were called only by what you
call ‘nicknames.’ Over there 1 was called
Firpo, because 1 came from the pampas
of Argentine. Maybe your friend had a
nickname?”

I said 1 didn't know. Then 1 asked
him some questions about the Fascists in
Washington. He pointed out that he had
been in the city only for twenty-four
hours and most of that on exhibition. He
seid he would inqulre among his Seuth
Araerican feiends 1n the eapital and pass
gleng any information t6 me.

1 handed him one of my agency cards.
He frowned, then said: “This is 2 New
York address, Wihere can you be reached
in Washingien®"

1 gpologized, took back the old card,
gave him one with my address on F
Sireet, where the Gowvernment unwit-
tingly hired an old maid to take messages
for me ss a camouflage to cover my spe-
elal agent activities. Alvarez said he had
to go. He told me he had never met
Dolokes’ parents, #6 they had become en-
gggfa while at esllege. That made his

of expressing his serrew deuBly
hard.

From a pay booth in the hotel 1 called

the unlisted number Felice Molinar had
given me. 1 wanted to talk to her but I
figueell Maguire would ‘leave a plain-
clothes cop to grab me if 1 showed
sround the Wardmote, She picked a
small cafe not far from the hotel that
was @ faverlte spet for the visiting Latins.

FELICE was sitting in a seduded booth
when 1 got there, The vitality had
been drained from her face and her eyes
were dark wells of misety. She ordered a
cocktail and 1 had 2 double Scotch. I
gave her a fast resume of what had hap-
pened since 1 left the Wardmore, includ-
ing my conversation with Alvarez which
hadn't seemed to lead anywhere. 1 asked
what the capital cops had learned.

"Ihey found the maid, Maria Serramo,
was using faked credentials. Even her
passport was forged. They have taken
the capsules to see if any of the others
contain poison.” She hesitated & minute,
playing with her cocktail glass, Then she
salld;

"The police captain asked my father to
check with Mr. Kyle of the State Depart-
ment. Mr. Kyle ssid he knew nothing
abouit you except that you had & re [
g6 2 dangerous gunman. The police have
put eut 20 alarm to plck you up. Captain
Magulre believes you and the meid are
beth werking for the Faseisks”

"I told you to expect something like
that” 1 said, “Neiither the State Depart-
ment nor my own chief could afford to
openly admit eny connection with me
few. De yeu still wast me to work for
you"

"I want to have my sister's murderer
canight,” she said fladly. “If you are
working for the Nazis—and helped in
that crime==you will dle—unless you kill
me fiest.”

It wasn't a threat. Just a plain state-
ment of fact. Something in her black eyes
told me she wasn't bluffing. 1 seid that
was ekay with me.

"Wy did you suspect Major Alvarez
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might know something about your sister's
deaift”" 1 asked her. "Don’t you share
the worship both of pur countries are
dishing out to the Argentine ace?"

"I met Ramon Alvarez only once.
When I was at school in New England,
my sister invited me to Boston for a
week-end party. Then he was absolutely
devoted to Dolores. So mtuch so, that I
eaf't understand why he didn’'t rush to
see Her the minute he arrived In Wash-
ingten. 1 knew he has been busy—but—
i fhink Deleres felt toe, that he might
have arranged to see her feF just 2 few
FRiRKEES 1R the Ewe days he has been iR
the eity: Maybe the waf has ehanged him.
1 wanted you &0 see if he was really
shioelsed &t the Rews 8F her death”

I gave her my opinion of Alvarez' re-
actions and tried fo tell her that he was
siill in the Army and subject to orders.
She gave me back the Spanish equivalent
of horsefeathers.

Just then a big, heavy-set South Amer-
ican came back from the bar. He seemed
surprised to see Felice there. For a min-
ute oF more, he expressed his condolences,
staving st me, all the while. I gave him
2 dead pan, net leting on thet 1 under-
stoed Spanish.

He must have been an intimate friend
of the family, for he started to bawl out
Felice, in polite but searing Spanish
phrases. He told her he was surprised
fo see her in a public drinking place, so
soon after her sister's death. Especially
with 2 eharacter like Killer Cain, known
in Washingten as a prefessional guaman
and 2 eheap, roughneek private deteetive.

Felice checked her temper, but it was
an effort. She told him frigidly that she
was keeping a business appointment and
not a tryst and that 1 was trying to find
the beast who had murdered Daloes.
That was more important, she thought,
than sitting at home wringing her hands
and meaning. The heavy-set man's dark
skall was a eeuple shades darker as he
stalked off stiffly.

"Who is the character with the John
L. Lewis eyehrows™ I asked her. “"He
didn't like me—but definitelly.™

“Sener Tamas Bazan is at the embassy
with my father,” she said shalkily. “He
was shocked to see me here—with a
notorious gunman like you. He suspects
the worst of me."”

“Amy chance that he's mixed up with
the Fasnstt?” 1 clipped. “"Sometimes a
good attack is the best defense. Maybe
he thought he had & special reason tor
not killing me.”

*hat couldn't be,” she said fiimmoly.
“He has worked closely with my father
in negotiating recognition of Argentina’s
goverament. 1 learneq since 1 saw you
that Argentina may recelve lend-lease aid
from the Unlted States. My sister and
Majer Alwarez were o take a teken fgay=
ment to Buenes Alkes, when they fiew
there an their heneymesn. Perhaps that
was why Deleies was murdered, 8 pre:
vent that payment frem reaching the hew
government thefe?

She refused a second cocktail; said she
had to get back to the Wardmore before
Sexon Bazan had a chance fo ruin her
reputation. 1 went to the sidewalk with
het. She seid she didn't want me to walk
baek to the hotel.

WENT back for another drink to

piece fogether bits of Infoemation I
had gathered. 1 had a visitor, almost as
soon as the drink was setved. Bazan was
8t my tsble again. He was accompanied
by two pretty Latins whom I had mis-
taken for gigolos. At closer inspection, I
saw they both wore shoulder clips under-
neath their white linen suits. Things be-
gan to look interesfimg.

This time Bazan talked English—and
how!

“If you ever try to see the daughter of
my friend Juan Molinar again, 1 will
make you exceedingly sorry” he said.
"I know your reputation. Perhaps you
think Felice Moliimar offers a chance for
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you to compromise her and blackmail her
family. I will see that you die, if you
attempt anything like that”

The temper that goes with my sunset
hair began to sizzle.

“IListen, Bush Facs," 1 growled. “This
is a free country. I'll talk to anyone I
want to talk with. If those pantywaists
with you are anxious to go back to the
pampas in wooden overcoats, they needn’t
wait until they see me with Miss Melinar,
They ean start their trlp right new by
making 2 play foF the pep-guns they are
weaFinsl.”

The South American gunsels under-
stood me. Maybe they hadin't been
around long enough really to appreciate
my ability with a gun. Perhaps they just
didn't give a damn. They bBoth Aursed
murder In their hearts and they begged
Bazan to let them unleash it. 1 theught
for @ seeond 1 was geing o have to take
them, of wind 4p R 2 slab mysell.

Bazan barked in Spanish that he didn't
want me murdered. He just wanted to
protect SemowirtaMidlinalss ggoeH naanee. I
dared him to repeat it in English, though
1 undersicod damned well what he seid.,
He gave me 2 dirty seowl, went oA to give
the gunsels direetions to blast me, if he
saw Mme even speak to Feliee. He prom-
ised that he rated high eneugh in diple-
fatie eireles to square =it anyshe was
interested ensugh to bether abeut iy
demise:

1 was sfill hot under the collar; mad
enough to force the hands of the imported
torpedoes right there; when Dr. Brune
strolled in from the bar. He must have
listened in on the battle of words, for
he was grinning 2 little as he walked
ever to Bazan, His Spanish was perfect
& he said;

"I think you are making a mistake,
Sewon Bazan. The red-headed one is an
agent of the United States Government.™

"The State Department today denied
that fact to Juan Molinar,” Bazan said
heatedly. “He is known only as a crim-

inal private investigator who kills for
hire.™

I scowled at them zs though I didn't
understand but knew they weren't paying
me any compliments. I asked Dr. Brune:

"What's ealimg old Hairy Brows? He's
supposed ‘to be a friend of the Molinars.
I'm working for them, but he wants me
knocked off. Which side of the fence
Is he on?”

"“The Latins have peculiar stamdadis”
Brune smiled. “He believes you are try-
ing to compromise Felice Molinas.™

"That sounds like Mairzy Doats to
me," 1 rasped. “"He wants to see me dead.
Petiiod™

Brune's shoulders lifted. He invited
me to have a drink as Bazan and his
pretty gunsels pushed off. The two double
Scotches were beginning o jet propel my
brain. Pieces of the puzzle were falling
in place.

I was afraid that unless 1 could move
fast, there might be another murder in
the Moliinar family. Felice was too lovely
to join the heavenly choir so young. Be-
sides, there was 2 damned good chance
that a private peep by the name of Cupid
Cain might be collecting an Irish banjo
at the same time Fellee was being Issued
a hatp.

CHAPTER 1V
M#. Big
LLAN DOUTHIT, the spe-
cial agent in charge of the
EB.I, office for the district,
was a friend of mine. He
knew about my assignment
with Mr. X, so he readily agreed to meet
me at my office on F Street when 1 tele
phoned him. 1 slipped Into the office
building by an alley and a rear stairway,
in ease Captain Magulre's dragnet was
spread fer me.

The acidulated virgin who acted as my
receptionist and secretary, told me a
Major Alvarez had called. He thought I
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might be interested in visiting a house on
Water Street. I checked the memorandum
1 had lifted from the pocket of the skiimmy
knife thrower. It was the same address.
Alvarez probably had something st that.

Douthit figured I was slap-happy when
I asked him to have a check made of
Ramon Alvarez back in Buenos Aires. I
wanted to know whom the ish ace
had played around with. Also whether
there were any other Argentine fieis
whe had gone Inte the sefvice, either for
the Axis or the Allies. My theory sounded
weak when 1 repeated it 6ut loud. But
Deuthit had seen several of my hunehes
woklk eut befere. He even agreed o have
the eard with my New York ageney
address that Alvarez had handled
gheeked for fingerprints:

The G-man pointed out that 1 was
skating on thin ice. The Argentine situa-
tion was still 2 keg of TNT meadly to billow
in almost any direction. First Ramirez
was in the driver's seaf: then Peron and
the Colonel's Group had the upper hand.
A wrong step might ruin any chances of
linlng the South American nations up
solldly with the Allies. If 1 made that
faisstep, 1'd rank right aleng with Bene-
diet Arneld and the man witheut @ eaun-
try @ the prize heels in histery. 1 teld
him 1 was ready to take the rap if 1 was
Wreng:

After he had gone, I took care of a few
detail reports at the office. Then I found
a restaurant where 1 could battle my way
in to a falrly decent meal. It was dusk
when 1 went out to hunt for a cab. By
the time 1 had flagged one and ridden
dewn te the waterfront, It was datk.

I wantied to get the layout of the YWater
Street house before I stuck my neck out
too far. It was a shabby, three-story
affair, lasitcddtby o vecart lof om ome sidie
and an sbandoned transmission plant on
the other. There was nothing sinister or

5@@?@&4& sbout the rum-down, drab
building.
I walked down the opposite sidewalk.

Lights showed behind curtains at the
front. The rear of the house was dark. 1
saw a taxicab pull up to the curb at the
next corner. 1 slipped into the shadows
of a convenient areaway. My eyes popped
open &s 1 saw Fellce Moliinar get out and
pay off the cabby. She waited until the
cab tooled off. Then she took 2 plece of
paper fiom her purse, ehecked it under
the strest light. She eame along the side-
gvalk Scross from me, seanning the Aum-
ers:

The dark-haired beauty had the same
address I did. She went up the steps,
rang the bell. The door opened and she
was admitted. All 1 saw was the dress
of the woman who let her in.

I crossed the street, kept to the dark
part of the sidewalk as I made my way
back to an alley between the transmission
plant and the house. I crouched for a
long minute beneath one of the lighted
windows listening for the sound of a
scream or a striggle. 1 heard nothing but
silence, as the Irishman said.

I WRACKED my brain over the latest
turn of events, Was It pessible that
Felice Molinar was double-crossing her
family? Maybe she was In leve with
Alvarez and the suspicion she had veleed
was either jealensy or 21 aet t6 eover her
ewn real feelings. 1 had enly the girl's
werd that the _@@@l@@é@@é mad, Maria
Serrane, had given Delores peisened
eapstiles: Feliee eeuld have put e on the
spet for the skanny knife man. 1t esuld
be that Sepsyr Bain was suspicieus ef
Felice and figured that 1 wss iR 2 deal
with Rer: 1t logked 25 theugh Mrs: Eai's
little Bay had Been iaken for 2 sheker.
Darmes 2iways Make 2 ki Okt 6f e

In spite of my two-hundred-pound
bulk, I can imitate a back-alley cat when
I want tn. 1 slid silently around to the
back of the house, tried the rear door.
It was locked. One of the two keys I'd
shitehed along with the note from the
knife-threwer fitietithe lock. He probably
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used the rear entrance to awoid being
noticed by the neighbors. 1 moved the
tumblers quietly, gently shoved the door
inward, listened for a sound that might
indicate a reception committee had been
planted in the back hall to greet me. I
eouldn’t detect even the faint sound of
bated breathing. 1 negotiated the dark-
ness to a deer that led to the kitchen.
Again 1 listened, then eased into & dark-
ened Feem.

Every nerve was taut as I eased into
the kitchen. In my racket you develop
extra-perceptory senses. Intuition was
warning me of some hidden danger. I
swiveled my eyes around trying to locate
the seuree of peril. Then I spotted a big,
shapeless blob ¢hat leomed darker than
the surreunding gleem. My hand was
Hashipg thwvad myy wileen tihe
dark shape leaped at me. 1 sidestepped
ahd meved in; But | wasw't guite fast
ensugh: A blaekjaels grazed the side of

ezd, then erashed dewn A E%
showlder. 1t was 2 terrifie W@ﬂggé
RimBed My wheie left side and made Hy
knees Buekle: 1 deve ferward, heping 8
elineh my enermy Befere 1 went dewn.

My fingers clawed down, caught on
something that I judged was a fountain
pen. Then my fingers slid free, pulling
the hard rubber cylinder loose. 1 tried
to bury my chin in my assdllant’s chest,
like & groggy fighter clinching for a
breathing space. A famlliar odor hit my
nostrils, but 1 was toe gfoggy to recognize
the smell. 1 was %ushed off balanee a6 I
tried to heelk a right te my enemy's belly.

1 heard a grafing laugh behind me. I
knew I'd walked into a disulsile teeap. There
were two Joes in the room with me, and
1 was propped between them for a kill-
Ing. A second later & depth bomb ex-
ploded inside my skull as 8 gun bagrel
smacked agalnst the side of my head.
This time 1 didn't even feel the fleer
eofe up to smiack e I the kisser.

I came out of the fog with balls of

fire Bonmeding aggainstmyyegytiitis. IIfifinkyly

decided it was the lights. I heard a vaice
a long way off sayimng:

"Tie him securely. I'll be back to take
care of both of them tomorrow. We
can't take a chance on getting rid of them
until after the plane has gone. Moving
the flight shead has changed the whole

» setteekiide’”

It was a terrific effort to lift my eyelids.
The room was still a blur in front of my
unfocused gaze. I thought I saw a big
man in dark clothes going out the door.
Then I tried to lift my head. Nausea and
dizziness chased me back to unconscious-
ness again, 1 felt ropes being looped
around my wrlsts, but there wasi't much
1 esuld do to stop it. 1 gritted my teeth
against the pain in My head, tried to make
fay brain fdRetien in plaee of my museles.

When Iffinzlliydid open my eyes, 1 saw
1 had been dragged into a living room.
My fogged vision fixed on a slender fig-
ure In & chair near the big radio cabinet.
It was the hump-nosed lad who had
blasted at Major Alvarez. He was cud-
dling & pearl-handled .38 revolver in his
lap. The feral expression en his swarthy
face told me he weuldn't miss if he had
te use the gun. He bared a meuthiul ef
white feeth iR an evil gFin that dared me
te make 2 fuRRy MOVE:

1 twmed my head paimfully. Felice
Moliinar was in @ big chair &t my left
Her knitted dress was torn af the neck,
revealing & nlee round shoulder and a lit-
tle more. Her black halr was tumbled
abeut her face; ene shee was off and a
nylen steeking was In shreds around her
anlde. Feliee had put u4p guite 2 battle
befere they subdued her ensugh {9 lash
her hadds and feet. The esckeyed maid
was talgng 2 Blindfeld eff Seuth
Armeriean girl's eyes: Maria Serrane was
sperting 2 beawtiifl shiner: 1 felt Betier
when 1 knew Feliee had been decayed 8
the \ater Sireel 2ddress and hagiL came
valuntarily &8 keep 2 Faseist oF Nazt &
SIghmeRt:

I learned later that Matia Serramo had
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answered the bell. She stepped back and
when Felice crowded in, Hump Nose had
lowered the boom on her, But not before
the Spanish spit-fire had gotten in a
couple of good licks hersellf. She'd been
treined on basketball courts and field
hockey grounds jn the United States.
They finally had te slug her unconselous
befere they eould tie her up.

Hump Nose told the Serramo woman
o go out in the kitchen and make some
coffee. They had an all-night job watch-
ing the prisoners until the Jefe came back
to dispose of them, he said. Felice Mo
iinar followed the departing maid with
lethal hate in her datk eyes.

“How did they manage to rope you
in, gorgeous?”’ 1 asked her.

“I received a telephome call that I
thought was from youl, telllimg sme tio come
to this address. The message said for me
to ring the bell and you would let me
in. I should have known it was a trap.
But whoever called, imitated your voice
and made it sound excited, The message
hinted that you had something definite
polating to Dolores’ mutrderer. 1 was t6o
exelted even to guess it was a trap.”

"I fell for the same sort of a gag,” I
admitted sheepishly. "It was our friend
Alvarez who sucked me out here. Though
1 zlready had this joint on my list for
investigation, so 1 probably would have
wound wp here aimiivow.”

"That's amother reason 1 was anxious
w see you. Because of the attempt on
Ramon Alvarez’ life and because of
Dolores' death, the government agreed to
advance the date of Alvarez ftrip to
Buenos Aires. He is to leave the airport

o 6:00 am. jomorxow. He dsld my

father he was so sorty he weuldn't be here
io attend Deolores’ funersl”

"That ties in with what the big boss
said about the schedule being chamgsdl”
I thought out loud. Then 1 asked Felice:
“Did you get a look af Mr. Big? I met
him in the datl thai 1 didn’t see his face
when he powdered out of here.”

She shook her head regretfully.

"There was a big man in dark clothes
in this room when they dragged me in
here. I think he had a white deth over
his face and his hat was pulled low over
his forehead. 1 remember thinking he
was bigger than Ramon Alvarez. But I
was so mad because 1 had been trapped
that 1 didn't pay much attention te him.
1 was busy fying to fight to keep frem
getting tled up. Then 1 was hit en the
head and when 1 eame to, 1 was Blind-
folded.”

Hump Nose had been listening. A de-
risive grin split his ugly puss as he said:

"*The Americans are all fools, sevmriza.
This beeg palooka—in this country he is
a killer, a dagerous lobo. In Argentina,
he would be a brayiing hanm. I its iRecause
you helieved he was a superman, that you
must die tomorrow.”

Felice Moliinar started to get steamed
up. I shot her a warning glance. It might
help if the gun-throwing Spick rated me
as acluck. He might be tempted to get
careless.

FINHE hope seemed futile. Hump Nose

rested on the end of his spine i a
eorner ehair, stll eradling his revelver,
through the leng heurs of the night. The
silence of he resrm was broken only by His
insuliing eerments oF By Maria Serrane
bringing in esffee. Bist the Heurs weren't
entirely wasted.

Hie swarthy gunman had made a mis-
take when his boss ordered him to tie
me up. Hefigumethmy hones were
with fat instead of muscle. 1 had man-
aged to get enough fog out of my braln
to expand the muscles of my arms and
wrists as much #s 1 could. It was an eld
escape trick of Harry Houdini's that had
come in handy befere. Now when 1 let
the musdes eontract, there was a little
bit of slack in my wrist-bindings,

Feauful of dissipating this slender
chance for freedom, 1 bad to werek on the
ropes almost imperceptibly. Once in a
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while I was able to roll or twist my body
as though in pain. These moves usually
brought up the gun in Hump Nose's lap,
but as he relaxed again, 1 esuld work on
the slack, trying to push the leese leop
down over thefhingertinsef one hand. My
left hand was eut. 1 Bigured 1'd ripped
it on the wﬁeﬂ 1 pulled frem the big guy's
poeket, when 1 get sapped.

The gunman sent Maria Serrano to bed
shortly after midnight. He said he would
call her if he wanted her to take over the
sentry duty. It was nearly three a. mm. the-
fore I had worked the eoil down over my
right hand, Then it was just 2 case of
waiting for & break, Felice ared to
be ., She was sluniped uneom-
fortably In her ehaif. 1 pretended to drep
off inte selid shimber.

Through slitted lids 1 saw Hump
Nose's eyes were getting heavy. He would
nod, then catch himself. The nods came
at briefer intervals, Then 1 heard him
swear. 1 rolled a little on the Hleor, mut-
tered as though 1 was talking in my sleep.
The move enabled me fo ease my left:
hand out of the rope. Hump Nose got
up, eame over loeked at me. He
seefned satiisiied foF he starled for the
bedreem, prebably te walke up the esels
gyed maid for 2 relief en guard duly.

It was the break I had prayed for. His
back was goward me for a few seconds.

I eased my lashed feet up beneath me,
until 1 was squatting as if in a leap-frog
game. 1 braced my hands and feet, then
launched forward in & desperate dive.
Luck was with me., The drive frem my
legs earried me ente Hump Nese's back.
He went to the flosr like 2 limp puppet
uhder the im of my we hundred
peunds. His ehin hit just after his knees
and elbews. He didn't even quiver. |
relled him ever and plahted ene e his
jaw to make siire he didn't eeme 8t of
the feg 06 s66h:

The crash wakened Felice. She came
out of her chair with a cry of fright, I
had just scooped up the pearl-handled .38

when the maid rushed out of the bed-
room, awakened by the rumpus. Felice's
eyes got round as 1 ordered the Serrano
woman o back up against the wall, with
her hands over her head. The cock-eyed
miaid knew 1 meant It when 1 told her I
didn't eare whether 1 blasted her for the
murder of Deloses Molinar o whether I
let the district exeeutioner put @ re
arsund her neck. She baeked up fo the
wall, her faee putly gray with Rar.

I frisked Hump Nose, found the usual
long-bladed knife that the Spicks carry.
1 sliced niy own ankles free, then hobbled
over to free Felice. There were some
cords on the portieres. Hump Nose was
regaining consciousness. 1 parted his hair
with the barrel of his revolver, Then we
tied up the guaman and the eock-eyed
maid. 1 prewled the living reem until 1
found my ewn Magaum.

It was nearly four o'clock then. Fellice
had said Major Alvarez was to take off
at six. There was a lot to be done, and
the time was short. 1 said to the dark-
haired girl:

“"You've got to get to a telephone,
Felice. We've got to stop that plane
gt

I gave her Mr. X’s home phone num-
ber, instructed her to tell him what had
happened about the fligitt. He could pull
wires to have the flight held up. Also I
wanted the little gray man to get hold of
Allan Douthit, the G-mar), a6 home or at
his regional office. 1 wanted Douthit out
at the airport, with the information he
had been able to dig up en Ramen
Alvarez. When she had getten that
essage over o ME. X, she was #o eall
her father. 1 had 2 huneh 1 might Aeed

2 Mgliﬂaf e%li ﬁﬁ% te Unseramble m?

tom Fé ) 1 Hg went WreRg:
told Felietgpigt might b 2 geaei_ideg it
Sepy Tomas Basan sccompanied her
father.

Felice wanted me to go along with hex;
but 1 shook my head-geimly. 1 looked
at Hump Nose, said fikaly:
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“I've got a little job to do here, firsit.

This rat has some information I want
tucked away in his skull. I'm going to
get that information. It may take a little
time—and it won’t be pretty to watch—
but I'll get it.”

She knew what I meant. She gathered
up her purse and her hat. She made a few
repairs to her dress and she was ready to
go. I didn’t know how far she would
have to walk to find a telephone. 1 hated
the idea of sending her out In that tough
neighborhood at that hour In the morn-
Ing. But it had to be dene. 1 gave het
Hump Nose’s revelver, whieh she said
fiheléaewhawlfgﬁ; She tueked it 1A

gf handbag, le Fse epen
under her am), 8 she ggulq 53; SSH
fast, if she needed it

CHAPTER V

Hump Nese Siags

§1 TOOK more than a half

hour of my best persuasion
fo persuade Hump Nose to
s sing. My knuckles were raw
WPary and his face looked ss if it
had been through a mest ehspgjef. If1
felt any eompunetion while worldng over
him, it faded when 1 theught of hew he
had beasted that he weuld kill me and
Feliee Melnar 25 seon 26 the big bess Fe-
tirned. The maid spilled her Intestines
after Hump Nese eracked. She filled in
the rest of the details.

1 made sure both of them were securely
lashed. I cut up a soiled Turkish towel
from the bathroom, fashioned a couple
of crude but effective gags. 1 dragged
the Serrano woman into a closet in the
bedroom where 1 could lock her in. I
double-hitched Hump Nose to the pipes
beneath the sink in the kitchen. While
1 was in the kitehen, 1 spotted some
breken glass en the fleor. That must heve
besn what eut my hand. 1 leeked areund,
found ether bits, then lecated a bulb
partly Hiled with mereury. 1 had been

a thenmometer 1 had grabbed, not a
fountain pen.

I took a few valuzble minutes casing
the lower floors, hoping for further evi-
dence to tie up the Fascist gang. There
were no records or stalements. But I
found a short-wave sending outfit in the
cellar. It was hooked up with the poles
and wirlng of the abandoned transniission
plant next doer, effering an excellent
eover for the illielt broadeasting of mess-
ages to Seuth American Nazis. The big
r2gie in the living reem was alse 2 Fe-
eeiving set for shertwave stuff ep a
speeial band:

Dawn was breaking when I let myself
out of the house. 1 had to walk fiveclilocks
before 1 found an all-night restaurant
with a telephone. 1 called the capital po-
lice. Wikthout identifying myselff, 1 told
Maguire's desk sergeant they could pick
up the maid who had murdered Dolores
Molinar and the gunsel whoe had blasted
at Ramon Alvarez if they got out to the
heuse en Water Street right away. 1 told
the desk man to held the pair for gues-
tening by the F.B.1. later that merning.
1 prenged die phene befere the eapital
66p eeilld sk any questions.

I managed to flag a night-hawk cabby,
gave him affive-gottio get me oul to tie
air field in a hurry. It was just after
5:30 when 1 paid the meter. There was
2 big cargo tramsport wanming up on the
runway in front of the administration
building.

My heart-beat picked up as I legged it
toward the small crowd gathered near the
gangplank of the plane. It looked as if I
was going to get away with it. That is,
provided my wacky theory stood up.
Otherwise—my rusty scalp would be
nailed right to the walls of the Smith-
sonlan. 1'd be deader than a dodo &5 a
private peep.

Allan Douthit was there with two of
his agents. I saw Juan Molinar and be-
side him was the stocky figure of Tomas
Bazan. 1 had ordered Felice to go home
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to bed after she made her telephone calls,
but she was right there, beside her father.
The dark haired beauty was so excitied] fhat
she didn't know the pins had come out
of the repair job she did on the neck
of her dress. She was offering an intrigu-
ing display of lingerle. She must have
told her father part of the score, because
he was so exeited he didn’t netlee his
davghter's dishabille either.

Major Ramon Alvarez was in the cen-
ter of the crowd. He was flanksdl on
either side by Hlight officers of the Trans-
National line. The Latin flyer was argu-
ing vehemently with Alan Douthit and
a hawk-nosed, thin-faced man. 1 breathed
a sigh of relief 2t the sight of Pete Kyle.
The litte gray man had done some fast
werk, getting the Stafe Depaktment lia-
isep man eut there af that time in the
ferhing. Beth Kyle and Deuthit were
flgeiéﬂlﬁg to Alvarez's beef with granite

gs

S 1 neared the crowd, a smll, imcon-

spicuous figure slid away from the
fringe, started toward the administration
building. Mr. X had his topcoat collar
up. His chin was hunched down, and as
usual he was avoiding publicity. He lifted
his face enough to glare at me as we

“It’s your neck in the sling, from here
on," her . “God have mercy on your
soul, if you cam't deliver.”

"It's in the bag, chum! In the bagl™
I said Ilitinely. lwnslmdidlmtmy;counﬂ&émee
matched my voice. He profanely told me
it had better be. Then he went on home.
I was on my own, his adions told me
louder than words.

Douthit handed me a doubtful grin as
I joined thie party. He saiidk “Okay, Cain.
Wihere do we go from here?"

"We start by arresting this Fascist
agent who is masquerading as Ramon
Alvarez,” 1 clipped.

fHhe Latin flyer's head came up. His
dark eyes were blazing wells of hatred.

He screamsd: “Wiat do you mean by
suich an insult. SenorsNibdlinaraaddiazan
know Ramon Alvarez is not a Fascistf!"

"Ramon Alvarez ism't—but you arem't
Ramon Alvarez!" 1 rasped. “Allvarez was
shot down at sea. You thouglitfyou could
saffely take his place. But you forgot that
Major Alvarez'sfiingerpridmttswent on file
with the War Depattment, when the
Flylng Tigers were mustered Into United
States service. Did this man's pelats
mateh these of Alvarez, Deuthit?’

“The prints over at the War Depart-
ment on Ramon Alvarez' file say this man
isn't the fHlyimg ace from Argentina,” the
G-man said flatly. “We have contacted
our South American agents trying to iden-
tify the prints 1 got from hat eard yeu
gave me.”

"I can identify him. He is Alejandro
Gonzales, one of the youngest officers in
the Colonel’s group and an ardent Fascist.
The Nazis learred by radio thta Alvarez’
plane was shot down. They conceived the
smart idea of creating a stand-in for Al-
varez, Gonzales Is 2 fiyar. He was given
an Intense eourse in the histery ef the
Flying T E@ﬁ and in the background ef
the real Alvarez. He grew 2 beard like
the enes the Tigers sperted whieh made
the impersenatien easier. He fasted for
days &6 give himself that siarved leslk:
Then he was put en 2 German skbmarne
The Nazis learned By ragie that Alvarez

plane went down. Wien the &G H@d

2 merehant Sp mraudgﬂ i

stirfaced and I3unehed” the life Féﬁ w&tﬂ

Gonzales aboate: IF wes 2 HM&!

%&V@ the FaSEISts 2 ehance 19 Spof 2§
E@.I égﬁ Egm{gﬁégg FAE%%HBH’&‘ 8[§ Nzl

HOMIRAGR"

I turned to0 Juzn Molinar. He and
Bazan were listening open-mouthed.

“Am I right in believing this plane was

to carry $5,000,000 in gold as a token

-of the lend-lease aid Argentina

eould obtaln If she lined up ene hundred

per eent with the Allies? 1 asked them.
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The South Americans nodded, Pete Kyle
nodded in agreement with them.

Then Juan Molinar's face grew black
with anger. He took a step toward the
South American flyer. Bazan grabbed his
shoulders, said quickly: "No! No!
Amige, tirellawwilll gusisdhHim™

"Because of this impostior;, myyddaygiittar
was murderadl” Molinar grated. “They
knew Dolattes would see that he was not
Ramon Alvarez. She had to die before
she exposed him. With Dolotes gone, he
eould continue the d ion. Serex dvio-
linar and 1 had never met the real Al-
varez. We knew him enly from pletures”

“That's the story, Sewor Molinar,” |
said harshly. “"Guomzales planned to board
this plane carrying $5,000,000 in gold as
Ramon Alvarez. The Fascists have a man
planted in the transport crew. Gonzales
and this other Hitlerat would have over-
eome the crew, throwlng them out of the

lane somewhere between here and

uenes Aifes. Gonzales weuld pilet the
plane te 2 rendezveus apfevlemsly at-
fanped. The Faselsts would have gold to
finaiee aaeker reevdlifiéan t&o reestidlish
Nazi deminatien ef the nation.”

T-IEG -men had tn help Bazan hold the
insane Molinar. When they got him
quiet, Bazan came over, stuck out his
hand, He said: “A thousand apologies,
Cain. I diought you were a Nazi agent
who had murdered Felice Molinar.” I
grinned a little, said:: “It's okay, chum. I
figuweat! yyaui Haatl sebit] cattyyaisr comm paanty
and were running with the nationalists.
So we're even.”

Kyle nodded for two of Douthit's
agents to handcuff the sullen, defeated
Latin Eascist. He turned to me and said::
“Just to keep the record dear, Cain. What
makes with the utempt to kill this guy
in the parade

“Window dressing]l" 1 snorted. “That's
when 1 first got suspicious. The greaser
who blazed at him was an expert gun-
man, yet he missed ak less than twenty-

five fieett. Hie didintwantttohittGanzetes;
it was meant as a build-up for Gonzales’
impersonation, Next, both Felice Moliinar
and I got suspiclous when the man we
believed was Alvarez didn't fush ever o
vislt hisfiancaess seon astiegptéoWhshb-
Ingten. 1 trapped the impester; ealight
him Hatfeoted when 1 him if he
knew Jim Deugherty, thefftyiesp, whe
jotaed the Tigers. is nearly
# fameus 2 the real Alvarez was: Gep-
Zales didr't knew that. He theught 1 was
f@llewmg the wsial detestive SRy leE ef
29dng him 2beut 2 Ren-existent
Bglﬂ
H d

1 esuld get Rim 16 &y @ﬂ/
g B EH@BEEH ydeﬁy

8uifex
Be knew Bsu g
wm the Tigers; he ce Hl waulﬂ H§¥€

BWH H? H@ \ent gver With the
BHRER l‘(&E@% WeRt gver WHR.: i

ﬂag E}; BHAS: £ e %Z%BOB?

Juazn Molinar was still livid with rage
as Douthit's agents started across the fistid
to the F.B.L. car. He asked Kyle: "Wihat
will be done with him? He is af least an
sccomplice In the murder of my
daughter!”

"That will be arramged between your
country and mine," Kyle told him. “You
may rest assured, Sevor Médlimer, noomadt-
ter which country metes out the punish-
ment, it will be a fittimg reward for his
crimes. We are at war—and death is still
8 penalty for espionage in war five!"

Then Kyle turned to me. He saidi:
“Wihat about the rest of the gang? Miss
Moliinar says you have them rounded up.”

“The capital cops have the hired hands,
holding them for the EB.L,” 1 sad.
“We'll stop off on our way to the capital
clink and pick up the boss.™

Kyle had a State Department car at
the fielltl. We rode back to the city in it,
taking Douthit with ud, Jusn Molinar
and Tomas Bazan insisted on coming
glong. So did Eelice Molinar. 1 agreed,
but whispered that she'd better do a little
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more dress repairing. I guess that was the
firgtt she knew of the strip-tease act she
had restarted. I'm sure her blush wasm't
faked.

I told Kyle to drive to the Wardmore.
The South American contingent started
to protest in Spanish and English. They
were afraid they were going to be dropped
out before the finsll eurtain of the show.
1 grinned & little cockily, told them to
keep their respeetive shirty en.

I asked the desk clerk if Dr. Brune
was in, got an affirmative answer. We
all rode the elevator to the sixth floor.

Brune answered my rap on his door,
dressed in a dressing gown over pajamas.
His ruddy face had a surprised look when
he saw the crowd. Then he bowed po-
litely, saidt: “Wihat is it, gentlemen?’ He
saw Fellce and added “—and ladies” He
stepped baek 26 1 pushed My two hundred
peunds threugh the deor. 1 didn't waste
time in sefting the stage. 1 shoved my
ehin a¢ the sandy-haired doeter, told
Douthifi

*Take him, Allan! He's the head man
of the Fascist mob here in Washimgtom™

I could hear Kyle suck in his breath
sharply, Pete cried: “Hell—he’s a Brit-
ish citizen, Cain. We've checked up on
him st the Department, away badk™

“He's a renegade Britisher, like the
famous Lord Haw-Haw," I said. “He
worked on German liners and got con-
vineced the Heinies were a race of super-
men, In his travels in South American
perts, he got hooked up with the Fascist
fing. They planted him In the Ward-
mere, whieh Is about the eenter of Inter-
hatienal intrigue and diplomaey. BEuRe
planted Maria Serrane, ohe of the Faselst
greup, 6 the Molinar's maid, o piek up
infermatien abeut the Argentine sifua-
tion. \Whea the fake Alvarez reaehed
\Wwashingten, this traifereus rat gave the
faid some Ppeisen eapsules feed
Delores; 9 she eouldn't expese Genzales’
h rade: 1 was geing 198 Erse 18
the and he afﬁgﬁged bwice 18 have

me bumped off. Eelice knew too much,
s0 he lured her to the house in Water
Street, where both of us were to be mur-
dered.”

Brume's face looked like a granite slab.
He said coldly: “I- suppose you know I
will tzke action against you for this slan-
der. Those accusations are absolutely
false, There isn't a shred of proof to
sustain thesmm.”

My lips gave him a grin that didn't
match the hate in my eyes. 1 showed
him the gash in my left hand.

"I did that when I tamgled with you
last night,” I clipped. "I jerked a ther-
mometer from your pocket, then fell on
it when I went down, Ne one but doc-
tors andl murses camyctiiniiad it Heeroometaes
with them eonstaiiy.”

He smeersdi: “Do you think 1 am the
only doctor in Washington who might be
carrying a thermometer in his pocket”"

ERE was an anferoom off the main
foyer that looked like an office. I
went ever 2% the desk; lexaggﬂedgme Fe-
seription pad. uilse 2 beat
3 f mpme gg@tg had Bepege forn off
upevenly. The last half-dezen er mere
had been missing a2 esrner when they
were torn ff: 1 teek aut the memerandur
1'd getten frem the skinny knife thrower,
the torn eerner matehed the jagged
seraps left on the pad. Placed agalhst
these seraps the breken X Beearhe the
prescrpten sigh

"I took this from the pocket of the rat
you sent to murder me, Brune,” 1 grated.
“His prints are on it. They will match
with the ones they took from him at the
morgue. Your priats will be o it, tee.
You'll have a tough time explaining that
eanneetion away.”

For a second or two his face fell apart.
Then his jaw stiffened. He was deter-
mined to bluff it through.

"You'll -have to do better than that,
Caim,” he grated. “This assessin could
have been & patient of mine. My eontract
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permits me to have office hours here in
my suite. He could have come here and
ripped that sheet off my pad without me
knowing anything about it. If that is all
you have for proof, I'll have to ask you
to leave with your friends. I want to con-
sult with my lawyer about bringing libel
getien against youl.”

Kyle and Douthit had both begun to
fear I'd led with my chin. It looked as
if the sandy-haired renegade had made a
bum out of me. I showed them my teeth
in another lip grin.

“Okay, mastranind]” 1 snarled. "Gst
your mouthpiece—but tell him to get
ready to defend you on a charge of incit-
Ing murder. We've been having a bit of
a sleigh ride, as ttigydissgyiinypaurcnmtyy.
Now, we'll go for a slay ride, as they
knew it here and in Argentina. I've told
you abeut the elues that tied you up with
this ease and 1 eauld make them stand up
in 2ny esutt 1 hadn't teld you that we've
ge; your little ehuis Maria Serrane and

wi Nese Estebar dewn in the eapital

lice headguarters. They are singing
plety, brether, while they stast ye en
QU ‘slay Hde—Fight inte the hands ef
he exequbipRer—fer the murder of
Boleres Molinar. 1f yoy want Ructher
F88f, Plck Up your phene 2nd ez for
a1k Maggg [ Hell %?.@H Hhe song

your iily-168 Blrds wables!”

Brune stared at me bleakly. Then he
walked over to the desk to pick up the
phone. Instead, he flipped open @ desk
drawer. I thought he was going for a
fod. My Maghum ared out of thin
gir. But Brune's hand eame from the
drawer witheut 2 gun. It flashed! to his
lips. I was so mad, 1 nearly squeezed the
trigger of the gun. 1 knew the British
f?ﬁegaae had eutsmarted e in the final
play.

He gave me a stiff little bow. His
taddy face had a mocking smile. He
saidi:

“I made a mistake in underrafing you,
Cain. You should have been removed
as soon as I learned downstairs that you
were interested in Dolores Molinar's
death. I hate to disappoint you, but your
Federal friends won't take me far. I
just swalllowed four of the cuwarecapp-
sules that I was forced to give to Miss
Molinar. I really hated to murder such a
lovely girl—but total war is a cruel mas-

Juan Molinar was swearing terrible
oaths. He started toward Brune. The
doctor’s uplifted pal stopped him.

"I'm suffering—more than you—could
hurt me—Molinar?™ he gasped. A
paroxysm of pain shook his big frame.
He twisted and, bent like a sapling in a
gale. Then he went down, writhed hor-
ribly for a second or two. Then he was
sttll.

I got Felice Molinar by the amm,
started her outt of the room. *You've seen
enough of this murder play,” I told her.
“Let's leave the finzll scene to the Fed-

eral boys. They've played it often be-
fore.

She musteerd a wan smile. Her voice
was shaky as she said!:

"You proved to be a hell of a good
detective, Cupid Cain. We didn't set any
fee when I hired you to get Dolores’ mur-
derer, Now you can name your own

pﬂ%.“

I rubbed my triple chins reflectively.
I looked &t my wrist waitch, saw thak it
was nearly eight a.m.

"Okay, besutifili* T ssdd. "I always
charge beautiiful lady clients the price of
a good meal. And breakfast is my best
meal of the day. You're hooked, sister:™

"Once again the woman pays,” she
murmured. ‘This time, believe me, it's
a pleasure. Only 1 still think I'm being
taken for a sleigh-ride—only this time
it's spelled the way I learned it at school
up in New Englamdi™



Long Search Ends as
Dick Retires

ETER twenty-four years of
police work during which
he spent the last seven in
a fruitless hunt for am in-
sane murderer, Detective

Peter Merylo of the Cleveland police de-
partment has retired, leaving his unfin-
ished task to younger colleagues. Even
though Detective Merylo has turned in
his badge, however, he announces that
he will never rest content until the “mad
butcher of Kingsbury Rum" is appre-
hended and punished.

It was in 1936 that Merylo was given
the full-time assignment of tracking down
the degenerate monster who was respon-
sible for thirteen hideous murders. Kings-
bury Run, 2 small stream on the outskirts
of Cleveland, was the place where the
firgtt corpse was found a headless torso
horribly hacked as if by a maniac sur-
geon or butcher. From that time on,
twelve more corpses turn up at intervals,
all of them decapitated and some still
unidentified to this day,

Who was the killer?

That was the question which Detec-
tive Merylo set out to answer. Devoting
his entire time and energies to the tizslk e
began a saga of manhunting which has
few parallels in modern criminological
history. Acting on hunches, on tips, on
rumors from the underworld and squeals
from informers, the Cleveland officer
traveled a long and weary road. Dis-
guised as a hobo, he haunted the rail-
road "jungles” of the region; he ferreted
into squalid squatters’ shacks and
swamps and city dumps. In other attire
he investigated stores, lake front resi-
dences and even the offices of profes-
sional men.

LL told, Merylo was responsible for
the arrests of more than a thousand
suspects—many of them criminals who
deserved Imprisonment for various
ctlmes of which they were genuinely
guilty. A vast number of lawbreakers
went to jall through Detective Merylo's
efforts; but in all that time he never suc-
ceeded In nabbing the one person he
really wanted—the Kingsbury Run killer.
That quest became his life work, his
hobby, the one thought constantly in his
mind.

He studied psychology, took courses
in psychiatry, consulted with alienists
and specialists in mental diseases: al-
ways with the hope that he would find
some psydhological clue which would
“type" the butcher murderer. Once he
knew the kind of derangement which
would cause a murderer to decapitate
thirteen victims and cut off their arms
and legs, Merylo figuredi that he would
have a better chance to single out the
culprit.

But his efforts proved fruitless, for the
deeper he studiied, the more he concluded
that the killer was a maniacal degenerate
of a type hitherto unknown to sciemne-
and therefore a man impossible to recog-
nize by external symptoms of insanity.

Today, in retirement, ex-Detective
Peter Merylo devotes himself to a con-
tinued interest in the unsolved case, even
though he no longer takes an official part
in the hunt which still goes on. He be-
lieves that the murderer is a tranmsient,
moving from one hobo jungle to another
between Cleveland, Youngstown, Pitts-
burgh and Newcastle, and that some day
the law will pounce upon the perpetrator
of those unlucky thirteen butcheries,

31



It was a little si 3
but Ryan let him continue.

-
TAKE
THE
GUY
HOME

The prize ring had left Bozo slaphuppyy. Right now, he
was like a child meniallyy, huwngyy for the approvedl off
those who took eare of him. But Ryam knew thed Bexao
was Yundamendallly a Weghter., Givan sometiinyg really
worth fiighitihgofor;, Hec wdisstillIthecqlll Byaso. . . ...




By DON JAMES

OR a long time the man lay
motionless on the foof.
Night fog settled over his
huddled body, dampened his
clothing, and put small beads

of moisture on his upturned face.

The city sounds had leng since sub-

sided after the late theater trafliic. It was
quiet except for an occasional car, the
distant noise of a freight yard, the dis-
mal growl of a foghotn from the bay.
Finally the man moved. His hand
came up slowly and rubbed his face, as if
he were trying to pull away a mask. His

legs moved, stiffly and awkwardly.
He was still again and then he pushed
himself up to a sitting position. He half
33
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rolled, but staggered gamely to his feet.

Slowly, in a course that wavered, he
walked to the door that opened from a
roof cupola,

His foatsteps clumped on stairs as he
went down,

He opened another door and stepped
into a dimly lighted hallway. Doars on
each side bore room numbers and the
carpet was worn,

He stopped before a door marked “72*
and hesitated, He wiped his face again
and shuddered.

He was a small, thin man in middle
age. His clothes were well cut, although
crumpled and wet. His face was thin
and sharp featured. There was a slight
scar on the bridge of hls nese. His eyes
were dark and glittering, full of purpose.

He took a deep breath and exhaled it
slowly.

He opened the door and went into the
room. The door closed behind him.

E hotel room was like a thousand
other third class hotel rooms. There
was & brass bed, a table, 2 straightbacked
ehair and a reeker. The furnfture was
of the “Missien” era. Twe deexs in the
reern were open. One led inte a bath-
reom where 2 light glearned In dead si-
lenee. The ether @p@ﬂ@d Inte a eleset
where twe dresses and 2 white slip hung
frem wire haﬂgaf&

The small man leaned back against the
door and shuddered again. A dark bruise
was beginning to show above his temple.
His dark eyes were centered upon the
bed and the scar across his nose suddenly
was white.

The girl on the bed wore magenta-col-
ored pajamas. She was young appearing
with a neatly molded body. Her hair was
dark red. She would have been attradtive
if it were not for the contorted expres-
sion on her face, the wide, staring, life-
less eyes, the straiming open mouth, the
fingesmakksatithkerthiosht.

"They killed hert" the small man said
angrily.

Abstractedly he found a package of
cigarettes and lit one. He smoked in
silence for a moment, his eyes weaving
over the room as if he searched for some-
thing.

Abruptly he pulled a handkerchief
from a hip pocket. He carefully wiped
the doorknob and held the handkerchief
over it as he opened the door and, after
8 quick glance in both directions,

Inte the hallway and wiped the outside
knob. Carefully he extlngulshed his
eigatette in 2 hallway stand.

For a second he thought he heard the
click of a closing door down the hall-
way, but he couldn’t spot the door.

He hurried to the stairs and lightly ran
down two flights and entered another
room marked “57."

The room was much like the one
above, but masculine articles were in the
closet. He hung up his coat and went
to the bathroom where he bathed his face
and inspected the bruise above his temple.

He took a suit of clothes from the
closet and changed from his rumpled one.
From a Gladstone bag he took a small
sutomatic pistol and made certain that it
was loaded.

He left the hotel by a side exit and
hurried away through the night. Two
blocks from the hotel he found a taxi
and gave directions to the driver.

The driver eyed him suspiciously.

"Look, Mister," he said. "That's five
miles out of town and this fog is tough
driving. It'll cost you extra."

Anger flaredl in the small man's eyes
for an instant and then he shrugged. He
brought out a wallet from a hip pocket
and counted out five one-dolfar bills.

*That will handle it," he szid fiatly.

“Get in,” the driver grunted.

The taxi wheeled in midblock and then
moved through the fog toward an ar-
terial highway leading from the city,
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Hhe thin, small man leaned back and
stared with unseeing eyes at the back
of the driver's head.

"They didn't need to kill Jame Rossi,"
he said to himself. "That poor kid didn't
even know what the score wad"

Y drove along a lakeshore road,

the taxi lights fighting the fog, speed

throttled down te little more than & well
ing pace.

Suddenly the small man leaned for-
ward and tapped the driver's shoulder.

"This is the place. Don't drive in.
I'll wallk.”

The taxi drew into a parking space be-
side the stone pillars of an entrance.

"Wait for me," the small man said.
"I'll be back in about twenty minutes."

The driver nodded and shut off his
motor and lights. His passenger got out
of the car and desed the door behind
him,

It was quiet. The small man walked
quickly, his eyes flickimg about him con-
stanily. The outline of a ramibling, low
house loomed through the fog. The man
saw a light showing beneath a curtain
and nodded in saiticfaction.

A figure loomed out of a clump of
bushes and stepped into the small man's
path.

The small man stopped. His voice was
low as he spoke,

"It's Packy Ryan, Bozo. Take it easy.”

A large man stepped dese to him and
a flashligglitt fleneddd for am instenit. The
smzll man's eyes were like jet in iits glare.

"Okay, Packy," the large man said.
“But you know how the boss is. 1 gotta
be careful. 1 saw the lights of your car.”
“Sure, Bozo. 1 know how Scudder
The big man stepped back and Packy
Ryan walked on to the house. He pushed
a bell button and waated. After several
moments a tali man in a reugh tweed
suit opened the door. He looked at

is.

Packy and smiled. His teeth were white
against a tanned face, He appeared to be
middle-aged, although his hair was gray
at the temples.

"Come in, Ryam," he said. “I've been
wai *

Carl Scudder led his visitor into a
spacious, low living room expensively
furnished in a ranchhouse tone. As Scud-
der mixed a drink for the small man,
Ryan looked at the woman in the room.

She might have been thirty. She was
smartly dressed and she regarded Packy
Ryan with shrewd eyes. She smiled and
Packy thought of the word “glamor.”

With a graceful movement she toned
down a radlio and a voice singing, ..,
they're either too young or too old . .

Saudder introduced them as he fiirishiedd
mixing the drink.

The woman's name was Aileen Connel.
Packy Ryan ackmowledged the introduc-
tion and smiled tightly for her.

The drink Carl Scudder handed him
was long and cool with the taste of ex-
pensive whiskey in it. Packy drank little
before he put the glass down.

Scudder sank his hands in trousers
pockets and watched Ryan with legs apart
as he teetered a little, his face mirroring
a question.

"You found her?" Scudder asked,

Packy Ryan nodded grimly.

"She's dead,” he anmounced. I fol-
lowed her from Los Amngeles. I took a
room two floors below her in the hotel.
That's when I called you yesterdiay."

Packy sipped at the drink again.

“She didn't go out yesterday nor to-
day except to eat. At about nine o'clock
tonight I went up to her room. Just as
I was about to kmock, the door opened
and two men came out. It happened fast.
One of diem clipped me. 1 followed
them to the roofl.”

His eyes narrowed.

"I made a mistake. I thought I heard
both of them rumming. Only one was
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romming. The other waited by the door.
He knocked me cold, When I came out
of it, I went to the girl's room. She'd
been siramgled. 1 had this date with
you—I came straight out here.”

The smile had left Scudider's mouth.
He looked annoyed.

"Did you recognize the men? Were
they Kramz?"

"I didn't know them."

A silence held the room, the two pairs
of eyes steady upon Packy Ryam, facial
expressions hard. He lit a cigarette and
returned their looks without expression.

Finally the woman spoke.

"Our private detective doesn't seem
too competent,” she said dryly.

Packy glanced at her.

"No?" he asked curtly.

Scudder waved a hand in a small ges-
ture of impatience.

"That's enough, Aileen. Save your
wisecracks for your act, Ryan did the
best he could. We've got to plan whatt—"

"Just a secomd,” Ryan interrupted. “I'd
like to tallk."

Scudder stopped speakimg, his eye-
brows lifted.

"Go on," he szid quietly.

“‘S_D(DUFRE a big man, Soudidier,” Ryan
said. “You control half the gam-

bling in the stale. 'You've eome Up stead-
ily and youw've had a name for being en
the square, You pull a hell of & lot of
weight.”

“Thanks," Sowdder said ironically.
Abeuptly his eyes were menacing.

"You needed a private dick who knew
his way around, you told me," Ryan con-
tinued. "You said one of Kranz' mem—
Cal Lain—wormed into your organiza-
tion and got away with a cool fifty grand.
Your boys couldn't find him. You called
me in. I learned that Cal Lain had a girl
feiend named Jane Rossi wino migit kmow
where he was hiding out, or, as you sug-
gested; where Kranz had hidden him out.

Tonight I had a chance to find out from
the girl. But she died before I talked
with her."

*I know all this," Scudder said. Wihat
is the pitch?"

"The pitch is that I think you lied to
me. I don't like the case—any part of
it. I'm washed up. Get someone elsa.”

"I don't get it," Scudder said flattyy.

Ryan shook a cigarette from a package
and deliberately lit it, his eyes watch-
ing Scudder's face.

"I found out some other things in Los
Angeles,” he said quietly. "I found out
that Lain wasn't working for Kranz.
Never had. I found out that Kranz is
looking for him, too. I found out that
your story about the missing fifty grand
smells. Your manager down*there had
the story too pat. He recited it as if
he'd memorized it. I think you and Kranz
are plenty feiendly, but wanted to find
Lain without my knowing that."

"So you're going to quit?"

"That's right, Scodidier.”

The smalll, diznk dietindtive hed wandiered
about the room until he stood near the
door, his back to the wall.

For several moments no one spoke, and
it was Scudder who finally shrugged his
shoulders aznd smiled thinly.

"All right, Ryan. How much do I owe
you?"

“[Eight days ak fifty a day—four hun-
dred. Another hundred will cover ex-
penses.”

Silently Soudder glanced at Ryan's
hand which had sunk into a coat pocket
and obviously cradled a gun. Carefully,
throwing his coat back to show that
there was no concealed weapon, Scudder
removed a wallet from the inside pocket,
He counted out five one hundred dollar
bills.

He walked slowly to Ryan who took
the money.

"Just in cass,” Ryan szid. "Both of you
turn around and face the other way. I'll
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go out alone. And don't call Bozo. He
used to be a good boy in the ring. I
like him. I don't want to have to use a
gun on him."

Carefully he wiped the
doorknob, looking into the
dead girl's staring eyes.

oy NP~ e ——

“You're very dramaiic, Mr,
Aileen Gonnel said mockingly.

"Jane Rossi was small and good to look
st—just as you are,” Packy Ryan said in
a soft voice. "But she wasn't good to
look at when I last saw her. Murder is
dramattic, too. I don't like that kind of
drama."

He backed out and closed the door.

Bozo appeared silently in the fog and
growled a goodnight as Packy Ryan

him.

The taxi driver started his motor and

snzpped on the lights as the detective
approached the car.

"Geez!" the driver said. “What a
night for a murder. I hope you're head-
in’ back to town!”

“And fast™ Packy Ryan said.
faster the better.”

!Ime



182

PRIVATE DETECTIVE STORIES

WM HERE was no excitement in
Q¥4 S| the hotel lobby to Indicate
Leld R\ thet the body of Jane Rossl
had been found.

Packy went straight to an
elevator. He was glad to be rid of the
case, yet he wished he could do something
sbout Jane Rossi.

"Somebody ought to take the big rap
for that,” he told himself. ‘“The poor
kid didn't have a chamee.”

He shoved the thought from his mind.
Murder was out of his line. The cops
had the organization amd facilities to
handle murder. He was just a good pri-
vate dick who had been in the business
for ten years and had some sound ac-
eounts and a clean business, Taking the
Scudder case had been 2 slight concession
to polities. The guy was pewerful and a

eod word In the right place sometifmes
elped.

Well, he was out of the case. He'd get
his bag from the room, check out, and
go home to his smuall apartment on the
other side of town. In the morning he'd
go to his office and read the mail that had
accummulated, find out from his office girl
who had been In, and get back into the
ealm greeve of his daily existence.

There wasm't a chance in a hundred
that he'd be involved in the murder when
it was discovered, Scudder wouldn't talk
to the cops—he wouldn't want to be in-
volved himsellf. Even if, by some chance,
the cops connected Packy Ryan with the
murder, Packy assured himself that his
record was elean and he was friendly
with the department.

That was the way it was, except that
he felt sorry for Jeme Rossi.

The elevator stopped and Packy Ryan
walked down the hallway to his room.
He opened the door and snapped on the
light.

For ten seconds he sttood perfectly still.
The window by the ffire-escegpe landing
was open and the curtain stirred in the

night air. ‘The odor of tobacco smoke
was heavy in the room and Packy knew
that he had not smoked when he had
gl:giged clothing and pleked up his auts-

He glanced at the bathroom door. It
was halfway closed. Behind it a voice
spoke.

"Come all the way in and close the
door. You'te coveredl”

Packy slid his look down the crack of
the door between hinges. He caught the
reflection of light upon & gun muzzle
poiated 2 him,

He completely into the room
and closed the door behind him. In-
stantly a young man stepped from the
bathreom.,

He was tall and thin and wore a dark
blue suit, snap-brim hat, and gray top-
coat, His mouth was gri, his eyes Jooked
cold and foreboding.

“Tuen around],” he said.

Packy turned and aufomatically raised
his hands. The young man removed the
szl sutomatic from Packy's topcoat
poeket.

"All right,” the young man said, "Re-
lax. Take a chair. I want to have a talk
with you.”

Ryan sat down and watched the young
man lean back against the wall, the gun
loose in his hand.

"You're Cal Laim," Packy Ryan said.

"That's right. I'm Cal Lain. I saw
you come out of her room. You killed
her—I didn't know until later. I'd been

. 1 saw you leave her room and
followed you down here. 1 thought you'd
been talldng with hef. When 1 went
baek to find eut what you wanted; 1
found her. Yeu were gone; But yeur Bag
wab here; I've been waiting for yeu!

“I didn't kill her,” Ryan said. “Scud-
der hired me to find you. I'm a private
detective. 1 learned about your girl and
followed her here. Wihen I went up to
talk with her tonight, I was clipped when
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a couple of men came out of the reom. 1
followed them to the roof and was laid
out cold. I've got this bruise over my
temple and some damp clothing in that
closet to prove it. I was on the roof for
a while, 1t was wet up there, Those éwo
men killed her.”

"You're working for® Scudidier,” Lain
said. "That's enough for me.”

Ryan shook his head.

"I just told Scudder to tske his case
and go to hell.”

T\OUBT came into Lain's eyes. "May-
be," he said. “But I'm going to
take you to the D.A."

Ryan shook his head again,

"It won't get you anywhere, but I'll
go. How are yeu going to explain your
hiding out? Why are Scudder and Kranz
looking for you? They want you badly
enough to kill the girl when slie wouldn'¢
tell where you were."

"That isn't why she was killed," Lain
said briefly.

Ryan's eyebrows went up. “Scudder
said you got away with fifty grand of
his dough.”

"That's a lie."

"I figured it was. One reason why I
dropped the case. Wiy does Scudder
want you? Why dees Kranz want you””

"I'm sawving that for the D.A.," Lain
said. "I have an appointment with him
tomorrow."

“The hell you have!™

Suddenly confusion filled Lain's eyes.
The hand with the gun dropped to his
side.

“Arre you on the level?" he asked sim-
ply, his volce abruptly weary.

“If you'll let me get out a wallet, I'll
show you credentials," Ryan said.

Lain nodded and took the credentials
the detective held eut for him. He read
them swiftly, including the three cards
that identified Ryan as a retained investi-
gator for bonding companies,

"I guess 1 was wrong about you,"” Lain
admitted and returned the cards. “I'm
glad I didn't blow my top when you came
in, I intended to kill you.”

Ryan felt a small knot of tenseness
form in his stomach. He'd been lucky
that time.

"She meant a lot to you," he said.

"Every damned thing in the world. I've
been half crazy since I found her. I don't
know what to do. I don't care much
what I do—exceppt...” his voice became
hard, " ..... except find who did it."

Ryan took a deep breath. He might
as well play it through now, Lain would
involve him in the murder no matter how
it broke. It would be better if Packy Ryan
knew the whole story. Sometimes things
went wrong if the cops got the wrong
ideas, or if a man was working in the
dark.

"Wihy did you want to know if I was
on the level, Laim?"

Lain looked at him for half a moment
and then spoke quietly.

"I have a little over a thousand bucks
in cash. If you'll follow through on this
and see that the cops keep on the job and
find the guys who killed her, the dough
is yours. I won't be here after tomorrew.
I want to be sure the job is finishedl"

"You won't be here?"

"We were going to be married tomor-
row. Before I reported for induction.
She was going to join the WACS."

"After you talked with the D.A,"
Ryan said softly, concealing his surprise.

“That's right."

"I'll help you. Forget the thousand.
Just cover my expenses. They won't be
much, You'll need your dough when you
come back, and your girl looked like a
good kid. Maybe I'd like to do some-
thing for a kid who wanted to join the
WACS."

Lain stared straight ahead of him, his
eyes suddenly gentle.

"She never got much of a break. !
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guess neither of us did. She was decent,
cdean, and alone in the world except for
me. I worked for Scudder because the
dough was good, 1 dealt ene of his
games. The game was on the level, The
kid and 1 were g@iﬁ% t6 be married. We
planned &hings for the future—after ihe
waf, Maybe 2 small business serme:
where.”

"But something happened to change
things."

Lain nodded.

"Scudder and Kranz were together on

a liquor dedl” he said. "I found out
sbout it accidentally — overheard them
talking at the joint. They saw me at the
last moment. Kranz was all for taking
care of me then. 1 slugged him and got
away. 1 came up here and Jane fol-
lowed me. My number was up and I had
to come, anyhow, 1 registered for the

draft here. We decided to get married
« « « well, you know the resit"

Ryan listened, tight-lipped, his eyes
narrowed in thought.

“‘hie’s playing you
for a sucker, Boze,”
the girl stormed,

"They killed her because they decided
you had told her.”

"That's the only reason. They knew
that I'd tell her and if they erased me,
she'd go to the cops.

"Wiat did you knmow about them,
Lain? What are you going to tell the
D.A. tomorrow: '
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“On the third of last montis—"

A single shot barked from the open
window.

Cal Lain jerked straight and a look of
bewilderment crossed his face. Above
his right eye a small hole had suddenly
appeared. A thin trickle of blood came
from it. Lain fell forward to the floor,

Automatically Ryan had moved with
the shot. His hand cracked agalnst the
light switch and the room became dark
just as Lain fell,

Ryan crouched on the floor, waiting,
wishing he had a gun. Dim light from
the open window silhouetted nothing but
the frame of the window. Lain's mut-
derer had fled.

CKY RYAN left the hotel by stairs

and the side exit. In his pocket was

the small automatic retrieved from Lain’s

poelcet. Upstalrs In the room, the light

was eut and the body ef the man lay ex-
aetly as it had fallen.

A deep, steady anger burned in Packy
Ryan and his eyes had their ominous glit-
ter.
"If they're dealing me in, I'll play the
game—and tough!" he told himself.

Wihether he liked it or not, he was cer-
tainly involved in a murder case now.
No one could ignore a murdered man in
his room. The cops would want an-
swers and plenty of them,

The smalll, dark man fought down his
anger and contemplated his next few
hours with distaste.
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His best out was to find who had com-
mitted murder. It would simplify every-
thing if he could present the police with
a solved case before they hauled him in
for questioning, restricted his movements,
even—Packy shook his head. They might
even accuse him of the murders!

Stepping out inte a foggy night just
before midnight and findimg 2 murderer,
or two murderers, was not an easy task,
Packy thought.

He knew one thing for a certainty,
Scudder and Kranz were involved. They
had a reason — something about the
third of the previous month, a liquor
deal.

Both of them employed men who could
and would commit murder. Scudder was
the larger operator, but Kranz had been
known to be the rougher.

“I need a lead,” Ryan told himsslf. "A
tip on who mightt be doing the rough
work for them."

He hesitated in his quick stride and
spatted an all night cafe where he could
fimd| ack: . ekinashoswnt @0
get that lead, but he didn't want to go
out to Scudider's place. He needed every
moment he could get.

He found a telephone booth in the
cafe and quickly feund the number he
wanted in the directory: “Casey's Gym-
nasium” He was glad that Casey lived
in the back rosm &f the establishment.

He dialed and after a short wait a
throaty voice amswered.

“Casey," Ryan snapped. "Packy Ryan

ang. I'm trying to findl where Bozo
Crnich lives. Has he a room in towm?"

"Hi, Ryan! When you comin' in to see
me? Bozo lives out at Scudiders' place on
the lake. You want to see him?"

"Q.liCk."

"Well, he drives that simgin' dame,
Aileen Connel, in @ Scudider's night club
every night. She has a show at around
midnight. He waits to take her back out
to Scudider's. She lives thers."

"Thanks, Casey. I'll be in to see you
one of these days”

“Any time, Packy. Long time no see!”

Ryan hung up and hesitated with his
hand over the dial. If he were smart,
he would call the cops now and tell them
about the two bodies in the hotel.

After a few seconds he left the booth
without dialing again. He didn't want
the cops looking for him—not yet.

T WAS close to midnight. Bozo

should be at the night club now, and

Bozo was his only wedge with which to
pry into the Scudder-Kranz setup.

He found a taxi and ten minutes later
stood at the bar of Scudder’s night dub.
He took a short drink and eyed the bar-
tender with a feiendly smile.

“Say! I wonder if Bozo is around? You
know, that ex-pug who drives for Scud-
der. I met a friend of his in L. A. Said
to say ‘hello’ to Bozo for him."

The bartender grunted,

"He's probably in the back room—iast
door in that hallway,” he motioned to a
hallway at the rear of the room. “He
usuelly waits there to take Aileen home.”

"Okay to go badk?"

“If it ism't, you'll know quick enough,™
the bartender grinned.

“Maybe I could take him a drink."

“Maybe one—but no more. We got
strict orders about Bozo and drinks. He
gets one when he's here."

A moment later Packy wallked diown tiire
hallway to the back room and knocked.
Bozo's voice told him to come in,

The ex-fighter sat in an easy chair of
an unused dressing room with bis feet
propped on amother chair. He was read-
ing a comic magazine. At the sight of
Ryan and the drink in Ryan's hand, his
face broke into a lopsided grin, marred
by a sear at the corner of his mouth—a
sear that Bozo had not received In tlie
ring, Packy knew, but a¢ the Argonne 1A
another war.
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“fHiiyah, Packy! You bring me a drink,
huh?"

"Sure. Heard you were back here.
Thought as long as we're both working
for Scudider, we could do our drinking
together."

Bozo's face saddened for a second.

"They only let me have one, but that's
okay. I don't mind watching you take
a coupla extra. 1 gotta keep a clear head.
Gotta drive Miss Commnell”

Packy Ryan remembered when Bozo
had kept a very clear head in the ring,
before he had taken too many beatings
and before his mind sometimes was
cloudy.

Ryan settled himself in the chair va
cated by Bozo's feet. Carefully he guided
the conversation into fight talk, the figlitts
that Bozo had won, the other boys who
had reached the heights and had fallen
into oblivion.

“Any otherffightenssworking for Soud-
der?" he asked casually.

Bozo shrugged. “Maybe one or two.”

"Kiranz got any working for him?"

Bozo nodded and his eyes held a far-
away look. "I was tellin' you about that
fightt in Eresmo. I had this guy in the
third amt—"

Ryan listened patiently until he could
edge conversation back.

"Scudder's quite a guy to work for,
lso't he, Bozo," he said in approval. "He's
got some tough guys, though. I met a
couple yesterday. They'd bump their
mothers for a dime.”

Bozo nodded. "Mike Orenz and Slim
Coggans. Some day I'm gonna bust 'em
in the smoots. They keep pushin’ me
aroumdl.”

"They think they're as tough as those
mugs Kranz has? What's their names?
Blackie something and Gunner?"

Bozo's face clouded in concentration.

"I don't kmow no Blackie or Gunner. 1
only know Curley and Jose, but they ain't
here right now. They're in L. A

"Seen Mike and Slim around tonight?

Bozo nodded. “Sure, They come out to
Scudider's a half hour before you did.
They left right after you did, too. They
looked like they was on busimess’ '

Packy Ryan felt the muscles of his
stomach contract. ‘This was it! This was
the lead he wanted. One of the men com-
ing from Jane Rossi's room had been thin
—ithey might have called him **Slim*,

"Wamnder where they are now?"

"Ower at the apartment. Did I ever tell
you about the time I fought The Slugger
in Butte?"

"How about my getting us another
drink, Bozo? —" ;

UDDENLY he was aware
that the door behind him was
open. He looked into the
mirror of the dressing table
and saw Aileen Connel

framed there. Her smile was cynical and
without humor.

Ryan glanced at Bozo's face. The bat-
tered features held a look of adoration as
the big man grinned at the woman.

“We gain' home now, Miss Conmel?*
Bozo asked.

Aiileen Connel came into the room and
closed the door behind her.

“"You get aroumd” she said to Ryam.
“Did you find out what you wanted to
know from Boze?"

"We're old friends—Bozo and 1,*
Ryan saidl. “"We were just having a chait”

“It's okay, Miss Connel,” Bozo said
cheerfully. “He works for the boss, ton.”

¥No he doesn't, Bozo. What was he

ing you?"

Bozo tried to remember, his eyes sud-
denly troubled.

"Well . ., .. we was talkin' about figfitts
and the old days and . . .”

“Did he ask you about Scudder? About
anyone working for him?"

"Yeah, He asked about Slim and Mike.
He knows 'em, too,” Bozo szid. He saw
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the look in the girl's face. “I didn't do
nothin* wrong, did I, Miss Connel? I
didn't mean to. I've known Packy a long
time. Him and me Is friends.”

The woman shook her head and her
smile for Bozo held sccrets. She was
dressed in an evening gown that revealed
more than it concealed and she concen-
traed her charm on the ex-fighter with
steady Intent,

“He was playing you for a sucker,
Bozo. He's trying to get the boss in
troufslle,™

Bozo looked doubtful. He had risen
and he shuffled his feet in awkwardness
beneath her gaze.

"Aw . ... I think Packy's okay, Miss
Connel. I don't think he would . .

“Bozo!" she said softly. “Bozo—he's
trying to get me in trouble with the
police. Do you understand, Bozo? He's
after me.”

A strange look of anger came over
Bozo’s face as his cloudy mind absorbed
her words. A glaze curtained his eyes and
the shuffle of Hiis fleet tReeaine 2 [light, £llert
shift to the toes.

“You want I should take care of him,
miss?”

“Yes, Bozo. Quietly. Then we'll take
him out to the lake with us. No one must
see us, Scudder will handle it after that.”

“Yes, miss. I sure will. Just like you
say. I'll handle him like I did The Slug-
ger in Butte that time.”

Ryan jerked the small antomatic from
his pocket.

“Take it easy, Bozo. I've got a gun.
She's lying to you. I don't want to shoot
you, but I will if you come for me.”

HHie large man's shoulders looked
strangely sloped and powerful. His eyes
had become narrowed and intent. He
barely glanced af the gun.

“Miiss Connel says to take you, Packy.
I'm goana tear you to pieces. That's what
she says to do.”

“Don’t, Bozo. I'll sloot!”

The ex-fighter was less than two feet
from him. Packy tightened the grasp on
the gun, He didn't want to shoot Bozo.
The poor guy was punch-drunk and the
woman had him wrapped around her fiim-
ger. But he'd have to shoot. Bozo would
kill him with hisflistss his brute stremgiin.

Packy waited too long. Bozo's fist
seemed to come from nowhere. Ryan
jerked his head and caught the blow on
his cheek. He hurtled back across the
room, his eyes filled with 8o gyeadit fiiskh.

He crashed into something soft behind
him and Aileen Connel went to the fllsor
with him.

FOR a second Ryanm's mind was as

#s the night and then dimly he
reslized he was holdlng something with
his right hand untll the museles aehed
with strgin. He still had the gun!

He shook his head and the room came
back into focus. Bozo was coming at
him.

Ryan grasped the woman's arm with
his left hand and jerked her in front of
him.

“Tell him to stop!™ he demanded. He
looked over her shoulder into Bozo's face.

“Bozo, I've got a gun on her. TI'll
kill her if you don't stmp!™

Bewilderment crowded into the large
man's eyes and he looked hesitantly into
the woman'’s face.

Ryan jabbed the gun into her back,

“I don't intend to be killed by that
ape,” he said quietly. “This gun might
not stop him., It's small, But you can.
Tell him. If he keeps coming I'll shoot
=and you're in the way!”

Aileen Connel stiffened and after a sso-
ond her voice was tense with anger.

“ILeave him alone, Bozo. It's all right."

Slowly the big man relaxed, but his
eyes remained alert, his lips set and thin,

“You mean it, Miss?"

“For now. Maybe later it will be dif-
ferent.”
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"I don't understand all this" Bozo
said, the cloud coming into his eyes again.

Thoughts clicked through Ryan's mind
with the mechanical rapidity of a calcu-
lating madhine. Swddenly he knew ex-
actly what he was going to do. It wasa
long, desperate dhamos, but now that
Aileen Connel knew sabout his talk with
Bozo and the information that he had
obtained, Packy Ryam's number was up
as much as Lain's had been, Scudder
would attend to that!

"Bozo," he said. “Listen to me. We're
going to the car, You're going to take
me to the apartment to see Mike amnd| Sikism.
Miss Connel is going with us. I've gota
gun against her back. If you don't do
what I tell you, I'll kill her, Do you
understandp”

Fear abruptly shoved the bewilderment
from Bozo's eyes.

“Is that the truth, Miss Connel? he
whispered.

“He has the gun,” she said crisply. "1
don't know if he'd use it—I'm not going
to take a chance to find out. Do what
he tells you, Bozo. Do it for me, Bozo.”

"Yes'm."

BVIOUSLY the apartment was one
that Scudder kept for town use, It
was in & buiildimg dhat refilesial] expeansive-
ness and it was located on the top floor.
The ride to the building had been un-
evenitful with Bozo driving and the girl
between him and the small detective.
Ryan kept the gun pressed against the
girl's side.

Going into the building and up in the
elevator, the gun was a smalll, firm bulge
in the detective's pocket. Bozo eyed it
dismally and then directed his gaze to
the passing filenss.

The girl stnod stiffly, her lips curled
in a faint, strained smile.

The elevator stopped and they walked
down a heavily carpeted hallway and

Bozo rapped sharply on a door., After

2 moment it opened amd 2 tlll, thin man
in shirt sleeves looked at them suspi-
ciously. A relieved smile touched his lips
when he saw the girl, but disappeared as
his cold eyes met Ryan's,

"You have company,” Ryan said,
“Isn’t that right, Aileen?”

The girl nodded curdy, evidently
aware of the gun pressed against her side.

"That's right, Slim," she szid. “"Com-
pany for you and Mike."

"Is the boss coming, too?" Slim Cog’
gans asked nervously.

“I don't believe so," the girl said.

"Okay," Slim nodded. "We got a
couple of dames. Sometimes the boss is
funny about our havin' bims here."

"It's quite all right," Aileen Connel
smiled thinly,

Packy Ryan didn't like Slim's bit of
infoemation, but his face remamed ex-
pressionless.

Coggans opened the door and the trio
followed him into the

Slim and Mike Orenz, a burly, dark
man, were throwing quite a party, Ryan
decided. The girls were nondescript, un-
derclad, and evidently had helped to
empty several bottles that were on a tidilke.

They giggled at the newcomers.

"Swell party,” one of them ammoumced.
“Lotta fum!™

Slim Coggans found glasses and be-
gan to mix drinks.

"We don't want the drinks," Ryan an-
nounced, He had backed against the
door and the girl was in front of him.
The gun was in sight.

Mike Orenz caught the glint of gun
metal and zbruptly stmod.

"The guy's heeled,” he smapped at
Slim. "This deal's a phoney."

Slim whirled and his hand reached for
a pocket amdl then hesitated 2s he glanced
toward a coat hung over the back of a
chair.

"You two girls get in another room,”
Ryan barked.
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"You cam'tt—" Orenz began to protest.

"I camt, but I will," Ryan smiled
grimly. “And I shoot straighit™

The girls looked frightened. One of
them started hesitantly toward a door.

"That's right, sister,” Ryan said. "Keep
going. Open the door and turn on the
light. 1 want a look into the room."”

The girls obeyed him and stood back
from the open door. Ryan edged himself
and Aileen Connel carefully around the
room until he could take a full, sweeping
glance into the room. It was a bedroom.
There was no other door into it and no
telephone.

"Open the window," he commanded
one of the girls.

She crossed the room and opened the
window. There was noffir-escapeclamd-
ing outside.

Ryan silegtly motioned for the other
girl to join her in the room. He closed
the door and locked it, his eyes wary-as
he waitched Coggans and Orenz, His gun
remained firm against Aileen Connel.

"What's the ded? Slim Coggans
rasped.

"Two murders,” Packy Ryan said thin-
ly. "Tell me about them."

E EDGED himself around the room
again until he reached Slim's coat
and removed a gun. Mike Orenz' coat
hung over the next chair. Ryan found
Orenz’ gun and slipped both of them into
his suit coat pockets under his topcoat.
"You're crazy," Orenz snapped. “We
don't knmow about any murders."
“You know all zbout them," Packy
said. “Give."
"Go to hell," Slim Coggans siidl exesy.
Packy Ryan sheok his head.
"You're sure you wom't el Ine axdiest,
"Damn’ sure!”
Ryan quickly glanced at Bozo who
stood silently near the hallway door.
"Remember where the gun is pointed,
Bozo?" he said.

Bozo nodded and fright filled his eyes
again for a second.

"Take Slim firsti," Ryan said. “Don't
knock him out. Just make him talk. I'll
tell you when to quit. You got thad?”

An expression of confused emotions
came over Bozo's face and Ryan remem-
bered the ex-fighter's voiced desire to re-
venge himself on the two men who had
pushed him around. Bozo looked at the
girl ss if expecting orders from her. Ryan
nudged her with the guh.

"Do what he says, Bozo," she whis-
pered.

Bozo suddenly grinned and took off his
coat. Coggans looked nervously about
the room and his eyes waiched Ryan's
gun hand for a second and then glanced
quickly back to Bozo.

"I'm your friend, Bozo. You won't
take any socks at me. We're pals,"

“You been pushin' me awowmd]" Bozo
said in @ monotone. "I'm gonna even
things up. Miss Connel says to take you
like Packy asked. I gotta do it, Slim. I
wawrttboddoitf, seed?"

He started a wary, steady approach
upon the slim gunman, his fists in the
position he had known through a hun-
dred fights, his lips tight, his face dead-
pan.

Bozo struck. Slim rolled from the
punch. Mike Orenz lunged forward in
unexpected aftack. His fist glanced from
Bozo's cheek,

Bozo grunted as if annoyed and his
left jolted. The fist cracked smartly and
Mike’s head jerked back. He lit heavily
on his back and lay motionless. Bozo
resumed his steady walk toward Coggans.

Then it was a little sickeming. The girl
shuddered and the steadly, solid smack of
Bozo's fists jarred against Ryam's nerves
@ he watched red blotches appear on
Coggans’ battered face, saw blood trickle
frem the man's nese and lips, saw the
pain, the desperate, sodden attempt to
eaver Up 26 blews roeked his body.
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Bozo's arms pumped monotonously
with the carefully planned precision of a
machine.

"Hold it, Bozo," Ryan ordered.

JOELUCTANTLY the large man
£V stopredl tthe pudishment. SSim readiedl
and fell against a wall, his head hanging,
his face puffed and red.

"Wihat about the murders, Goggans?"
Ryan asked quietly. “You went to the
girl's room and killed her after I told
Scudder where she was when 1 called yes-
terday, You shot young Lain from the
fire-escape by my windew—you follewed
e there tonight. Tell me abeut it.”

Slim shook his head.

The tight feeling of distaste settled
over Ryam, but his lips set.

"Maybe you rezlly came to get me to-
night and found Lain insteat]" Ryan said.
“Talk Coggans.”

The man shook his head.

“Moxe, Bozo,” Ryan said,

Bozo's fiist flickedi out tentatively,
lightly jolting the beaten man's head up.
Anotherfiisttcrashed full into the face andl
Coggans moaned.

Carefully keeping the man conscious,
Bozo continued his relentless attack, con-
tinued it until Coggans was on the floor
moaning, talking.

"Stop him .. . I'll k. .. Mike killed
her. ..."

“Lain?" Ryan snapped. "Who shot
him?”

Coggans shook his head weakly.

Ryan's eyes namowed.

"That's essier,” he said. "There's a
bullet in Lain's head, It came from your
gun or Mike Orenz'. Ballistics can de-
termine thad. Tell us about Mike and
the girl.”

"We went to her room . . . she strug-
gled . . . scraiched Mike's arm . ... he
choked her . . . you were there when we
came out.”

Ryan nodded.

"“Tihere'd be some of Mike’s skin un-
der her fingarnilds. The eops can cheek
that and tie it to Orenz,” he said grimly.
“That's better. A eonfession ebtained by
force isn't worth a damn. Ballisties and
sidn will furnish evidenee.”

Coggans straggled to his feet and
sturibled toward the door.

"You won't get me for Laim™ he mut-
tered hysterically.

Bozo glanced at Ryan. The ex-fighter
seemed to have concentrated his thoughts
only upon punishing Coggans.

“He used to shove me around plenty,"
Bozo said to Packy.

Packy Ryan nodded consent.

Bozo stepped in front of the stum-
bling man. His finall blow was swift,
solid, mercifful. Coggans went to the
floor and was as silent as Orenz,

Ryan looked down at the two men.
The girl trembled slightly and turned her
eyes away from Coggans' battered face.

“You're somewhat of a heel, Ryam"
she said hoarsely.

Packy Ryan smiled bitterly.

"The girl and Lain wanted to live,”
he said simply. "So do 1."

YAN didn't hear the door open, nor
know amyone had sitepped into the
room until Sowdder spoke sharply.

"You should have kept out of this,
Ryam.”

Ryan stood perfectly still. Two men
stepped near him. He recognized the
large, fat man with Sowndder. It was
Kranz. Both men held guns,

"Drop your gun, Ryam," Scudder said.
“You can't get both of us before we get
you.”

Ryan relaxed his fingers and the gun
dropped to the fitwmr.

Aileen Connel turned to face him. De-
liberately she slapped his face.

To Scudder and Kranz she szid, "Slim
spilled everyting.

Scudder nodded.
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*“We'll take care of it," he said softly.

Bozo looked at Scudder nervously.

"Look, Boss, I had to do this to Slim,"
he explained. “Packy had a gun on Miss
Connel;: I had to do it?"

"It's all right, Bozo. That was right.
Your job is to take care of Miss Connell,”
Soudder said in his smooth voice.

He walked up to the ex-fighter and
similed.

“But how did be get the gum on lher
in theffirstplae?? Where were you?’

"Well . ... look, Boss . ... 1 was talk-
ing with himand . . .”

Scwdder hit him full in the lips.

Bozo stepped back and wiped the back
of his hand across his mouth, his eyes
confused aggin,

“I did wrong, Bess?"

"Eool!"

Packy Ryan's muscles tightened and he
glanced at Kranz. There might be a
chance to make a break. Kranz met his
eyes-and shook his head.

"No chance, Packy,” he said, “Keep
them high!”

Aileen Connelfbamnitover Coggans and
tried to siop bloed that flowed from a
cut over one of his eyes,

"There are a couple of girls in the bed-
room," she said.

Scudder swore under his breath,

"How much of this do they know?”

"Probably all of it. That door is thin.
I kmow—I've been in there and heard
people talking out here,” she said.

Scudder glanced at Kranz,

"Wat do you think?" he asked.

Kranz shrugged. “We're in too deep
now, Maybe a car accident with the two
girls and Ryan. Off the bridge out there
Into the lake.”

Packy Ryan's mind raced, Aileen Con-
nel had foegotten something, He was
thankful for the draping topcoat that he
wore, If he eould ereate 2 diversion for
8 moment, he had & charnce.

If he were lucky, he could do it. After-

wards there would be a great amount ef
explaining to the cops, a flingerpfiutt or
two that would need explanation, but
Aileen Connel had remembered some-
thing he had forgotten—the girls, They
must have heard all that had been said.

He looked at Bozo, Back through the
years thefightierrhad his high spots;,
had heard the cheers of the crowd—back
in the years before his mind had become
clouded and before he had become a lodiy-
guard and ehauffeur in a werld strangely
grotesque in the vagueness of his fight-
grogay mind.

"Scudder,” Packy said. “You're going
to erase me and the glrls?”

"What do you think, Rysm?"

"I think you are, and I want to have
my words now.”

Scudder smiled slightly.

"Go ahead” he said.

The glitter of Ryan's dark eyes had
become crystalline and the small scar
across his nose whitened. He started to
speak quietly, his arms relaxing a little,
his voice steady and distinct,

"You killed Jane Rossi and Cal Lain
because they knew something about you
and Kranz, Something they learned aeei-
dentally, 1t was nene of their business,
but you made I their business—and youw
business beeauise they knew it. Yok Busi:
ness o kil themt”

“Make it fast, Ryam," Kranz ,

“Did you know that Cal Lain was go-
ing into the Army?" Ryan asked slowly.
“Did you know that Jane Rossi was go-
ing to join the WACS?”

“So what”" Aileen Connel asked sar-
castiically. “Do you want to make a speach
about patriotism?””

“Maybe,” Ryan ssid. “Maybe I do.
Maybe 1 want to talk about Scudder.
About 2 man who delibecately had & e
murdered—a man who was going to fight
for his country, Had a girl murdered, A
glrl who was going to fight for her coun-
try. You dld that, Soudider.”
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Ryan's eyes shifted to Bozo and back
to Scudder.

"Scudder, you're no better than the
foulest Nazi. You're no better than the
Germans who have been killing other
women. Some of the boys in uniform
would make it tough for you if they
knew. Some of the mem in this country.
Some who have fought for this natiiom™

He paused for just an instant, his mind
searching for words.

"There are men who would know how
to handle you. Men who fought in the
last war. They'd take care of you, Scud-
der! Men who fought in Flanders—men
who foughi i te Argorme! A weeran of
the Argonne would even things for Cal
Lain and his girl—two kids who were
going to fight for us! He'd smash that
face of yours to & pullp!”

YAN glanced at Bozo again. The
ex-fighter's eyes were clear and in-
tense. His nostrils were pinched as he
stared at Scudder. A thin, white line
edged around his lips.

“Bozo!" Ryan , “You were at
the Argonne! Take him! Even things
up for the kids. They were going to
figittt foarypal! Twdkehadi!"

Scudder saw the sudden mad light in
Bozo's eyes, the thin lips. He tried to
move, but was too late. Bozo's flist caught
him clean on the point of the jaw. Scud-
der crashed back Inte' Kranz. Aileen
Connel scresmed.’

“Bozo! No! Stmpl™

Bozo sprang farward and jerked Scud-
der to his feet. There was one more sharp
crack of his fiist. Scudder crumpled.

Kranz was on his feet and his eyes
widened as Ine stoed] at Ryan.  Stowdy s
hands went up.

Aileen Connel had forgotten the guns
Ryan had taken from Slim and Mike
and had put in his suit coat pockets un-
der the topcoat. Now he held one in
each hand.

Suddenly the girl laughed hysterically.

"It's—it’s like a lousy B picturel" she
said shrilly.

"Wiith the happy endimg," Ryan said
grimly,

He backed to a telephone across the
room and dialed the operator.

"Police!" he told her.

After a few seconds he talked rapidly.
He explained zbout the bodies in the
hotel—abviously, from his conversation,
they had not been discevered. He told
what had happened in the apartment. He
asked for help.

"And fast. Wait! .. . one thing. The
motive for this mess. What happened
the third of last month? Anything you
cops have been worrying about?"

He listened and nodded slowly.

"That's it)" he said. "Get some men
here fast."
He hung up and looked at Kranz.

"I'd forgotten zbout the liquor stolen
from the state warehouss," he said. "The
papers played it down, It must have
been worth plenty."

Kranz smiled crookedly.
dred grand,” he admitted.

Bozo nursed a cuif kmudkile. He wrapped
a handkerchief zround his hand amd then
looked at Ryan with his troubled eyes.
The brightness was gone again.

"Packy,” he said hesitantly. "I guess
they wouldn't want me in the Army agaim,
would they? 1 guess I'm no good for
them. Sometimes I don't think so good.
Things get all fogged up.”

"You’'ll be all right, Bozo.
good man.”

"But they won't want me in the Army.
I guess 1 won't work for Scwdder any
more. 1 guess 1 was wrong about Miss
Connel.”

"That's right, Boze."

"Packy—you won't shove me: around.
You treat me all right, You couldn't
give me a job, could you, Packy?”

Ryan smiled softly.

"One hun-

You're a
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“I'll see that you get a job—and I
won't shove you around. Never zgaim™

"You never did,” Bozo said in a puz-
zled voice. "You never shoved me
aroumndl”

Aileen Connel said, "You punch-drunk
dope! He's been shoving you around all
nighg!™

Bozo looked at her calmly.

"I guess you're not much account, Miss
Connel. That girl who was murdered was
gonna join the WACS. 1 ain't never
socked a dame, but -

The woman's self-confidence suddenly
faded and fear came to her eyes.

"No, Bozo! Not me!”

Bozo looked at Ryan. “Witat do you
say, Boss?"

"She's not worth a slap from your

hand, Bozo. She's worse than that tramp
you fought in Butte."

"You remember that fight, Packy? Re-
member how 1—"

"I rememdber,” Ryan said softly. "I re-

Bozo nodded and his eyes clouded. He
sat down and stared vacantly at his bat-
tered hands, unmindiful of the shriek of
approaching sirens, or the heavy breath-
ing of the men he had battered down
for & murdered girl and a murdered boy.

Packy Ryan stood silently, the guns be-
coming heavy in his hands, his eyes alertly
waiching the unhappy occupants of the
room.

He wondered what the apartment man-

ager would say when Packy Ryan brought
Bozo Crnich home to live,

To shorten the War,
to save American lives,
buy and buy and buy
WAR STAMPS
AND
WAR BONDS!




CHIMNEY AT
No. 21

T WAS the Paris of the German
occupation, yet things weren't very
much different on Rue Le Sueur. It
was just an ordinary residential street in
a Jower-middle-class neighborhood, and
nothing much ever happened there. That
is to say, nothing much ever happened
until ene day net very long age when a
stald Freneh heusewife notieed that the
ehimpaey of Ne. 21 Rue Le Sueuf was
belehing forth smeke whese fufes were

jeularly anneying. The heusewife
telephened the surefe; and iR due eaurse 2
gendarme was sent around 8 make a
reuting investigatien:

When the_policemnan came to No. 21,
he found the chimney still giving off nau-
seating smells. So he called the fire de-
partment, and when they asrived, together
they broke into the house and Into a
stench so everpowerlng that all vemlted.

Continuing their investigation into the
cellar of No. 21 Rue Le Sueur, they
stumbled over @ bag which, when opened,
was found to contain two human heads
and a mutilated leg. But that was not all.
Continulng further, they found ancther
bag stuffed with 2 cloven eorpse. When
a& last they eame to the furnace, they
were amazed {6 find four eharred female
bedies. Weuld this pile 6f eorpses Rever
end? 1n the eeurtyard, they feuhd a lime-
filled pit. The pit was filled with the
last remzins ef thirteen persens: Te add
te the ukter esnfusien; the investigaters
found assorted limpbs, and et Hhirty
plalf§§ef wemeR's shees 1R the Hany
el63ets:

Here was a mass murder, the work of

a deranged mentallity. Was it thirty muir-
ders that had been committed, or was it
only twenty? It was thought that no one
would ever know. Here was a series of
crimes that made old Henri Landru, the
Bluebeard of Gambais, leok like an ama-
teur by eomparisen. Would they ever
find the murderer? They thought they
knew whe he was, but fer the present
he had disappeared, perhaps never to be
found.

Continuing their investigation, the
Paris police have discovered that a doctor,
one Marcel Petiot, had reniedl the house
at No. 21 Rue Le Sueur s a laboratory
some time ago. Now, however, he was
gone. Perhaps he was the murderer, said
the Paris press. Fer women of all kind
and description now eame forward to say
hew the deeter had always had lime-
stained hands and had wern rough, brick-
layer's elethes: Alse, they said that he
was pessessed of magnelie; evil eyes.
There was mueh eenjecture 25 &0 how the
evil deetor put his vietims to death. The
mest pepular theory was that his vietims
were given fatal “injeetions apd then
ehained 19 the walls f 2 soundprost
“drath ehamber” The deetor is stppesed
I8 have walched IMeiF 2geny through a
peephole:

However, the suspect is still just a sus-
pect, although the real killer may have
been found by the time this article is
published, and many Parisians are saying
that this new Bluebeard Is Just & fictitan
Invented by the Vichy government to take
the people’s minds off the war., Possibly
we may never kinew the truth.

51



DEATH BUYS

PALL of clouds draped the
night, staining the late
darkness darker still with
presaged rain.-Tim Clan-
ton looked a¢ the clock in
his suburban serviee station, saw that the
hands steed at ten-thirty, and set about
the task of elesing up.

He had scarcely switched off both neon
signs that redly proclaimed *“Tiwjam
Gasilnat" wieenaasbtebichidabi<comvertilitbée
drifted into the covered driveway and

stopped ak the ethyl pump. It was an ex-
pensive car with its automatic top folded
down, and Clanton eyed it admitingly as
he approached it. You had to be in the
big money to drive a rig like that, he told
himself without enivy. He noticed, 00,
that its windshield bore a “C” stieker,

“How many gallons?" he asked defer-
entizlly, Then he went a little pale as he
got a good glance at the girl who sat
gracefully under the steeting wheel.

She smiled a him. “Hello, Tim. So



By ROBERT LESLIE BELLEM

this is where you've been hiding out™

“Hiding out?" he repeated her words
slowly, in a curiously dull voice. He
studied her with eyes that were hungry,
as If they had been long starved for the
sight of her yellow haif, her carefully
rouged cheeks, the petulant fullness of
her mouth, and the symimetry of her fig-

A

I—

ure. “I'm not hiding, Margie. I work
here.™

" Work?"'

He nodded.- “It's & decent job. An
honest job.™

"So you're going straigfit!’ she said.
There may have been a hint of mockery
in her tone; he couldn't be positive. She

[

For years and years Tim
had loved the girl, and
now It seemad he was
going to have a ehanes fw
shew his love:. Butthe Hadd
not eounBsdl enoughk on
Magicie’s fedeinidime
Indesivibeiasss noo R thbe
plans of Shifty \Veracel
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looked beyond him, "I guess they must
trust you or they wouldn't leave you here
alone.”

"The cash register always balances.
Yes, they trust me.”

She smiled again. "Well, as long as
nobody's waltching, why don't you Kiss
me? Or am 1 poisom?"

"Not poison, Margie. Just. . .
ous.

"You didn't used to think so.”

"That was three years ago, before I got
sense. Before I had some brains beaten
into my skull up at the Big House

She made a coquettish gesture. "Still
brooding over the rap you took, eh? You
ought to forget it, Tim."

I cam't forget the way Shifty Veracci
framed me to save his own lousy hide,"
Clanton answered quietly. Then he
looked inside the convertible. "I suppose
you're Veracci's moll now?"

"Not his moll. His wife. How'd you
guess”?’

He pointed to the registration certi-
ficite on the column of the steering
wheel. "“There's his nammz

"You're quite a detediine”

"No. Just observamtt™

Her eyes met his, boldly. "Wiat else
can you observe”"

"You've got @ good car and expensive
clothes. Veracci seems to be doing okay."

"Yes, he is." She paused. “Is that all
you see?"

"Wihat else am 1 supposed to see”" he
countered.

"I asked you to kiss me. That should
have meant sometfnimg)"" She parted her
crimson lips lazily.

He shook his head. "All it meant is
you want to play and I'm not having any,
thank you.™

"Now wait a minuti;” she said, her
voice suddenly crisp. A girl's got to live,
You went up for a stretch. Did you ex-
pect me to sit around and wait for you
to get out of stir’”' Her eyes narrowed

danger-

resenifully. “You didn't make any effort
to look me up, after you got out.”

“I didn't want to. I'm.going straight.
No more mob stff. No more of the old
connections. 1 learned my lesson. Let's
let it stay that way.”

She sighed faintly. "I guess I under-
stand how you feel, Tim. I wish I could
break clean. Wien I saw you and recog-
nized you, it . ... it sort of stirred up an
old memory, like poking &t the ashes of
& dead fire and finding one live eoal still
glowing.” She laughed witheut mirth,
“I had a sudden pieture of %ettmg away
from all this and letting My hair ge baek
to brown and . . . and Maybe QHVlﬂg an
eld battered MQ_QEI A instead of this
elassy heap, and living iR # eottage. ... "

“Are you screwy, Margie”"

“Sure. Screwy enough to realize money
and jewelry and swell clothes won't buy
love.”

“Meaning you don’t love Veracd”

She made a bitter mouth. “No woman
loves a guy who beats her, Not even if
he gives her diamonds the next minute.”

I can show you the bruises™

NGER swelled in Tim Clanton,

“Witee Is he? Take me to him, 1've
owed him something for 2 long tme—
for what he did to me. 1 was wllling to
forget that, though, Willing te bury It
and steer clear of him. But this Is some-
thing else.”

"Tim! Then y-you do love me?

“I always hawe," he admitted reluc-
tanily. “I suppose I always will. But this
is something else. Shifty Veracci's slapped
you around. He's got to be taught he

mustii't do that Take me to him,
Margie."
Her lower lip was tremulous. *'No.

It wouldn't do any good. I mean I c-can't
have you fightimgy my baftles. Besides,
he's out of town tonight.” With a sud-
den gesture she extended her arms, plead-
ingly, "Tim, t-take me away!"
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"Huh?"

“ILet's go away together. To some other
town. Somewhere as far as we can travel,
where he won't ever find us. Tonight's
our hamoe, while he's away. Tim . . . will
you?"

Clanton fought a battle with himsellf,
inwardly and silently. He wanted to re-
fuse; to hmdle things the open way. A
divorcs—" he started to say.

“No, darling. Shifty wouldn't stand
for that. You know the sort of man he
is. He'd fight it, and—and maybe he'd
win. I'm afraid of him, Tim. You don't
know how afraidl”

"Affiraid to divorce him and afraid not
to, eh?"

"Y-yes. Running away is the only way
out. There's nothing we can do except

Clanton nodded. “All right If that's
the way it's got to be, that's how it will
be." He went back into the service sta-
tion to lock up the cash register, turn off
the lights, and padlock the door. Then
he climbed heavily into Margie's con-
vertible, “Let's go pack”

IN HER penthouse she mied
a drink for him, then left him slone
while she went into her boudoir to toss
a helter-skelter assortment of elothing
into two Gladstones. 1n the midst of this
Indiseriminate packing she returned, took
his em t?tled glass to the kitchenette and
Efeseﬁ y remppeared with a fresh high-

He accepted it gravely. "You didn't
have to use a clean glass. And I'm not
sure I need a second drimk.™

“Not even to k-keep your courzage uy?”
she asked him. Her tone was gay, but
the gaiety seemed forced.

“You're all 1 need for courage,
Margie.' He took her in his arms, then.
He did what she had asked him to do
back ak the service station. He kissed her
gently. The kiss sent a sirange spate of

emotion through him, nostalgic, laden
with the yeamming of three long years.
But somehow the thrilling warmth of her
mouth upon his own made him oddly
uneasy—almost unsatiisfied. It was as if
he sensed a lack, an emptiness, a dark
void where there should have been fervor.
1 wondior wiby, he reflatst]. 1 wonder

why her kivssseesmsotbdid| dabgenivsinstead

of love?

He dismissed the feeling; watched her
as she went again inte her boudoir. After
@ while she came back to him, carrying
her two hastily-packed bags. He took
them, and together they quietly left the

apartment.

"We'll use the convertiisle,” she an-
nounced. "You drive, Tim. Drive fast—
and far’™

Clanton objected. "“Waracci could trace
us if we use that car. A train will be
better. Or a bus.”

"We can switch tomorrow. Right now
the convertible will mean speed. Speed's
what 1 want, darling. Spesdi"

"Okay," he. surremdiered, helping her
into the machine. Then he slid under the
wheel and headed into the darkness of
the night; into the gathering storm. Bye
and bye he began to feel the sleek power
of the motor, the silken purring energy
that made him master of distance. You
didn't really drive a car like this; you
merely sat there and let its mechanism
become a part of you, so that you felt a
sensetion of triumph over time and the
miles. . . .

"“Tim!"

"Yes, Margie?' he answered. Her
voice had almost startled him; it had beeu
almost an hour since either had spoken
to the other. He reduced his pressure oil
the throttle, "What is it, sweet”"

She shivered. “I—I'm scanstl”

"“Scared? Of what”"

"Of shifty. We cam't go through with
this, Tim. He'd . . . never rest until he
found us. And then he might . . . k-kill
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you. And me” She clutched his arm.
*Tuwrn around, Tim. Take me badk."

“Back? Back to. Veracai?"

"Yes. I—I've made a mistake. We
cam't run away from—from reality. I
want to go home, Tim."

He scowled, “You want to go home to
your diamonds and soft living, is that it?"

"You—you're not being fair." Then
she squared her shoulders. “All right.
Think what you like. Maybe 1 hawe de-
cided I couldn’t stand a cheap cottage and
a batiered Model A. Does it maiter what
my reasons are? 1 want to go badk.™

Clanton drew up at the side of the
highway. “Better think it over thor-
oughly, Margie. If we go back, it's for
good. I mean there won't be another time
like this,”

“No, I suppose there won't. Take me
home, Tim. And then p-put me out of
your thoughts. Forever."

TTE MADE a U-turn, wordlessly obedi-
s gt wisIddeI M0 Wi yHaef 804 thoopas-
Heular regret. M%;a Margie was right;
this weuldn't have werlked out.
Queerly ensiigh, he experienced a feellng
of relief 6 he aimed the esnvertible baek
toward the eify. Temerrew he weuld
resime his serviee siation job;, and in
Fetrospect fopight's ineident weuld seefn
Re Hmore than & remembered dream: A
dream WIth Re Fepereussions, ne regrets
;- - 704 RO fears; he fold himsal.

At the apartment house he rellinquished
the wheel. “Want me to carry your bags
upstains”"

“No. I'll manage. Good night, Tim."

He corrected her. “Good-bye," he said,
and stalked off. Rain began to fall before
he gained the next intersection. He paid
no heed to it.

He paid no heed to anything until
he reached his rooming house and went
upstairs. Then, as he opened the door
of his cheap hall bedroom, he found
plenty to occupy his attemtion. Somebody

was in that room, waiting for him; some-
body with a gun. ;

gun was a police positive .38 in

the capable fist of Detectlve Ser-

geant James Kronniger. "Hold still, pail*
Kronniger said gruffly.

Tim Clanton stiffened. “Wihat the hell
is this?"

“You know damned well what it is.
A pinch. I thought you promised me
you'd go straight? That was the agree-
ment when 1 got you that service sta-
tion job.”

"Straight”' Clanton parrotted, dazed.
*Good God, how could 1 go any stireiigter
than I've been going?"

The plainclothes officer sneered sourly,
as if he had afflaxarin his mouth tihat he
disliked. “I suppose you're going to deny
you cracked the main downtown office of
the rationing board this evening, eh,
Clanton? You're going to tell me you
didn't steal & whole carload of gasoline
coupons, A, B, and C books to be sold
on the black market. 1 guess you're go-
ing to deny you shot & cop when he trled
to nab you coming out?”

"You're crazy,” Clanton said. His voice
didn't sound like his own. It had a
strained, taut timbre. “I didnrt—"

Kronniger waved his revolver disgust
edly. “No use beating your gums to me,
Clanton. Your ffingerprinis are all over
the rationing joint. You petered the vault,
glommed the ticket books, Then thlis
patrolman spotted you makdng your lasm.”

“That's a lie,” Clanton spoke delibet-
ately through clenched teeth. “A rotten
lousy lie.”

The detective ignored him. “The ffiat-
foot ordered you to halt. You started
running. He fired a shot at you, Then
you turned and let him have it in the
guts.”

“No.
wrong."

“We got to the cop just before he died.

No, Kronniger. That's all
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He told us all about it. You wore a mzsk,
he said. He thought he'd hit you with
one of his slugs, but I guess he was
wrong; you don't seem to be packing a
bullet around in your hide. Aayhow, he
said a masked man drilled him; and when
we checked for dabs Inside the layout,
we found plenty of them. Yours, Clanton.
Your prings”

"“They couldn't have been mine. 3—"

“Save it. Let's go. It's & murder rap
this time"

Clanton felt the sweat foeming on his

The we
and a b

n roared as he closed in
et ploughed into the ceiling.

forehead and running in little cold trickles
down his face. “IListen, Kronniger. It
must be a mistake. I've got an alibi."

“Yeah?”

“Yes, I was witlih<"

“All right, spill is.”

“No, I ean’t. I don't dare. The woman
1 was with is married. Her husband beats
her. If he ever feund eut she and I were
eleping tenight; he'd—he migtv="
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Kronniger shook his head. Too thin,
fella.™

"Well, wait. Maybe I can estzblish my
alibi without using the girl’s name. How
about a rent receipt for a tourist cabin?
Here, in my pocket. Get it yourself.
Reach in. I'm not packing a gat.” He
held his hands up while the detective
stretched forth delving fingers.

A ND then, as Kronniger fumbled in
the pocket, Tim Clanten twisted
sidewlse, His left fist kneeked Kren-
niger's .38 upward. The weapen reared,
firing a pellet at the eelling. Then Clan-
ton whipped ever his right fist, smashing
It against the astonished peint of Kren-
Riger's lantern jaw.

Kronniger collapsed.

Clanton hit him again as he fell.
"Sorry, Kronniger,” he muttered, know-
ing that the man couldn’t hear the
apology.

He raced toward the room's single win-
dow, realizing there were probably more
cops downstairs and knowing that he did
not dare chance runming into them. He
slipped through the window, down to
the roof of a small side porch immedi-
ately below. He crept silently to the edge,
peered downward, saw nobody. Panting,
he lowered himself until he dangled by
his hands from the porch roof. Then he
dropped.

He landed on his feet; took the jar
on relaxed knees and fell sprawling. He
was up again in an instant; and pelting
toward the street.

Something moved, ahead of him. He
thought he discerned a metallic glitter,
as of light striking a badge on a copper's
tunic. Shivering, Clanton reversed his
direction and darted toward the rear yard
behind the rooming house; leaped over a
fence and noiselessly raced along an un-
impeded alleyway.

At the mouth of the alley he emerged
to find nobody in sight. -He slouched out

into the open, forcing himself to walk
slowly. He couldn't risk haste; it might
call attention to him and invite pursuit.
He moved forward, counterfeiting a cas-
ual manner; felt his heart hammering
when he reached the next intersection.
Thus far his luck had held.

TT CONTINUED fto hold. A clattering

street-car rumbled past, and Qanton
broke Into a lepe; eavght It and flung
himself aboard. He groped In his peeket,
found 2 dime and handed it to the con-
ductor. 1t was his last ehange—and he
suddenly remembered that he had oaly
two dellar bills in his wallet. Twe dol-
la¥s to get him out ef the elty, away from
the law!

His mind was numb, dazed. How the
hell could his fiingerprints have been
found in that OPA rationing office? He
hadn't been anywhere near the place. It
was axiomatic thatffimgerpriirtisnever lie;
yet they had lied this time, and a police-
man was dead, and Tim Clanton was now
running away from the rap—trying to
escape on just two dollars.

It couldn't be done. He knew this.
And he knew he dared not go to the
service staion where he worked, open its
cash register to steal its contents for a
getaway. There would be cops at that
statiion, staked out to nab him just in case
he showed himself in the vicinity. . . .

“Margie!" he whispered to himself.

Sure. That was it. He would go to
Margie and tell her what he was up
against. He wouldn't ask her to corrobor-
ate his alibi; he had no wish to jeopardize
her. But she had funds, and maybe she
would loan him a hundred or so. He
made for the trolley car's front exit; got
off at the next stop. He started walking
through the rain, oblivious to the cold
wetness that soaked his clothes and
squished in his cheap shoes.

At long last he came to the apartment
house; entered a deserted lobby and used
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the auiomatic elevator, unobserved. He
stepped off at penthouse level,

Margie's door and lifted his knuckles to
knock. '

He didn't knock.

Someone was in there with Margie.
You could hear a man's low, tense voice:
“Keep probing, hon. Gimme another
whiskey and then keep digging until you
—blazes, that hurts™

“I'm being as easy as I can, danlfimg™
That was Margie talking, her tone throaty
with concern. “I think we ought to have
a doctor. The builet's pretty deep in your

"Nix. You think I want some saw-
bones raiting on me? You know they got
to report gunshot wounds. No. You keep
probing with the knife until you dig out
the slug. Then we'll sprinkle me with
sulfa powder and put a bandage on. I'll
be okay. Hell, this ain't the firstt time I
ever lost a little blood.™

Outside the door, Clanton stood frozen
as he eavesdiropped. He recognized that
masculine voice. It was Shifty Veracd—
Margie's hushandl. Veracci, who'd firamed
Tim Clanton to prison three years ago.
Veracci, with a bullet in his thigh. . . .

“God!" Clanton whispered. The truth
had suddenly dawned on him; he thought
he understnod, now, what had happened
tonight, A seething fury ripped through

him, shaking him like affistt. Andl @5 aagger

mounted, he hurled himself at the door;
slammed his weight against it and burst
it inward.

He went surging into the room.

IKE a hurled missile heffasieebiacross
the thresheld, seeing Shifty Veracel
and the blonde Margle as if through a
dull erimson haze—Margle had just fin-
ished bandaging her husband's leg; and
new she swayed backward, a moan escap-
Ing her lips as she stared at the Intruder.
*Tim!"” she choked,

Clanton snanlledi: *“Yeah, me, and

launched himself at Veracci. “This is it,
you ratt™

"Hey—!" the chunky Italian ducked,
limping on his bad leg. He tried to pro-
tect himself from a battering fist, but the
fistt siableed Haaddcomgdtttiim
full on the mouth. A froth of oaths
mingled with the blood that made an
abrupt smear of his lips. He lurched,
staggered. Clanton nailed him again,
sending him against the wall.

Margie let out a wild wail. “Tim—
don't! He's in no shape to fightt! He's
been shaot

*“Yes, I know.” Clanton closed in on
Veracci. “Who plugged you, Shifty?
Talk before I break you in half with my
bare hands. Come on, spill it

“I—it was—an aoidistt—"

“A cop shot you. Isn't that right”"

“How the hell did you know? Wihat
business is it of yours?"

Clanton hit him on the face, hard. “It's
my business because you tried to use me
for a fall guy. I get the whole setup now.
You're the one who petered the rafion-
ing board office and stole those gas cou-
pons, arem't you? And you're the one who
croaked the patrolman who tried to pinch
you.™

“That's nutty talk! Your finger-
prims—"'

“Thanks,” Clanton said darkly. “You
gave yourself away when you said that.
How could you kmow about my fiinger-
prints unless you put them there yoar-
Se‘f?"

Veracci cringed. “Now wait a minute.
Listem™

“No. You listen. The whole thing was
a plant. Margie picked me up, fed me a
cock-and-bull story sbout wanting to
elope with me because you beat her, mis-
treated her. She made it convincing. I
fell for it; came here while she got some
bags packed. Meanwhile she gave me a
drink; and later took the glass away,
brought me a fresh highball in a clean
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tumbler. I wondered about that at the
time, but I was too dumb to understand
what was going on.”

“Meaning whatt”"

“Meaning you must have been hiding
in the kitchenette. When Margie took
away my first highball glass, she gave it
to you. And jt had myffingerprimtson it.
You sneaked out the back way, made
gelatine Impressions of my prints, trans-
ferred them te @ rubber gleve and wore
that glove when yeu rebbed the OPA
office of these gas esupens. That's why

the law found my dabs en the safe that 1
didn't peter”

Veracci's eyes were hot slits. "Smart
punk.”

“Smart enough to realize Margie took
me for a ride in more ways than one. The
auomobile ride was to me from
having a decent alibl while you burgled
the ration board headquarters” Clanton
retorted grimly., “But the Jig's up new.
That bullet she just pried eut of yeur
thigh will mateh the gun of the eop yeu
killed. It will preve he [plu%gea you—
and that yey, in tirp drilled him.”

Veracci snarlled: ‘““That's what you
think, sucker,” and drove his knee into
Clanton’s groin,

foul was as brutal &s it was unex-

pected. Clanten deubled ever, siek-

ened. At the same Instant, Veraeel

yanked a .32 autematie from a sheulder
elip.

“No, Shifity!" That was Margie, her
voice shrill with crafty warning. “Don't
blast him. The noise will bring people.
Don't!”

Veracci hesitated. “Yeah. Maybe you're
right.” And he clubbed his Colt viciously
down on Clanton's head. Clanton
sprawled to the rug, dazed, semi-con-
scious. Pain screamed through him in
waves that washed surf-like over his
senses and filled his ears with thunder.

Through the thunder he heard Veracci

sayiimg: “We got to get rid of him. I
know what. We'll put some of the gas
coupons in his pocket, take him down-
stzirs and dump him on the street; run
over him with the convertible. He'll be
too dead to spill what he knows when
the cops pick him up.”

“Better hurry,” Margie said callously.

It was her calmness, her willingness
to participate in @ deliberate murder, that
shocked Tim Clanton back to full aware-
ness of his peril. Once he had been in
love with this girl. As recently as to-
night he had still cared for her. But
now. . ..

He tightened his muscles; waited until
Veracci was leaning over him to start
dragging him. Then he rolled; smashed
himself against the swarthy killer's legs.
The impact wasm't particularly violent,
but Veracci had a wounded thigh. That
helped. For a split instant the murderer
was off-balance.

Clanton came off the floor; grappled
with him. "Now, by God!" he grated as
he wrestled his enemy across the room.

They were evenly maiidned: Veracci
with a bad leg, Clanton's reflexes dulled
by that bash on the head 2 moment ago.
Like two injured animals they were
locked together, hammering, kicking, but-
ting, clawing. Veracci tried to bring his
autiomatic into play. And even as he raised
it, Clanton buried a fist in his belly.

Gasping, nausested, Veracci folded
forward. He twitched all over—and the
convulsive movement of his trigger fimgpr
brought a Iinenltiing) exqpllosiom firom tine gom
in his hand. The report seemed to be
split asunder by a scream.

It was Margie who screamed; but her
outcry was not repeated. Veracci's wild
bullet had caught her full in the chest. A

id expression came into her eyes; dis-
torted her red lips. She toppled, fell.

Veracci stared at her. “Margie!

In that single instant of his inaiitemtion,
he was lost. Tim Clanton swung on him,
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connected, knocked him down. Then,
with utter savagery, Clanton leaped with
both feet onto the fallen man's face. . . .

was a telephone in the far cor-

ner of the reem, Clanton dlaled It;
obtained @ eonnection with police head-
guarters. “ILet me talk to Detectlve Ser-

geant Kronniger. Hello, Kronniger?
This Is Tim Clandon”
“Clanton —? Why, you stinking

SOtn—

"Hold it. I'm in Shifty Veracci's pent-
house. Shifty just murdered his wife.
Margie was her namie. I think you'll
findl that the bullet in her breast matches
the one that killed the cop on that gas-
coupon burglary, In other words, Verac-
ci’'s gun was responsible in both cases”

"What?"

“Maoreover, Veracci's got a wounded

thigh. The slug will fit the dead cop's
rod. And there's a batch of gasoline ra-
tion tickets in Veracci's apartment to
prove he pulled that robbery.”

“You must be crazy! Your fimger-
prints—"'

Clanton smiled into the phone. "I've
even got that figuredl out. There's a rub-
ber glove in Veracci's pocket; a glove
that’s got my dabs on it. That was what
he used to frame me, Come oR over,
Kronnlger, and I'll show you.”

“Damned right,” Kronniger snapped.
“I'm on my way."

Clanton rang off. He stirred Veracci
with his toe. Veracci groaned, so Clan-
ton kicked him on the head to quiet him.
It was very effective indeed. Veracci grew
silent, except for his stertorous breathimg,

At least he breathed, though. That was
more than you could say for Margie. ..., «

SAVE ALL PAPER!

%

Yo

% There is no such thing as
“waste paper™ in war dine. Papar
of all kinds is needed for dozens
of purposss-all contributing to
getting supplies to our memn ...
and ammunition to the enemy.



By HAROLD de POLO

Boyd Gleasion haddbbesn nobtdrives. ald ik ilifafe

Yor shifthessitesss féorppoorspardsheanalnih)iforfor

earelessiesssini nppging ohlisisdebists. Nolwitkinait

he had . turnedl over a new leaf, @veryone
rejolced . . . . and wewdreedd

YHAN BIJZZELL,, the Lown

Lake game warden, was sur-

prised to see Boyd Gleason

come through the door of

his cabin on the East shore.

He was the last man he had expected to

have visit him in the whole State of

Maine, you might say, when he had an-

swered the knock on the door by telling

whoever it might be to walk .in. " Chan

didn't show his sutprise, though. He

nodded in his quiet, solemn fashion and
62 >

“Back from South Portland, eh?"

"Yep. 1 figgered Uncle Ben needed
me,” said Gleason with a sigh. “He ain't
as perky as he used to be. Seventy-six,
this July. Didn't figger it was fair, me
staying down there on the shipyards an®
makin' big money an’ leavin' him alone
up at the farm. I—so 1 give up the job
an' come back,” he finished], his rather
weak face taking on a certain air of self-
laudatory sanctity.

*Come over inyour car?" asked Chan,
waving a hand at a chair on the other



side of the table. "Didn’t hear it."”

*“No—no, I rowed acrost. Don't see
me wastin' gas with this war on, I'm tell-
in' you. 1 coms—"

"Long row," conceded Chan.

“Yep, it is, but you don't get me
wastin' gas, like I said. Too old to figfitf,
like you know, s’ I 2im to do my share
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every other way. I come to see you, Mr.
Buzzell, to pay you that eight-fifty I've
owed you for—darn it, 1 reckon it's two
yeat. Remember? I'd blowed a tire an'
was out o' gas up by Rockland way, an'
you come along an’ lent me the money
to pay the garage an’ get home with.”

“That's right. Seems as though I do
recollect,” said Chan, still not showing
his surprise 2 tire muan wiie wes motorious
for never having paid a debt in his life
put some bills and silver on the table.
“Tanks, Boydl™

"Thank you, Mr. Buzzelll” said Glea-
son, although he had never before called
the game warden anything but Chan.

"Wanted to see me about anything
else?"

“No. No, 1 justfiiggers=thito mzke good
what I owed you, seein’ 1 been savim' my
money 1 earned down to the shipyards.
Makes me feel easier, gettin' my debts
paid. Got to get me home now an’ help
Uncle Ben get to bed.™

“"How is he, outside o' not bein’ too
perky? Haven't seen him in two-three
weeks, mysdf.”

“Oh, he’s fime. 1 mean he's right glad
to have me back, that is. He ain't as
sirong as he was, like 1 said. Sort o'
wobbly, @& his age. Son of a gun, he
sure does hanker to be spry, though.
Wants o go out tomorrow night, If it's
good weather, in* suckers up to
Sucker Brook. Teld him 1'd take him, if
he seemed strong eneugh. Cold work,
In May. Feller's apt to get prewmonia.”

"Yes, Ben always did like taking suck-
ers in the Sprimg,” said Chan with one of
his rare smiles. “ILiked to salt 'em down,
I remember. All of five years or more
since 1 was out with him. Mighty good
spertsman, 00, about all kinds 0" fisiigg
and hunding,” he added.

“That's right, that's right,” laughed
Boyd pleasantly. “Well, thanks for help-
in" me out that time. Sure needed it.
Reckon I'll be rowin* back. S’ long.”

Chan rose with a stretch. Chan was
lean and long and tanned, with a loosely-
knit figure that hid his superb muscles
as completely as his lazy air hid his amaz-
ing swiftness of action. He had wide geay
eyes with an odd somberness in them.
Somehow, they seemed to be looking at
and Into and through a person. They
were Jooking that way at Boyd Gleason
now, He said gravely:

"Glad you decided to pay your debts,
Boyd. Not for my szke. For your sake

The other man flushedl. Then he
laughed. It was a shamefaced one:

“Aw, shucks, time I made good, ain't
i

As he hurried to the door and went out
of it and closed it after him, Chan stood
by his table for a mmoment with 2 tiroogint-
ful frown. Then he shrugged and turned
up the lamp more and sat down and went
back to his magazine.

OUT on the lake, dipping the oars into
the still; enyx-black water of a calim
night In early May, Boyd Gleasen was
grinning with keen and eunning satisfae-
tion, He wasn't grinning beeause he en-
joyed rewing. He always had hated all
forms of wotl, of physieal exereise. He
was deing it beeause he was blamed sure
he'd set the seene right fer killing Unele
Ben Mergan. He'd threwn off any sus:
pieien of it being murder with that devil
of 2 €han Buzzell; all right:

He didn't worry about Joel Hendrix,
the dumb old coot of a sheriff over at
Loon Lake Jundtion. Chan had been the
man to wokry sbout, damn him. Chan
slways seemed to be butting into eveey
crime or shady dicker that wasn't any of
his business, even if he was a game wat-
den. He had a funny sort of luek; toe,
In getting at the bottem of things. He
wouldn't this time, though, Boyd waé as
sure of that a6 he was that it weuldn't
be so darn leng new before he'd get
Unele Ben's meoney.
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Chan just couldn't suspect anything,
this trip, the way he had it figured out
and the foxy way he'd work it. Netther
would anyone else.

He'd planned it right for over three
months, ever since that night in late
January when Uncle Ben had eaten the
last of the suckers he'd salted down and
said he'd be glad when the season came
around again. That was when it had hit
him how to do it. That was when he'd
decided to make it look like he was turn-
ing over a new leaf, the way they called
it, and go down to South Portland and
get that job in the shipyards.

He had to laugh, when he thought how
easy it had been. He'd gotten a job the
firstt dday Heddl Hittteree. Tihee womik Haghiritt
been easy, he didn't mean. It had been
easy fooling people around Loon Lake.
Uncle Ben had written that people hadi—
yep people had been promd of him, the
way he'd made a man of himself. So he'd
kept on working, and kept on saving his
money, and kept on paying up a few lit-
tle debts. The best bet he'd made was In
paying Chan tonight. Hadn't the solemn-
faced dub made a speech about belng
glad abeut It for his, Beyd's sake?

Oh, he had Buzzell fixed, all right.

What the hell, he was a fool to worry
about amymwe;, witeenypuuicaaneerijittddovn
to it. Even if everyone used to call him
@ bum and 2 loafer and a no-good, didn't
they know he was going to heir Uncle
Ben's money when the old man died?
Sure they did. He wasn't even his real
nephew. He was the son of a gifl that
Uncle Ben had been sweet en, that had
married another man, hls father. When
he and Boyd’s mether had dled In a train
wreel, when Beyd was abeut six; Ben
Mokgan had taken him upder his wing.
He hadn't exaetly adepted him, legal
like, but he'd been sork ot & father {9 hifm.
Boyd had lived with him al his life; apd
Beyd knew that he was the enly ene men:
tiened in the will: Beyd had seen that

will again after he'd gotten back from
South Portland, that was why he was
sure.

It was a cinch, a cinch.

He was a fool, probably, to have ever
worried about it. Uncle Ben would be
seventy-six in July, like he'd told Chan,
and he guessed most people didn't fignme
he could live much longer anyway. Why
would he want to kill him? It wasw't as
if the old man had what you would call
a lot of money. He might have between
twelve and fourteen thousand stacked
away In seeurltles and the farm wasi't
werth mere than a eeuple of theusand.
Unele Ben had wotked hard te serape
together these savings—tunning a litte
ene-man farm, dealing seme in Hmber 1A
this isggiﬂga%@ﬁ@ﬂ, werking eut by the
day when things was slack to get 2 few
fhere dellars. He'd said he was savih
it to leave Beyd well off, the erazy ol
galest.

Boyd Gleason would have liked it bet-
ter if Ben Morgan had given him more
money to spend, to go away with to the
big cities once in a while, when he'd been
younger. He was getting old himself,
and he wanted money now, Uncle Ben
might live ten more years, easy, Didn't
some of these old men areund here live
to be nlnety or ever? Hadn't George
Lissor been nine-savnwhenteed dist!
last winter? Ne, Beyd eouldn't take a
ehanee oA walling. He wanted to eollect
that meney just 26 seen a5 he eeuld. That
was why he was geing e take that ip
temerrew hight te F Breek:

HEN he got over to the West shore,
: to where Uncle Ben's property
ran down to the lake, he pulled the boat
up on the sandy beach and stood there
contemplating it for a few seconds. The
farm was worth a couple of thousand,
he'd figured?? Hell, with these city sports
coming in, and buying Summer places
even in this remote logging settlement, e
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ought get maybe double that money with
this swell shore frontage thrown in. Sure

he should. The thought made him grin =

some more, and break into a whistle, as
he climbed up the hill the quarter mile
or so to the farm.

He didn't seem at all like a man who
intended killing his benefactor, as he
went into the farmhouse door. He
entered with that cheery whistle still on
his lips, and he said just as cheerfully:

"Made a quick trip, all right. Didn't
like to leave you alone too long. You
feelin' good, Uncle Bem?"

"Wrhy—Jichas Priest, yes, sure I be,”
said the thin wisp of an old man with a
clean-shaven face and very bright brown
eyes. He put down the last pot he had
been wiping on the stove, and asked a
bit amxiously: “You see Chan, Boyd.”

"I sure did, Uncle Ben. Paid him up,
too, like I told you I was goin' to.™

“That's fine, Boyd. Reckon people'll
say you're a-talkim’ holt o’ things, now,”
Ben Morgan smiled happily.

“Yep, Chan seemed real glad,” said
Boyd, although he was thinking that he
wished he could have choked that damned
game warden instead of giving him
money. He added, as he walked over
and gently, with a show of affection,
clapped Moxgan on the shoulder: “You
an’ me'll be glad temorrew night, all
right, when we get up to Sueker Brook,
Hope the weather stays like it Is now.”

“Reckon it will, if 1 know anything o'
this section. . . . Yes, spearin’ suckers is
great fun, an’ saltin’ ‘'em down an’ eatin’
‘em later s just as good.”

next night was even milder, and
there was also no wind. It was idesl,
Ben Moxgan said, for spearing. The sur-
face of the water up in the brook would
be even more unriffled than that of the
lake, and one could easily see what one
was doing.
The old man, as he talked, was sitting

in a chair and sharpening, with a file, the
five tines of his spear. He always did
this, before going spearing, even if the
weapon was as sharp as a fine Toledo
steel rapier. It didn’t matter if it had
been filed the night before. It was, so to
speak, a ritual with him. He always
fussed this way over his tackle and fire-
arms, before going eut en any sporting
venture, He was a eareful man, even a
eatitious ene o an almest rating
extent In seme matters: Flshing and hunt-
ing happened to be the twe mest out-
standing enes.

He proved this again, while Boyd
stood by trying not to show his nervous-
ness, his impatience. Like most old-
timers, he used the obsolete type of
bicycle lamp when he went spearing in-
stead of the modern flashlight that prac-
tically all the younger element carried to-
day. He went over thls, tee, with the same
methodical attention he had shown with
the spear. He shined the nlekle on I,
even theugh It was speekless, and then
polished the glass lens beth Inside and
eut. Finally, apparently, he was quite
salished, for he put It dewn en the table
with # pleased grunt and saddl;

"There, that's done. Be ready in a
minute. Just got to get you a spear. . . .
You got one o’ them bug lights, I see,
so—"

"Yep, I'm all set. Any spear’ll dip mme’"

"Only got one five-promger.. Give you
one with four. Me? I like that five, like
you mebbe remember. Digs into a fiish
better, does a feller happen to see a real
big one.”

"All the same to me," laughed Boyd
agreeably. “You allus get the big ones,
anyways. Let's get goim’.”

“All right. Just a2 minute™

He went into the woodshed, adjoining
the kitchen as is invariably the case in the
Narthern part of New England, and came
back with a spear and two pair of high
rubber boots:
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*Tihere your boots be, Boyd. I kept 'em
hangin' like you did when you left ‘em.”

*“Tthanks, Uncle Bem

“Well, let's amble off over the West
pasture. Ain't more'n amile an' the goin'
ain't oo hardl™

'I‘HE going was as hard as hell, Boyd
Gleason told himself before they had
eovered much more than a lnundired yandis.
The ground was hummoeky with a lot of
beulders seatlered around, and the st
part of it was uphill. Always, when he'd
g@ﬂ@ gg@t@ Breel himself, Boyd
2d tzken 2 ear and traveled seven ofF
eight miles by read. Unele Ben was eer-
tainly 2 tough ene; theugh, darn his seul.
He'd had three altzels of what they
ealled vertigs in the Iast few years—she
dee had eafled it Bilterisness frem eatin
{98 mueh—and that was sbsut all. He'
falnted oA the Iast one; whieh everyene
local knew abeut; and that was why Beyd
had told €ehan b8yt the old man hot Be:

ig 198 ps%%{ and strong. Oh, he'd be
eavered, & Fight 1 Fght They'd Be-
lieve him:

Boyd told himself ruefully that he was
certainly the weak and wobbly one, by
the time they got to their destination.
Sucker Brook was one of the feeder
streams to Loon Lake, the source being
up on Shalleciff Mountain. It ran down
in & tumultuous torrent until it hit the
lowlands, and then it became almost
placid as It wound its way, snakelike,
threugh the wide stretch of hay meadows.
It was shalllow, mest of the way, not
mueh ever two feet deep. The bottom
was gravelly, with a few reeks, and net
fuddy the way it was nearer the eutlet.
That was why the siekers eame up here.

Uncle Ben, like mostffshermuanof all
kinds, had a particular spot he preferred.
This was on a curve of the brook, where
a gigantic old hemlock trumk, felled
many, many years ago when the land
had been cleated), slllowed him to sitt down

to change into rubber boots and sort of
organize himself for the fun ahead, He
did this now, with a sigh of infinite con-
tentment, and pulled out a pipe and
tobacco pouch from his pocket. ‘This was
another ritusl. He always smoked a pipe-
ful, before wading Into the brook. It
“peace-ified” him, as he put it, before
starting out to ldil his feed. Ne harm In
idiling wild things, Hinned eF furred of
feathered, If It wiasfbirfosd], wissnoRHeer
of his beliefs:

“Prretty out here, ain't it?" he said, as
he took thefirgtpufif. The sky was & Hikadic-
blue with innumerable silver stars twin-
kling in it, and off to the East, heyomd the
ribbon of the stream, siretched the wide
water of the lake with a faint new moon
making the surface look like @ bowl of
molten lead.

"Guiin' to be prettier when we take
some fish," grinned Boyd, now in his
boots and fastening the loops of them
around his belt so that they would hold
up.
“Aiin't only catchin’ fish that counts,”
said Ben Morgan, taking off his shoes and
reaching for his rubber boots.

But Boyd was in the brook by then, his
flasttM phintirinhiisldf thaaddaaddhiniss peaar
poised in his right.

"They're layin' awful thick tonight,
Uncle Ben. Hustle up.™

“Be there right soom,” the old man
chuckled quietly.

Boyd, his filashligiitt stalbbing through
the water, let out a triumphant shout and
jabbed down with his spear. He brought
it up immediately with a big sucker, three
or four pounds, impaled on the tines. He
tossed this up on the bank, moved a step
oF two ahead, and shot the weapon down
again. Onee more he came up with an-
other sueker, and a5 he flung this one
beside the ether, he saidl;

“Better husile, like I saidl™

Ben Morgan had finished putting
on and aftaching his boots, by that
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time. As he started to climb down the
bank, and find footing in the brook,
Gleason let out an exultant shout and
again crashed down with his spear. This
time, he brought up the bezutiiffull, silvery,
glistening body of a gorgeous six- or
seven-pound salmon.

"My God, Boyd, you shouldn' ought
to 'a' done that," cried Morgan with a
note of actual pain in his voice. “That's
& selmoan. 1t st right to kill salmon
thataway, It ain't Jegal. We can spear
suckers an’ eels, but we can't spear
salmon, 1t sin't righv, Bagud:"

“I—I'm sorry, Uncle Bem,” mumbled
Gleason. "I just forgot, I guess™

“Too bad, too bad," sighed the old

man.
He got into the brook, then, and started
to light his lamp, and Boyd suddenly de-
cided that this was the time to act. While
the old man was bent over a trifle, apply-
ing the tlamne of the match to the wick,
Gleason jumped on his back, got his
hands sround his neck, and pushed him
under.

Old Ben Morgan struggled, convul-
sively, gamely, but old Ben Morgan was
nearly seventy-six years old and Boyd
Gleason was in his early forties and im-
bued with the desperate strength of a
murderer. He pressed in his fingers
around his victim's throat, and soon he
felt the body go llmp. He still didn't
take a chance. He relaxed hls grip on
the neck, and put his right foot in the
small of the other's back. Bearing down
with all his weight, he held his friend
and benefactor dewn on the bettem of
Sueker Brook untl] he was sure that life
was extinet.

Then he reached down, yanked up the
body, and threw it up on the bank.

He wasn'tfiinisiedd. Not yet. Here was
where he had to get in his evidence of
accidental death. Calmly, deliberately, he
got hold of Uncle Ben's spear, held it
poised above the chest of the corpse, and

drove those five tines in as hard as he
could and as close to where he thought
the heart would be as possible.

Still calmly, yet with a gloating grin
breaking over his weak face, he removed
the salmon from his own spear, tossed
it alongside the suckers, and stood for a
moment looking down at what he had
done,

Then he cursed. He had the hardest
job ahead of him now. Uncle Ben hadn't
kept a telephone, and It meant he'd have
to walk close to three mlles to the near-
est farmhouse that did have ene, That
row back and forth across the lake to
see Buzzell last night had been bad
enough, the walk here to the breek had
been worse, but this jeb et hiking up te
where he eould eall the sheriff weuld be
still tougher,

Cripes, but he hated work, and walk-
ing was work. He guessed he wouldn't
have to do much more of it from now
on, though, he told himself as he started
out.

TT WAS close to dawn before Gleasen
was baek at the seene of his erifme.
The Leen Lake Juretion sherff was with
himh. Se was the Leen Laie game warden,
“Reckoned I'd better bring Chan along
with me,” Joel Hendrik had explained.
“Chan's smart as all sin on these here
fishiir\' aany Husmbiin agciddensss.”

Boyd was wishing that Chan hadin't
appeared. He didn't know why. He had
nothing to worry about, Chan just made
him nervous, that was all, that fuany,
quiet way he looked at you.

Chan was looking at him that way
again now, as he tutned his flashlight
once more on the body of Ben Morgan.
Chan was asking, in his solemn volce:

“Exactly how you say it happened,
»l

“i.ike I already told you am’ Mr. Hen-
drix, Mr. Buzzell. Me am’ Uncle Ben
come here for speaviiv. Uncle Ben was
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awful anxious to get goin'. He was in
the brook before 1 had my boots all
tied to my belt. He took one sucker an®
another one. Then he got that big salmon.
He was real excited. Then he—poor ol
feller, then he had one o' them dizzy or
vertigo or billous spells s’ —" He

for a morent, and shook his head:
“Well, whilst 1 was fixin® en my last
beet, 1 see him slip, sett of twist his speat
round like a6 If £ balanee himself, and
then fall Fight en dewn en #he pefat of
it . . . He was dead aw drewnded when
1 tied my best 6n & went a pulled him
euf” he finished, with 2 gulp ef what
seefhed &6 be everwhelming serrew.

Chan nodded his head, in his slow
frsinion, and the sheriff said with a shrug
of resignatiion:

“Well, poor Ben. He went sudden,
leastway, an” that's somethin’, Cal-late
he'd like to 'a’ gone either fishim" or
humtiid.™

“Poor Uncle Bem,” said Boyd, brush-
ing a Inemnd| ammss Inis eyes.

*“Tirouble is," said Chan, “that he
didn't go while he was doin' any fiian""

"How's that—how's that?” cried the
sheriff.

Chan Buzzell snapped on his filahihighht
again, but this time he centered it full
on the face of Boyd Gleason. He spoke
in his drasding, even, inexorable voice
the way he slways did whenever he was
called wpon to pass sentence:

"Ovexplayed your hand from the be-
ginni’, Boy. Thought it fuany when
you went to work am’ tutrned over that
‘new leaf they tell of, but I sure thought
it funnier when you come fo pay me.
Rowed over, too, you that never dofe a
stroke o' labor If you eould help It. That
puzzled me. Dida't mean g,
though, tll Jeel ealled for me tonight an'
told me abeut Ben's accident’ Then 1
began ¢o suspicien, 1 saw right off,

though, that you'd been tryin' to make a
good impression, with all your talk o
leavin' a good job am' comin’ back to
help Ben. 1 see now why you spoke o
him not bein’ too perky, too. 1—"

“Wihat in hell you mean) Chha??' Gltaa-
son cut in savagely, his face greenish un-
der the stzb of the fladihighht.

“I mean you murdered the man that
done everything in the world for you,
Boyd Gleasom,” said Chan sadly, gravely.
"I mean I come to be sure of it, ffirs toff,
when 1 saw that salimon lyin' there an'
you told me that Ben Mokgan speared it.
Old or not, faintin’ spell or not, Ben
never wotld have broken a game llaw. He
was one o’ the cleanest, finest sportsmen
1 ever had the—yes, the honor 0’ know-
i, . . . He comlhtitharennaddeaaniiithle
an' taken that salimen fof @ sueker.”

Chan paused, now, and there was

genuine pain on his face as he turned the
beam of his light on the body of his old
friend. There was grim righteousness on
his face as he again foaused the light on
the now twitching features of Boyd Glea-
Sof:
“Don’t know just how you done it,
but we'll find out at the inquest. You
killed him, though. Thing that makes it
sure, you see, is that there don't come to
be a single fish scalle @ that theeee sgpear
that you say Ben Mokgan got them suck-
ers an' that salmon with. . . . Most likely
we'll get other evidence, but—"

Boyd Glesaon interrupted him with a
cry of maddened rage as he lunged for-
ward and reached down for his spear, but
Chan exhibited some of his amazing
swiftness of action, He moved gracefully
forwvard llke a trained and perfectly
poised boxer and eclipped the killer di-
reetly en the butten:

“Better slip your handcuffs on him,
Joel,” he said to the sheriff, as Gleason
pitched forward, “I left mine to home.™



More Murders That

Boomeranged
The Case of the Human Torech

HOSE who plot to kill their
i fellowmen often are the

victims of their own cun-

ning. For murderers are &

conceited lot. They overlook
their ewn slips and mistakes. And, for-
tunately, many of their schemes, even
though often at first successful, will
eventually boomerang, bringing to them
their just deserts.

The sudden death of Bob Robinson
shocked all Marshfield. Much sympathy
went out to the widow and her son, Lloyd,
who had been with his father the night
their Chevrolet coupe burst into fllamaes.

Lloyd Robinson and his father left
home outside Marshfiield, Missouri, about
seven o'clock to visit Uncle Cliff Rouliff
@t Newburg. Interest on the farm's mort-
gage was long overdue and the Kansas
City Trust Company was demandiing pay-
ment, Lloyd Robinson explained to Sher-
iff Ralph Day.

It was still daylight that June evening
a few years ago as tihe coupe set off allong
U. S. Highway 66 north through Conway,
Brush Creek, and Lebanon. Here, Lloyd
said, he had taken a short cut, a dirt
farm-tomarket road, when suddenly
flamess began to spurt from under the
pedal brake at his feet.

Seventeen-year-old Lloyd opened the

door at his side and jumped, he told the
sherifff, calling at the same time to his
father to do likewise.

The boy szid he landed in a ditch, his
ankle turming under him. Before he
could get to his feet, the car rolled on
with the flames mounting higher and
higher. He looked around for his father
but in the dark couldn’t see any sign of
him.

"I ran after the car as well as I could
with my bum amidls,” continued Lloyd,
"but I couldn’t get near. Thefflameswere
all around it.™

He knew then his father was inside. So
he hobbled off, crawling on hands and
knees, criss-ceGssing a field until he came
to the farmhouse of the Wagganers
where he roused the fasmnily.

The Wa phoned for help.
Others had already seen the flames
pyramiding toward the sky. And before
help atrived theffamsssultdidiad. But on
the front seat of the coupe was huddled
the remains of what had been Bob
Robinson.

The next morning the car was towed
to the garage of O. C. Fordyce at Marsh-
fieldl and the body removed to the under-
taking parlors where Coroner Licklider
was waiting to perform the autopsy.

What was left of poor Bob Robinson

The mem who plans a murdier cam be too elever for
his own good.. For killers are a conceited lot and
tend to think they meke no slips or miskeliess. This
entimudlling stapy ysBbhws/ hoavthbgyape cwomenpy . . . .
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was a sorry sight. Thefiirehad completely
consumed the legs; all that was left of
the head was the bone structure. But
stramgely enough, the arms and trunk
had been barely singed. Even the cloth-
ing was almost intact.

Of course, thefflamesssinooting up from
the floorimg would account for the de-
struction of the legs. And if Bob Robin-
son had relaxed and doubled over, let-
ting his head droop on his knees, that
would explain theffire-ezttenesd!.

But as the autopsy progressed, the
coroner came upon a condition that puz-

Whhiillee flames
shot up, he
landed in a
ditch and his
ankle turmed.

zled him. And he immediately put in a
call to Sheriff Day.

“The trunk was intact, so was the
nedk,” explained Licklider to the shesiff.
“And in the stomach, in the gullet and
even in the mouth of the corpse, I found
food. Meat, potatoes and canned fruit.
There was even a piece of a peach right
between his teetfil™

“Wihich means that Robinson died
while he was eatiing?”™ asked Day.

“Exactly,” said the coroner. “Bob Rob-
inson died before he could swallow that
last morsel of peadin™

71
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Then he hadn't died from the fined!

Moreover, there had been a deep dent
on the top of the skull. The fEumes
couldn’t be held responsible for that.

Both the sheriff and the coroner de-
cided to keep this news to themselves.
But the investigation now took a differ-
ent turn. Just how much of Lloyd Robin-
son’s story would stand up?

What about the car itselif? Sheriff Day
put in a call to the garage.

"I can't find anything wrong with the
Robinson car,” admitted Fordyce. "I
thought maybe the gasoline tank had ex-
ploded. But it hadin’t. And the wiring is
okay, §69.”

Then he added a significant bit of
news.

" "Pears to me there was gasoline and
kerosene on the upholstery,” commented
Fordyce. “Now that the smoke is out of
it you can smell kerosene on upholstery
that didn’t burm,”

And, what had puzzled Fordyce even
more, was that the floorimg under the
brake pedal where young Robinson had
said the fiirestartal], was practicaly intact.
This section of the flooring wasin't even
singed. Only the place where Bob Robin-
son sat hiad burned,

Sheriff Day after this telephone conver-
sation hurried to the garage to pick up
pieces of the upholstery. He, too, got a
whiff of kerosene from the piece which,
Fordyee told him, eame from ihe back of
the seat where Lloyd Robinson sat at the
steering wheel.

But the evidence of his nose wouldn't
be enough proof, the sheriff knew. And
he quickly decided fo take the upholstery
to a local chemlist for tests that would
stand up In court If necessary.

Now, if kerosene had been sprinkled
on the upholstery, it must have been
brought to the scene in a can, There had
been no can in or near the firewceekkdd
ear. Perhaps it had been thrown away
somewhere In the neighborhoeod.

The sherifff's next move was to contact
Officers V. A. Dosing and O. L. Viets of
the Highway Patrol and ask them to cover
the route young Robinson had taken that
night from the burning car to the Wag-
goner farm where he sought help.

It was difficult to think of the seven-
teen-year-old boy as having had a part in
the sudden death of his father. Lloyd
had an excellent reputation. He was Inardi-
working, honest and dependable, said
neighbors. But there was something
strange about the death of Bob Robinson,
and Sheriff Day meant to get to the bet-
tom of It.

From Mrs. Waggoner the sheriff
Tkzaed that Dr. E. C. Breuer had been
called in by Lloyd's uncle the morning
after the fire to examine the boy.

“Frankly, 1 didn't find anytining wrong
with Lloyd, though I might say he was
suffeting from shock,” answered the
physician slowly.

“He didn't have a sprained amikle?"
asked the sheriff.

Dr. Breuer shook his head.. *“There was
nothing the matter with his ankle. Nor
did he show any signs of burins™ he

Odd, how these contradictions kept
cropping up.

Back in Marshfield the chief topic of
conversation was the sudden death of Bob
Robinson. The family had lived in Web-
ster County for several generations. Most
of the family, on both sides, were farmers.
Though Price Robinson, the seventy-nine-
year-old father of the dead man, was the
leeal blacksmith and still worked at his
forge oppesite the jail.

Twelve years earlier Bob had bought
a two hundred amd seventy aore dairy
farm in the rich valley of Osage Fork
outside Marshfield. It had cost $19,000.
Three of the children had since married
and left home; Lloyd was {he oldest of
those still en the farm.

And acoording to local gossip, there
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had been no trouble whatsoever between
Bob Robinson and his son or any other
member of his family.

Sheriff Day now decided to go out to
the farm for a talk with Lloyd. He found
the two-story farmhouse filled with sym-
pathetic neighbors. Lloyd was upstairs
resting, said Mary Robinson. And the
sheriff mounted the stairs to the boy’s
Feem.

"Got the clothes you wore that night,
Lloyd?" heffirsttzshesdl

The boy, his blue eyes showing his
curiosity, nodded amd brought from a
closet a pair of overalls and other artidles,
among them the shoes he had worn.

“We were having supper when pop
said he wanted to go to my unde’s," ex-
plained Lloyd.. "And I didn't have time
to change. I went in my working dloiines:"

Day eyed the shoes. If Lloyd had been
wearing them, wouldn't they show con-
siderable signs of scufffiimg at tie tives iif he
had crawled the distance across firelds
from the fire to the Waggoner home?
These shoes didn't. Nor did they have
any marks of scorching which, if the five
had started beneath the brake pedal as
Lieyd ssid, they certainly would have
g@&eﬂ:

The overalls, too, were spotless. "Have
they been washed since you wore them?"
suddenly demanded the sheriff.

“No, sir,” answered Lloyd promptly,
still puzzled.

“Then how come, the knees are so
clean?’ quickly put in the shesiff. “If
you went on your knees that night over
the fields, surely these overalls should be
badly stamed”

Lloyd swalllowed hard. Hiis faceflilststtkd.

He began to wring his hands.

"I don't knmow,” he stammered. “'I
don't know.”

“Lloyd, have you been telling the
trudihe” gently asked the shexiiff. “Don’t
you think you'd better tell me what really
happenedt”

The boy looked miserable. He didn't
reply for a minute or two.

"Maybe 1 had" he finally answered.
“Pop had a bottle with him. It was
whiskey. He finishsdi it and fell asleep.
Then, just as we tutned in on that dirt
road, a man with a mask jumped in front
of the car and when I sopped he made
me get out. He told me to get going. I
thought 1'd better go for hellp.”

Then when he was only a short dis-
tance away he saw flames shooting up
from the car.

"I guess that man had it in for pop,"”
added Lloyd. “I was afraid to say any-
thing about him lest he'd get after mom

"I wish you'd told us about this man
in thefirgtplacs” was Steniifif Day's only
comment. “We’ll have to try tio fisndbiliim:"

That was all.

On his way out, the sheriff stopped to
talk with Mary Robinson. She was the
typical farmer’s wife, hard working. Now
she was tired and nervous, showing the
sirain of the last few days.

As he stepped off the porch, Day saw
three children. He asked them their
names. One was flourtean-yearalld Rslsntt;
Ruth Jene, eleven; and a small boy of
five, Eugene Rouliff, & son of the uncle
the Robinsoas had set out fo visit the
night of the tragedy.

He eyed the children thoughtfully. He
bet their keen eyes hadn't missed anything
that night. It wasn't yet time to question
them, Day decided, but he could not re-
sist askding them one question. Gradually
he led up to the subject—wihat had they
had fer supper the night Bob Robinson
had died?

“Meeat, potatoes, and canned peadines;,”
piped up Ruth Jane promptly.

Then the ffive-yearaith boy added an-
other significant detasl. “We had supper
before- Uncle Bob came home,” he vol-
unieered. "We were playing tag outside
when Cousln Lloyd and Uncle Bob ate.”
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Then a frightened look came over the
child's face. Day pretended not to notice
it and, after a few more words, said

Back in his office he put in a telephone
call to Coroner Licklider.

*No, there wasn't a sign of liquor in
Bob Robinson’s remaims” said the
coroner. “You can bet on that. Not a
drop.”

So much for Lloyd's story about the
whiskey.

During the afternoon Dosing and Viets
phoned in. They were coming to his
office,

"We found something that will interest
you,” said Viets.

Within the hour Viets handed over a
kerosene can, explaining they had found
it in a ditch about two hundred feet from
the spot where the Robinson coupe had
burst Into flamss.

It hadn't been there long," explained
the patrol officers. “The grass under it
was only crushed and the can isn't rusiy."

And it still reeked of kerosene.

Viets and Dosing had tried to find the
filling staion whence the kerosene can
had come. The can bore no identification
but near its bottom was a long imdentztiiom
and the sheriff hoped the man who had
last filled it wbuld recognize the can by
this mark,

The second staiion brought a nod of
recognition.

“Sold that can full of kerosene a few
days ago,” the attendant told the men.
*“To Mrs. Robinsom.™

Of course, there were many uses for
kerosene on a farm.

After a talk with Deputy Sheniff H. P.
Highfill, Day decided on another visit to
the Robinson farm, this time for a show-
down with the son.

*Wihile I'm with the family," Day said
to Highfill, “you talk to the children.
That boy, the youngest, saw something
that scared him.”

Back at tive fanm, Day carme to tlne point
quickly.

Briefly he told Lloyd Robinson, while
his mother listened, of the facts that con-
tradicted his story. The youth turned to
look at his mother. But Mary Robinsein's
eyes were fixed on her shoes, her hands
twisting the corners of her apron, Beth
mother and son were silent.

Somehow the sheriff got a very definite
impression Mary Robinson herself was
tied up with the truth. And he made a
sudden decision to take her along with
Lloyd.

"Pack a few thinmgs™ he told them
abruptly. “I'm taking you both back with
me to the jail."

The two stared at him goggle-eyed.
Mary Robinson began to cry. Someone
would take care of tine children, Ine 2ssored
the mother.

Then Highfill came into the kitchen
where this talk had taken place. He had
a triumphant air and gave Day a quick
nod. That was all.

Wien the news broke that Mary Rob-
inson and her son Lloyd were in jail, all
Marshfield was aghast. What could the
sheriff have against them?

But Highfill's story assured Day he
was on the right track.

Robert, the fourteen-year-old boy, had
been sent out after the early supper to
look after the ducks. The other two, Ruth
Jane and Eugene, started to play tag.

It was the small boy, who running
round the house, had come close to the
porch and saw Lloyd and Aunt Mary car-
rying between them his uncle from the
house to the waiting car.

*There was red all over his head and
his shirt,” said Eugene. “He was making
funny noises, too."

So Bob Robinson had been attacked in
his home, while he was eating his evening
meal, The fire in the car had been carried'
out to destroy the body. Unfarmnately
for their plans, the fire had died down be-
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fore the corpse had been consumed. That
was the true story, decided the sinenifit.

Mary Robinson still refused to talk.
But Lloyd was not cast In the same iron
mold. “I guess 1 might as well tzllk” he
fimell}y saedd agvdd thaen to0d tHee shiaeifif tiiee
tale of the eoldest murder his experlenced
ears had ever listened to.

That evening after the children had
been sent out to play and his father was
sitting at the kitchen table eatiimg, his
mother had called to him to come down-
stairs,

Then she pointed to the horseshoe rasp
his pop had brought from the blacksmith
shop the day before and his mother had
brought In from the barn.

She put the rasp in his hand, Lloyd
said. And he had stood behind his father's
chai.

It took him a long time to make
up his mind. But his mother nudged him.

Then, finally, he raised the rasp and
brought it down again and again on his
father’s head.

His mother, in the meantime, had
stepped out on the porch, but was watch-
ing him through the window. As Bob
Robinson fell off his chair to thefloan; she
came back into the kitchen.

“IMama, it's done,” Lloyd said to her.
“But I already hate it.”

"You done it ak lastt," was her reassur-
ing answer. “You done it right."

Then they carried the body to the car,
propped it in the front seaf, pulling it
down so while the head sagged, it looked
#s if Bob Robinson was asleep.

Then Lloyd had diriven off zmdi stgyysest),
as Dr. Caps had advised him, on the dirt
road and started the fire with the
kerosene.

"Dr. Caps” szid the startled sheriff,
“How does he come into this?"

(Aside—this is a flictitionss name, for
though this Dr. Caps finallly went on
trial, he was exoneratiail)

Dt. Caps was well-known, practicing

in Marshfield for more than a quarter of
a centuiry.

"He was to get half of the insuramcs*
explained Lloyd.

And without hesitation, Lloyd Robin-
son signed his confession.

Bob Robinson had been carrying in-
surance for several years. One year after
taking out this policy, Bob had applied
for disability benefit. He had tuberculosis,
he told the agent, and gave the latter the
report of Dr. Caps to back up his claim,
but this clalm had not been allowed.

However, the company later got word
that Robinson was insame. And reluc-
tantly the company had not only paid
Robinson fifty dollars a month disability
benefit, but had recently raised it to
Sevi €.

By her husband's death, Mary Robin-
son stiood to gain a flait sum of ten thou-
sand dollars.

But that Dr. Caps was involved was
unthinkable. Both as a medical man and
a family man his iion was albove re-
proach. Lloyd Robinson couldn't have
picked out for a confedetate a more re-
spected and popular man in all Missouri.

However, on the strength of Lloyd's
confession, Dr. Caps was also held and
lodged in the Marshfield jail.

“I had no knowledge of the crime
whaltssever,” protested the physician. “'1
do not know why I should be insplicatestl™

But the Grand Jury, meeting the 22nd
of June, handed down indictments against
all three.

Lloyd Robinson went on trial firsit. He
did not deny his confession. Because of
his youth, he got only a life sentence.

Mary Robinson's trial was postponed
and her lawyer granted a dinange of wemue.
She continued to deny any part in the
murder of her husband. But the jury
found her equally gullty and gave her the
same sentence meted out to the son—life
imprisenment.

In May, 1936, Dr. Caps went on trial.
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The jury, after five and a half hours'
deliberation, decided it could not agree.

Fainter and fainter became the evidenoe
against the physician. There was nothing
except the accusation of mother and son
to tie up Dr. Caps with the crime. And
that was niot enough. In September, 1937,
the charge was dismissed.

Lloyd Robinson and his mother, alone,
were guilty of the planned murder of
father and husband,

Thus did the carefully planned murder
boomerang against the plotters.

It,had seemed the perfect crime to
the mother who had undoubtedly engi-
neered it.

But as fortunately so often happens,
the unforseen slips provided enough evi-
dence to warrant suspicion. And these
suspicious details, backed by the story of
the child at play, estzblished the case
against mother and son.

The Case of thhe Conelless Hinstynind|

Many a murder, planned ever so care-
fully, has suddenly turned on its author
and practically pointed him out a#s the
guilty party.

Shortly after five o'clock, the morning
of July 8, 1939, a phone call came to
police headquarters at Leavenworth,
Kansas.

A farmer had found the dead body of
a woman, face downward in the road,
said the man at the other end.

Following directions, a half hour later
Sheriff Ted Morrow and Chief of Police
William Cranston arrived at the scene.
The girl lay sprawded on a side of the
road, & large bloodstaln had spread over
the baek of her gray dress elose to the
heart.

Cranston quickly noted the soles of the
high-heeled slippers the girl wore were
not soiled. Evidently she had come to
this spot in & machine. But the macadam
road was too hard to give up any tlre
threads,

A gtoup of farmers had joined the
party on the road. None of them recog-
nized the girl, they said. One of them hadi
heard a shot a little before eleven the
night before. He had paid no more at-
tlon to it. But it might have been the one
that killed this poer girl.

The body, brought to the morgue, was

handed over to the coroner who in turn
had his report ready the same afternoon,

The girl had died probably about six
hours before the body was found. That
put her death at eleven, when the farmer
had heard that distant shot.

The bullet had penetrated from the
back. She had probably been shot as she
walked away from the car.

Another joy ride that went wrong,
thought Cranston.

By late afternoon the dead girl was
identified; she was Lucy Brown, wife of
a taxd driver, Chatlie Brown, and lived
on Seneca Sireef, Leavenworth.

Odd that this Charlie Brown had not
inquired about his wife, thought Cran-
ston, Husbands usually are concerned
when their wives stay out all night.

Inquiry at the railroad station brought
out that Brown was not there, He was
probably still asleep at hls home, unaware
of the tragedy.

Repeated knocking at the door brought
no response. And Sheriff Morrow thought
he'd drop in the house next door.

"Of course I know Lucy Brown," said
Mrs. Flora Wesson, an affractive young
matron. “I was with her last night."

The three, husband, wife and Mrs.
Wesson, who had dropped in, were lis-
tening to a Guy Lombardie program winem
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A group of farmers

joined the party,

but none recognized
the "dead girl.

Charlie Brown had jumped up and said
he had to be off to cafch the 10:55 train
at the railroad station. He had kissed his
wife good-bye and burried off. Shortly
after Mrs, Wesson had gone home.

“Yau're sure it was close to eleven
o'clock?” asked Morrow,

The young woman nodded. “I'm posi-
tive," she answered, "I looked at the
clock teo.”

Only one other interesting fact was
brought out. When Mrs. Wesson left,
Lucy Brown was wearing a yellow print
house dress. When the body was found,



182

PRIVATE DETECTIVE STORIES

she was wearing a light gray dressy frock.

Evidently Lucy Brown had changed
clothes to go out on a date, perhaps.

By the time Morrow got back to head-
quarters, he was told detectives had
located the husband.

“He's in the lock-up; he was arrested
for speeding last night on Military Road
by Patrolman Murphy. The time? 10 55"
Morrow was told.

Because Brown had been drinking the
patrolman, instead of giving him a tidkef,
had brought him in and locked him up.

“He was all broken up when I told
him of his wife's deatlh)” the detective
added.

Brown, brought to Morrow’s office,
seemed all in.

His story of listening to the Guy Lom-
bardo program with his wife and Mrs.
Wesson, of leaving hurriedly close to
eleven, tallied with the neighbor's story,
though Brown did not know of Morrow's
talk with her.

“Tell me,” interrupted Morrow, sud-
denly struck by a slight discrepancy, “how
come if you left shortly before eleven to
go to the station, you were arrested at
10:55 on Military Road?"

“That's easy to explaim," answered
Brown quickly. “As I was going toward
the stattion, a soldier hailed me, said he'd
just come in by bus from the fort but
there were some men there he'd promised
to send a taxi for. That was a sure fare,
so 1 started out.™

Brown, in this conversation, admitted
to the sheriff that his wife had a couple
of boy friends. Maybe slie had had a
phone call and gone out with one of them
after he left.

But inquiry of Lucy Brown's friends
denied this possibility. Lucy wasw't a two-
timer. On the contrary, the hushand was,
said his colleagues at the taxi rank ak the
railroad stattion.

“He falls for women like a kid goes
for camdly,” said one of them.

There was nothing in Brown'’s cab that
was suspicious. In his pocket was a hand-
kerchief with a small staim, reddish
brown, about the size of a dime. Morrow
decided to have the spot analyzed.

Back from the laboratory the same day
came the report the stzin was blood, of
type O, one of the most common.

A specimen of blood was taken from
the dead girl, another from Brown, who
made no objection to the test. Brown's
blood was AB, a very rare type. That of
the girl, O, the same as that on the hand-
kerchief, reported the laboratory within
twenty-four hours.

Brown shrugged his shoulders when
told of this discovery.

“Maybe Lucy pricked herself and used
my hamdieroities],” he conmteneet. 1 diidhit
notice the spot.™

The bullet recovered from the girl's
body came from a .45, a ballistic expert
had reported, most likely an army auto-
maliic.”

No gun had been found on Brown at
the police station or in his car. If the
husband, and suspicion turned on him
only because the most diligent search had
brought to light no other man in Lucy
Brown's life, had shiot her, he would have
had to ditch the weapon before his arrest.

Authorities at the Fort sent out, at
Sheriff Morrow's request, a company of
soldiers to search the ground on both sides
of Military Road from the point where
the body was found back to the city.

It took six days of continuous hunting
before results. Then, fifty feet off the
road, one searcher came upon an army
antomatic. In the clip holding seven
bullets, six were still there. It had been
fired! recently, said ballistic technicians to
whom the gun was handed over for ex-
anination. And further tests convinced
these experts that the fatal bullet recov-
ered from Lucy Brown's body had been
fired from this very weapon.

Alas, there were noffingerprintsson the
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gun. And Brown swore he had never
possessed a weapon of any kind.

Sheriff Morrow was in his home that
night, his thoughts on the unsolved mut-
der of Lucy Brown. 1t was Friday, pre-
cisely one week sifiee the poer girl's body
had been found,

The radio was going. Mrs. Morrow
turned the dials and strains of music came
over the air.

"it's Guy Lombardio's bamdi," she told
her husband in answer to & query from
him.

The sheriff glanced at the clock. It was
nine-thirty-five.

But hadn't both Brown and Mrs, Wes-
son said they had been listening to the
Guy Lombardo band between ten-thirty
and eleven the previous week when
Brown hurried off to work?

“Is Lombardo always on at the same
time, nine-thirty to ten, every Friday
night?" Morrow anxiously asked his wife:

"Of course, my dear, a sponsor always
has the same time, every week,” she an-
swered placidly.

But her look became one of surprise
when the sheriff threw down his news-
paper, smudged the end of his cigarette
in the ash tray, bounded from his chair
and made a leap for the clothes closet for
his coat.

*Yaou've given me an idea,” he told his
wife exultingly.

Chief of Police Cranston, hastily sum-
moned to headquarters, listened to Mor-

row's suspicions. Brown, still detsined,
was again brought in for questioning.

"You turned the clock ahesd]" insisted
Morrow. “You knew you'd have an alibi
if Mrs. Wesson swore you were ak your
home close to eleven and if you were
arrested at eleven. But the clock was an
hour fast. What did you do in that hour?.

Finally Brown collapsed.

He had parked his car a littflle way diowm
the street and watched until Mrs. Wesson
returned home. Then he had gone back
to the house, suggested to his wife that
she change her dress and go out with him.

This she had done. And he had driven
out on the road. Here he had persuaded
the unsuspecting Lucy to get out of the
machine on the pretext that he saw apunsee
in the road and as she walked toward it,
shot her in the back.

Then he had raced to Military Road
where he knew a motorcycle patrol kept
a constant watch for speeders amd had
maneovered his atrest. Thus he planned
to bolster up his alibi. His motive: free-
dom to play around with other women!

Brown later signed this confession.

But, at his trial in October of the same
year, 1939, even though Brown now
repudiated this confession and swore it
had been obtained under duress, the jury
that listened to the accumulated evidence
against him held otherwise. It found him
guilty of murder. And Charlie Brown,
whose alibi almost cleared him, was sen-
tenced to a twenty-year term in jail.

The Case of the Diving Car

Even the best planned murders can
boomerang—fatenately. For murderers
are a conceited lot, and like all self-satis-
fied people cannot see their own short-
comings.

About eight o'clock the morning of
December 12, 1939, a telephone call

came through to Police Headquarters at
Los Angeles.

“I'm a truck driver,” said the man at
the other end. "I was driving on Mount
Wilson Observatory Road just now when
a2 man stopped and asked me o get in
touch with you. He said his car went
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over a parapet there and his wife and
three children were in it.

Captain Burns of the Criminal Divi-

sion, to whom the message was quickly
relayed, telephoned immediately for two
ambulances and telling Deputies George
Wiener and H. L. Pulfer to come along,
jumped into his car and set off for the
scene.
They drove swiftly to Red Box Can-
yon, here to be stopped by a tall man,
disheveled, bespectaded, on his face the
ravages of despair and grief.

“I'm Laurel Crawford of Pasudiens”
he introduced himseilf.

He was hardly able to continue but
motioned to Captain Burns to follow him,
A little further up the road he pointed
to the timber rail that guardied zmdl wanmed|
motorists of the canyon below. Here a
large section had been smashed.

“The car went through here” Craw-
ford continued. “There they are™ And
he broke into violent sobbing as he
pointed down the 1,000-foot abyss below.

Burns peered caufiously down the can-
yon. The car had not gone down all
the way, It had caught on a shelf five
hundred feet lower., From this distant
point, however, Burns could make out
the bodies scattered below, the white
showing up clearly against the dark back-
ground,

“You here,” said Burns consider-
ately. “We'll go down for a laok.”

And the three men began to clamber
slowly down the dangerous route to the
ledge.

There they found five bodies, one of
a woman zbout forty; close to her two
children, a boy and a girl, the former
about ten years clld), ttellatear it lar faans,
Another girl, about eight, was eaught Ina
the crotch of a tree, and 2 litille to one side
was the body of an elderly man, probably
in his sixties,

After a quick sutvey, the three climbed
back to the road.

It would be better to get the distracted
Crawford back to headquarters. He
could tell his story there. Wirner could
wait at the scene for Coroner Webb and
the others who would eome to go over the
place, decided Buris.

“Pulfer, you go back on the road to
where those C.C.C. men are working.
Get them here and as soon as Coroner
Webb gives you an okay, let them help
you bring those bodies and the ear up
to the roadl”

Back at headquarters, Crawford told a
simple story, smoking a cigarette and
talking calmly enough. After an early
dinner his wife had suggested a ride and
he decided to take her, the children and
8 Mr. Baimet, who boarded with them),
up to Mt. Wilson Pelnt.

They got up all right and started back.
All was well for four miles. Then sud-
denly the car got out of control.

“I knew the brakes were bad so I
kicked into neutral and tried to get into
the second gear,” continued Crawford,
dropping his cigarette butt on the floor
and crushing it with his heel.

“But the old gear was in bad shape,
too, and I couldn't get into gear. And
the car kept going faster and faster.”

The two little girls had screamed,
Mrs, Crawford, sitting beside him, leaned
over and grabbed the wheel. Crawford
struggled with her but her feenzy, he
seid, had made her desperate. The ear
suddenly veered toward the eanyen side
of the road and through the guard rail,

Crawfiord mopped his forehead with a
shaking hand.

"I screamed to the others to jump. It
all happened in @ half-minute. Just as
the car started to fall I made a leap over
the door. I was stiunned]”

But even as he heard the car crashing
its way down the thousanitfoot canyon,
he got up and began czalling to his wife
and children.

No one answered. And when, afteg
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groping in the dark, calling, Crawford at
last realized the children, their mother
and Barnet had all gone over when the
machine catapulted into the canyon.

The man sighed.

“I swear to God 1 thought tliey had
all jumped,” repeated Crawford, taking
out a handkerchief and wiping tears that
were strezming down his cheeks.

The eyes of Burns grew moist. A

of detectives blew their noses vio-

Crawford then had clambered down
the steep incline, holding on to bushes
and clinging to rocky ledges.

Halfway down, caught on the ledge,
he had found all four members of his
family.

"Helen was still breatimng,” he told
Burns. “But she was unconscious. I
tried to climb back with her but couldn't
make it. Maybe I should have gonelback
for help. But I couldn't bear to. leave
her., So 1 sat there, holding her in my
arms until she died.”

All the time, however, he had. been
calling for help. But his voice didn't
carry. No one amswered.

“That was at eight o'clock last night
you say. Why did you wait another
twelve hours before getting help?” asked
Burns.

“I was too exhausted to move,” ex-
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plained Crawford.
my deadl.”

Then with dawn, he had clambered
back up the hill and stopping the truck
driver, asked him to phone for help.

"It's all my fault,” exclaimed Crawford
again and again. 'The car was in bad
shape. 1 was going to trade it in for an-
other. But 1 waited too long.™

The mam's clothing was torn, the
palms of his hands showed deep scratches
from his hold on the bushes. Burns
himself had hurt his hands s he went
down that morning. His Stwy rang
true.

*I'd like to tell my father before he
reads of the accident in the papers.” spoke
up Crawford. "Can 1 go home now?"

Burns nodded. "We'll get in touch
with you as soon as the bodies are recov-
eredl,” he said kindly. “And I'll send you
home in a police car. What's your ad-
dress?”

Burns jotted down the address, 124
Sierra Bonita Avenue, a Crawford
thanked him, his voice breaking.

It wasm't an easy job hoisting that car
a thousand feet up o the road. An even
more gruesome tasi' was bringing the
bodies of the dead to the wagons from
the morgue.

Late the same aftermoon came a tele-
phone call from Coroner Webb. He was
coming over to see Burns sbout the au-
topsies.

A half hour later the two men were
together.

“Not one of those five died from the
result of that fall down the canyom,™
Webb told the astionished Burns. “Some-
one deliberately aftacked every one of
them with an instrument with a round
hard end, a hammer probabily.”

There were these indentations, similar
in size and shape, on the heads of all
five.

Burns was aghast. No one but the
father had been .>m the scene.

"I just sat there with

"You're not implying that this Craw-
ford deliberately killed them?" he de-
manded.

"What's more, didn't he say that when
he went down the canyon right after the
accident he found only one child, Helen,
alive," was Webb’s only answer.

Burns nodded.

"Well, judging from the contents of
their stomach, digestion of their last meal
continued for several hours,” continued
Webb. "Which backs up my claim that
not one of them died immediately after
the acoident.™

Burns had to admit the strength of this
evidence. They would have to see
whether other angles backed up the

father's story or disproved it.

Now Burns returned to Mt. Wilson
Observatory Road. Crawford said the car
had skidded for some distance and then
had gone out of control. Also that he
had been going at 2 moderate speed.

Yet Burns, examining the car, found
the speedometer recording a forty-five
miles an hour pace. An average rate
would have been twenty-three.

Crawford had said the brake amd gears
were Guf of order and that he had been
negotiating for & new car.

Questioned, Crawford gave the name
of this agent, Sullivan, and his address.

"There wasm't anything the matter
with that machime™ said Sullivan em-
phatically. "I remember it well. It was
a Studiebaker, 1929
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Now why should the man tell such a
stoty? Was there another woman in the
case?

Inquiry of neighbors of the Grawfords
brought out that they seemed a very
happy couple. Teue, Crawford hadn't
worked for four years, not since he retired
from the post office on a disability pen-
sion. Added to a pension he got as a
disabled veteran of Woild War I, he was
getting abeut twe hundred dollaks a
menth, eneugh for the famlly to live
simply.

Mrs. Crawford was working as a maid
for $62 a month and they took in a
boarder besides.

But there was no other woman in the
case. Crawford had no matrimonial plans
that would have made the death of his
wife necessary for their fulfillment.

What asbout insurance? Crawford,
questioned, admitted he carried insur-
ance, that he would receive about one
thousand dollars, enough to cover fun-
eral expenses.

But now Burns' curiosity was aroused.

SURVEY of insurance companies

breught out that during the last six
fmenths Crawford had taken out insurance
6R his three ehildeen and his wife. The
agent was Albert J. Prideaux.

“Creawford and 1 had ourfirsitialik ol
a year agp, in September, 1938," szid Mr.
Prideaux, consulting his records.

“WFinally he decided to take out 84,000
on nine-year-old Paul, $3,500 on seven:
year-old Helen, $5,000 on fiffitesn-yeas -
old Alice, and $8,000 on his wife, Elva.

"He wanted a double indemnity clause
in case of accident on all policies,” con-
tinued Prideaux. "I told him he couldn’t
get double indemnity on children under
ten.”

But Paul had passed his tenth birthday
before the fatal accident. And the father
stood to gain $37,000 by the death of his
little family.

The next day a still more thorough
search was made of the side of the can-
yon where the coepses had lain. A little
way down searchers found a ball-peen
hammer.

Eingerprint experts said the only prints
on the hammer's wooden handle were
those of Laurel Crawford.

One more fact, the most damning of
all, came to light when detectives brought
to Headquarters a metal box found on a
shelf in a closet in Crawford’s bedroom.
In it were the insurance policies and un-
der them a paper covered with figures.

TT TOOK time to interpeet these fig-

ures. Here Crawford had penciled the
amounts coming to him from the deaths
of his childeen and wife—337,000.

Other notations showed the man's
plans. He had jotted down figures which
showed what he would get sheuld he -
vest this capital in annultles, Plus his
pension, he would have a total IRecome
of $375 a month,

There was no doubt that these figures
were in Crawford's handwriting. It was
the last damning bit of evidence to prove
that the “accident” on Obsetvatory Read
had been deliberately planned.

Crawford was held, accused, later in-
dicted and charged with first degeee mur-
der on five counts.

The second week in March, 1940,
Crawford went on trial. Prosecuting At-
torney John Barnes had experts on hand
to testify the hammer marks could have
been produced only by the hammer found
near the scene, the hammer with Craw-
ford's fingerpriings.

Technical experts testified that the car
brakes were in fiest class condition. In-
surance Agent Prideaux contributed his
bif showing premeditation and motive.

And a jury, with short deliberation,
brought in a verdict of guilty of murder
in the firsit degree.

A week later, Superior Court Judge
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Clarence L. Kincaid sentenced Laurel
Crawford to life imprisonment on each
ocount, sentence to be served consecutively,

and prevent any attempt for a parole,
And one more crime had boom-

eramged.

The Case of the Exploding Box

Sometimes when the law and the au-
thorities fail through no fault of their
own to tuin the tables on a murderer, fate
itself steps in and takes over.

In an apartment on the ground floor
of a five story house on West 77th Street,
New York City, in February, 1912, an
aftractive woman in her thirties sat talk-
ing to a young man asbout ten years her
jupier.

“Fm sorry,” the young man repeated
again and again. “We've been friends
so long it seems a shame for us to quarrel
like this™

The woman smiled. It had taken quite
a lot of persuzsion from Charlie Dicken-
son o get her to make up. But woman-
like, she had prolonged their reconcilia-
tion because she liked to listen to his
pleading.

“All right, Challie," amswered Grace
Walker. And she got up from her chair
to stand back of him and put her arms
round his neck.

Even as she put her cheek against his,
the front door bell rang.

She came back from the door with a
small package in her hand. The mail-
man couldn't put it in the box in the
vestibule so had brought it to her. It was
smalll, oblong-shaped, wrapped in white
paper snd tied with red string. Her name
and address were typed on it; it had taken
twe ten-cent stamps for postage. All these
details were idly noted by Dickensen as
Mes, Walker’ put the bex down en the
table in the center of the reem and pro-
eeeded to open the package.

He watched her remove strimg, then
wrapper, and lift the lid. Then came a

terrific explosion and Dickenson and the
woman were hutled to the fitsm.

Dickenson got to his feet. There lay
Grace Walker, her face blackened, her
blouse soaked in blood. He spoke to her
but she didn't answer. Her jaw sagged,
her eyes had rolled back in her head but
the lids were open. The young man de-
cided to get 2 doctor there &6 quickly as
possible.

Dommnstairs in the basement, Joe Cros-
sen, the janitor, had been rocked off his
feet by the explosion. But he pulled him-
self up and limped up the back stairs. The
kitchen door had been thrown off its
hinges.

He hurried down the smoke-filled
hall to the living room. After one brief
glance at the broken body of the woman
on the floot, he picked up the telephone
and put in a call for the pelice & the 68th
Street station.

The neighborhood physician, brought
back by Dickenson, and the police arrived
st the same time. Mrs., Walker was dead,
said the physician. Telling Dickenson,
who admitted he had been In the reem
slone with Mrs, Walker, to wait, they
immediately began an examination of the
premmises.

In the wrecked room police found bits
of the d box and scraps of the
bomb it had contained. In the collection
was & small steel spring, a plece of iron
plpe two Inches long and a half inch in
dlameter, two electric dry batterles and
some pleees of white paper In whieh the
bex had been eovered, on It sl part of
the address,

When the body had been removed to
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the morgue for Caroner Feinberg's au-
topsy, and the scraps of the bomb handed
over to Chief Inspector Owen Eagan of
the Bureajs of Combustibles for examina-
tien, the palice began their hunt for the
perpetrator: of the crime. Who had sent
Mes, Grace Walket the bomb-laden box?

Charles M. Dickenson, questioned, ex-
plained his eonnectipn with Mrs. Walker.
They had long been on extremely feiendly

terms. This relationship had endured for
almost two years. He had a job a8

rapher to one of the heads of the United
States Meter Company.

“Odd that you were in the room and
weren't even scrsiched when almest
every piece of furniture here was
wrecked,” commented one of the detec-
tives.

Dickenson was thoughtfiul. “Mis.
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Walker was stzmdiing between me and the
tabblle," he amswered, “and the box was
" on the tzble when she stiarted to open it.
Maybe because she was between me and
it the shock only knocked me dowm.™

It was possible.

Now an excited young woman appeared
at the door of the living room. She in-
troduced herself as Miss Edna LaMarre
and added she was living with Mirs.
Walker.

“She asked me to go out and phone as
soon as this Dickenson came and pre-
tend he was wanted at his boarding house.
Anything to get him away. She was
through with him," said Miss La Marre,
turming tlaskiong eyes on the young man.

They had quarreled only the preced-
ing Wednesday night and Mrs. Walker
had written him she never wanted to see
him again. He had phoned he would
be there this Saurday night and she had
arranged the telephone call to get him
out of the apartment.

Dickenson admitted the quarrel but
insisted they had become reoconciled.

Now if Mrs. Grace Walker had been
the average respectable housewafe, this
theory involving Dickenson might have
been more impressive. But the lady was
already known to the police. In fact, just
about a year earlier she had been up in
court as the keeper of a disorderly house,
@ business which had provided her with
a livelihood for the last fifteem years.

Two men who had been involved in
her arrest were duly considered by the
police as possible senders of the bomb.
Two taxi drivers, Carl Kasebier and Phil
Snyder, had been accused of bringing a
younig girl to her house. All three had
been arrested, with Mrs. Walker turning
State’s evidence against them.

A search made for both these men
brought out that one, Kasebier, had been
in the Middle West for several months
while the other, Smyder, was able to show
he had no knowledge of explosives, no

opportunity to get any, and was in no way
involved with the fatal bomb-gift pack-

The report from the Bureau of Com-
bustibles was not very helpful. The bomb
was home-made, said Eagan. It was con-
structed of short lengths of pipe, loaded
with chlorate of potash, powder and
sugar, and wrapped in the package with
an electric midget battery which closed
the circuit and provided the spark which
caused the explosion.

The package had been mailed at Grand
Central Staion, a scrap of the white
wrapping paper carried a few letters of
the postmark. On it had been two ten-
cent stamps. The address had been type-
written,

Because of his recent quarrel with
Grace Walker, and for lack of any other
suspect, Chatrlie Dickenson was held. The
young man, however, was soon able to
convince the police he knew nothing of
explosives. He was a stenographer. And
though there was a laboratory in the com-
pany where he worked, and nitroglycerine
was kept there, it was proven that only
three persons had keys to -if; the general
manager, the chemist in charge, and the
night watchman.

Their keys had never left their persons.
Dickenson had never been in the labora-
tory. Moreover, every ounce of the explo-
sive could be accounted for.

Despite the intensive search made by
the homicide squad, its detectives were
unable to accuse anyone of having mailed
the bomb to Mrs. Walker. The investiga-
tion was dropped with the general suspi-
cion that someone tied up with the under-
world had nursed a grudge against the
woman and had taken this means to get
even with her.

Another six weeks passed and the story
of the home-made bomb had disappeared
from the front page when another bomb
story broke.

General Sessions Judge Otto A, Rosal-
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sky returned from court late on the after-
noon of March 16, to find on his library
tzble a small oblong box. It had come in
the late aftermoon mail, the maid ex-
plained.

Judge Rosalsky, an extremely logical
person, eyed the box with misgivings. Its
wrapper bore the imprint of a welll-kmown
department store located at 14th Street
and Sixth Avenue. His name was type-
written on it. And the wrapper bore three
tep-cenitssiampgs.

Now since when had the department
store sent out packages by mail?

Judge Rosalsky slowly cut the red
string, removed the wrapper, to find him-
self holding a pasteboard box five inches
long, two and a half inches wide and the
same in depth. It looked like an ice-cream
bax.
The box looked harmless enough. But

Judge Rosalsky, still suspicious, took up
a paper cuitter on the table and tzpped the
box here and there. There was something
hard inside, certainly not candy! He de-
cided to put in a call to the 125th Strest
police statiion as well as to the Bureau of
Combustibles.

Owen Ezgam, the inspector who had
been active in thefiirstthomi czsz, arvived
at the Rosalsky apartment within the
hour.

Judge Rosalsky with his wife and the
maid, at Eagen's request retired far from
the library. Gingerly the inspector picked
up the box. He wasm't going to lift the
lid, it might set the mechanism in action.
He took a knife and started to rip the
sides of the pasteboard box. He inserted
the point an inch from the top and cau-
tiously began to cut along the side. Then
came a terrific roar, afflast) amdl the room

. was filled! with fumes zmd dusstt.

Eagan was thrown to the floor. His
right hand was badly mamgled, one fingger
had been blown off. Splinters of glass
from the top of the library table, smashed
into smithereens, had penetrated his face.

His clothing was torn. The library looked
as if a cyclone nad stk .

Remains of the bomb were quickly
gathered from the wrecked room. Three
lengths of one-inch piping were recovered
in the debris, two longer pieces with short
pieces of copper wire.

The wire had evidently been strung
through the pipe, one end attached
to a cord and detonator, the other buried
in a foundation of yellow and white
powder.

The chemicals used to bring about the
explosion were soon identified. They were
chlorate of potash and sulphur.

The similarity of the construction of
this bomb and that sent Mrs. Grace
Walker was quickly noted. Both had been
home-made by a skillful mechanic. Short
length of pipe had been used with chlor-
ate of potash the explosive.

In both instances. the packages had been
mailed and carried ten-cent stamps. Both
had been tied with a red cord detectives
found was used to bind brooms. More-
over, the addresses had been typed on
the same machine.

But how could this keeper of a dis-
orderly house and a respected judge of
the General Sessions Court have the samne
enemy? What was the connecting link?
Detectives could find no clue.

Never did New York detectives work
harder on a case. Recent sales of explo-
sives were checked on. Typewriting
agencies were queried. Prisoners who had
been sentenced by Judge Rosalsky and re-
cently released were questioned. But the
result was nil.

A watch was kept in all local post office
branches now for small oblong packages.
For the police were convinced that the
sender of these two bombs would continue
to mail his death-dealing gifts to those he
had a grudge against.

But another ten months passed. Not
until February 3,11913, precisely one year
after the bomb package had been received
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by Mrs. Grace Walker, did another fatal
bomb make the front pages.

Mr. and Mrs. Bernardo Hererra, after
a pleasant azftermoon at the movies, re-
turned home to their apartment on the
second floor of a remodeled house on
Eulton Awvenue, the Bronx. With them
was a woman guest.

In the vestibule Mrs. Hererra and Miss
Sarsh Fischman noticed @ small oblong
package on the floor, neatly placed just
below the mail box that bore the former's
name.

Mrs. Hererra picked it up. It bore
neither name, address or stamps. Evi-
dently someone had left it there. For
whom was it intended? Mr. Heremra
wanted to give it to the janitor but the
ladies insisted on taking it up to tine patt
ment.

Laughing, Mrs. Hererra cut the red
string, put aside the white wrapping pa-
per and removed the lid of the pasteboard
box. The explosion that followed split
the living room tzble, blew out the win-
dows, sent pictures on the walls into the
sireet, knocked Mr. Hererra and Miss
Fischman senseless, and killed Mrs.
Hererra.

Pieces of the bomb were recovered.
Caps had been screwed into short lengths
of pipe. Small blocks of wood had been
used to brace the box and support the
bomb. The pipe had contained a fulmi-
nated compound, probably chlorate of
potash. One cap, recovered intact, had
a finy hole in the center through which a
wire had been passed.

Theffirsttihought was to trace am amsmy
of the family. Hererra was a cigar maker,
on good terms with fellow workers. Miss
Fischman was a forelady in a factory and
had stayed on the job during a strike. But
who could have known she would be a
visitor at the Hexerra flat that Sunday
aftermoon?

Mrs. Hererra, a housewiife, had had
several arguments with the janitor of the

house, one Farrel. The latter, taken to
headquarters for questioning, told detec-
tives he had made the bomb and left it in
the vestibule.

But investigation soon proved that
Farel, not very bright, had simply an-
swered “yes" to every question put to
him. He was not a mechanic and knew
nothing of explosives.

The mechanism of the bomb bore a
striking similarity to the arramgements
received by both Judge Rosalsky and Mrs.
Walker. Pipes, caps, wire and explosive,
were practically identical. So was the
white paper wrapping and the red string
that tied it.

But here, evidently, the bombmaker
had feared to use the mail and delivered
the package himsellf.

But what tie could there possibly be
between Mrs. Walker, Judge Rosalsky,
and the cigarmaker and his wifle tinet aauildl
make them the objective of a common
enemy?

There was no doubt the same hand had
made all three bombs. They were a lit-
tle different in make-up, admitted Eagan
of the Bureau of Combustibles, agaih on
the job. But this difference only made the
situation all the more alafining.

For each bomb had been an improve-
ment on its predecessor!

The man was continuing his experi-
ments. Somewhere in New York City was
a madiman, afirst-dlassmediarii;, familise
with explosives. Theffiesttbomb had been
a simple affair; the second a little more
complicated. And this third one, left in
the hallway of the apartment house where
the Hererra famlly lived, was a fitsiclalass
plece of work.

Would the man strike again?

For the third time this maniac had
struck without leaving a single clue. He
evidently laid in his supplies long before
he sent his bombs. He could fzike thiis time.
A man working alone as this one was
could carry out his hellish plans without
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anyone catching on. There was gloom at
headquarters.

Then the second week in March came &
telephone call to the Bureau of Combus-
tibles.

A man living in the Bronx had been
seriously injured by am explosion in his

No, he hadin't received any
package. He said he had been playing
with a toy cannon.

"We'd like you to have a look at his
room,” said excited Detective Jordan.
"You'll be intereststl”

made a note of the address. It
was atfoutt 2B badk fioomtHecHHaxamawnee.
At the house he found the detective wait-
ing for him with a corious cxowd Inangjmg
around,

The man's name was Henry Klotz. He
had been employed for seventeen years
as a draughtsman and civil engineer in
the Bronx T ical Bureau under
the Borough President.

He was now in the hospital, seriously
injured but conscious, Eagan was told.

"But he won't tzllk,” added the detec-
tive. "And when you see his place you'll
understand why.”

Eagan's first eyeful took in the room
where the explosion had occurred. Chairs
had been blown over, windows knocked
out, A table was blown into splinters.
But these details weren't the most Impor-
e,

Hanging on the walls of the room,
stacked in corners, piled on a shelf were
ak least thirty to foety rifles, shotguns and
plstols!

“Look what we fished! out from under
his bed,” suggested Jordan.

Eagan, was glancing at the collection
of tin cans, leaned over for a closer look
and took a pindn from An open containey.

“Dynamite,” he exclaimed as he
thumbed the greasy yellow powder.

“And here's chlorate of potash and
sulphur,” added Jordan.

In a dozen cans stored in the room

were enough explosives to blow up New
York City.

In a box in the kitchen was a supply
of slugs, nuts, and bolts. Odd lengths of
pipes filled a small crate in the fflat's
kitchen.

“He's got about everything here that
that bombmaker wussd]” commented
Eagan. “"Wihat does he sag?"

"First he told us he was making a toy
canmom,” said the detective. “And now
he's changed his story and says he was
fillimgy some gun shells when a tin of
gunpowder exploded.™

Klotz denied knowing amything of the
three bombings. But detectives brought
Miss LaMarre, Mrs. Walker's friend, to
his bedside.

“It's Crazy Henry," screamed the youmg
woman. “Mrs. Walker had him kicked
out of her house™

Henry Klotz had been a regular cus-
tomer. Along with other men he had be-
come enamored with the minor girl who
got Mrs. Walker into trouble. Though a
minor in years, she was long on experi-
ence. And to enhance her own value, hadi
played the men against one another.

Klotz had sworn to be revenged on
Mrs. Walker. She had given orders he
was not to be admitted to her establish-
ment.

Still Klotz denied the bombings.

Detectives were, however, giving his
quarters a thorough going over. And in
his battered desk, buried in the debris of
the explosion, they found a notebook. It
had been carefully kept over several years.
In it Klotz had carefully jotted down his
actions, each carefully dated.

January .......... canstructed machine
February ........ 1912 M.X. 3rd
February ........ 1913 M.X. 2nd
March .......... 1913 M.X. kGth

Theflirstttwo dates covered the Walker
and Hererra bombings. Had he been
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working on amother bomb this March
when the explosion occurred? Who was
his next victim to be?

Klotz, questioned, still refused to an-

swer.
But detectives were now certain they
were on the right track. And when they
found an old typewriter hidden under a
pile of clothes in a closet, they were able
to verify their elaim.

For this was the machine, they soon
proved, on which the addresses on the
packages mailed to Mrs. Walker and
Judige Rosalsky had been typed.

Still Klotz refused to confess.

Then Detective Cavanaugh was placed
in the hospital as an orderly on night
duty. He made a point of becoming
friendly with Klotz. During the long
hight heurs he went frequently to Klotz's
bed to talls with him.

Another week and Klotz was talking

freely. Like most self-appointed wielders,

of justice, he was boastful of his sticcess.
He bragged to Cavanaugh of the tie-up

between himself snd his victims.

The authorities already knew why he
had picked out Mrs. Walker for one of
his gift-bombs. Judge Rosalsky, he said,
had once sentenced one of his friends to
jail. In revenge, Klotz mailed him his

kage. As for Hererra, he and Klotz
had met In 2 neighbering seleen. One
night Hererra spoke disparagingly of the
Gerraans. .

Though Klotz said nothing at the time,
he followed Hererra home one night, got
his address, and several months later
mailed him the bomb.

The case against Klotz was complete.
But the man never recovered from the ex-
plosion. On March 29, he died.

Thus did Klotz's own plot boomerang
against him. He died as had two of his
victims. Had fate not taken sides against
him, Kletz probably would have gone on
magiling his bombs to those against whom
he held a grudge. 1t was & lucky day for

persons that he mishandled the ex-
plesives that Mareh day.

Increasingly, as the War goes on,

paper plays an ever-growing part
in the efforts of our Army, Navy,
the Red Cross.

enemy and to save the lives of our

boys, your government says—
SAVE WASTE PAPER!

To defeat the




Truth

OME time zgo, the American peo-
ple were amazed to read the latest
mouthing of the Goebbels' propa-

ganda mill, to the effect that a “truth
serun” had been perfected in Germany.
As a fesullt, many Scare stories began to
appear In eur press, “Wihat would hap-
pen,” people asked, “if one of our Air
fen shetld be eaptured in Nazl-land, fed
with the ‘teuth seruiY and accordingly
made to divulge eur latest teehnleal
Seefaks Witk regaa to pakaee Habeietiden),
frechanieal advanees, 2nd the like.”

After these propaganda stories had ap-
peared, our American scientists began an
investigation. Their findings, in their
essence, were that it was most unlikely
that & “teuth serum’” existed, or was ever
likely to exist.

From time immemorial, the Intelli-
gence Sections of armies have striven to
make people “talk™ It is a matter of
military expediency. If a man's mind is
the repository of military secrets which
may alter the course of a war, then it is
most important that an army know about
them.

"Tuth serumi™ to the contraty, the
German practice for obtaining military
secrets from recalcitrant spies has thus far
been the simple “torture™ method. Tor-
ture is either physical or mentsl. Physieal
torture takes on many shapes and forms.
Either a man may be beaten with a rub-

Serum

ber hose into unconsciousness, or he may
have his fiingertiss seared, one by one,
with lighted cigarettes. Or, he may be
given the water cure; also he may have
his bones broken, one by one.

The mental school of torture, on the
other hand, goes in for dire threats to
one's family and loved ones. A spy may
be told, for example, that his mother,
sister and brother will shortly be killed
unless he sees fit to divulge certain in-
foemation. Or, the spy may be given a
streng dese of solitary confinement, to
the peint where he thinks he is going
insane.

Each school of torture, of course, has
much to recommend it. However, much
as the Nazis wounld like to possess it, a
“teuth seromm™ is held by most of our
scientists to be only theffigmenttof a wild
Nazi imagination.

Perhaps, the Nazis may mean by "“truth
seram” nothing more than the old-fash-
joned alcohol trick. As long as mankind
has imbibed alooholic beverages, so long
has alcohol been a weapon in the hands
of the unscrupulous. Dose a man with
more Scotch or rye than he can take, and
his tengue becomes loosened. He may
begln to talk on easy terms with total
strangers abeut hls most Intlmate secrets.

No doubt it is only alcohol after all
that the Germans have been misnaming
their “teuth seruum.



" “Yurder will out!*” Hemry Brssoombbons tedothtirebyby
indierstingythia csebpget tforr hid neek tedifidoidb [nnthiac
Gexzclts. Although Beswomlb didw't kmaro it, woith
these ssawecwords h & evanwritivgnhih dedtia tengentehce!

BRY" orated Hienry
Bascomb, “will out! There
is your subject for my edi-
torial this week, Stewe™
That's how the thing
started, from hisidieniintiiefiess pikace Hic
laid the powder tiziun 2undl lighted te flnse.
It wasn't an editorial he ordered me to
write, it was his own death senternce!
Whatever happened afterward was his
own fault—fitankly, if he'd listened to
me, Henry Bascomb would, be a living
man today,
“But, Mr. Basoomidh," 1 said, "'I've al-

DALE
CLARK

ready written your editorial—Let's Crack
Down on Congress Quidk!™

Listen to me?

Not Henry Bascombl!

My words only spurred him to red-
faced resentment, made hisffingenssdench
angrily on the shotgun he was cleaning.

He yelled at me—well, almost yelled::

"For the thousandth time, 1 tell you the

MeadswilMcGazaéttis i homertowmmeaekek-

ly, people read it to see their own names
in print, they get their national news and
opinions from the big city daily papers
and the radi"



DAMASCUS
GUN

"Precisely,” I replied reasonzbly, "what
ails the country! ‘The people are misin-
formed, they know only what the big-
fimenzeacontroltdfie ¢ resessndnbroudedsesigng
chains tell them., This natfen Is belng
led around by & gold ring Ih lts noss—="

Listen to me?

He wouldn't even let me fimish.

"Oh, forget it! Congress and the war
arem't on our newsbeat. We can't com-

The game warden was
dead. Just because be

caghe ¢l
ducks he’d killed out
season,
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pete with Emie Pyle and Kaltenborn and
Kiplinger at solving the world's prob-
lems, but on the other hand they canm't
scoop us on our local Ladies' Aid doings
and county crimes.”

"Fiddling," I interjected, "while Rome
bums.”

"The hell with Rome! This is Meads-
ville, and piddling &s it may seem to you,
a mpundiar Inas ifncatrmidist. Avati
1 want (o see an editorial in tomorrow’s
Gazsrte sbout it—and ot & write-up of
your half-baked notion of what's wrong
in Washington.” He grabbed up his shot-
gun, started for he street doer, growled
26 be went: "I want to see It before to-
merrew, yeu ean send a proof of It home
wifh Hannah tenight.”

HANNAH was his daughter, married
te Ed Beale, editor of the Gazette.
The service star in the print shep win-
dow was for Ed, who'd rushed to enlist
the Monday after Pearl Harber, and was
new @ war prisoner in Germany. At
that, 1 doubt If he was In any hurry to
have the war end—considering what this
eeuntry was eemling to.

She'd been pecking away at a type-
writer, Wihide all this went on, hacking out
a hunk of poetry. Sie hardly waited for
the door to slam; then she jumped up and
ran over to me.

"Steve," she babbled, "I heard every
word and you're absolutely right. It isn't
only the newspapers and radiio, the big
national magazines aiie secretly controlled
by big-finance interests, ttoo. It can't be
just a coincidence that not one of them
will buy my poems!™

You could have knocked me over with
sn em-space. 1'd alwaysfligureeliHannah
as one of those long-haired literary dames
without a serious political idea in her
head. And besides, personally, slie af-
fected .me like those girls in the ads who
have to be told zbout their armpit shad-

ows making them unpopular.

I kept it from showing on my face; 1
even patted her shoulder. "Of course it
ism't a coincidence. It's a conspiracy. But
never mind, there's going to be a house-
cleaning in the U. S, A—starting with
the White House and Supreme Court and
Congress, and also including all those
kept press editors and columnists and for-
eign correspondents!”

Hannah wiped some dangling locks of
haif\away from her features, leaving some
ink smudges instead. She slways used
green typewriter ribbons because that was
the color of her psychic aura, and then
she invariably jammed the keys on the
machine and had to untangle them with
her fimgass.

"Gogdliness, Stewe,” she sighed, “just
hearing you say so gives me feesh hope.”

"It's true, Hannah. The day of doom
is dawning for a lot of higher-ups in this
country, but meanwhile your pa’'s the boss
and 1 have to humor him, The Gaasttd)s
got to cover this murder in a big way, so
suppose you trot over to the jail and In-
terview Buck Bledsoe. See if maybe there
ist't @ hidden woman angle to his crifme.”

I knew better, It was just @ case of a
hailf-wit farm hamd knifiimg 2 ganewdatden
who caught him cleaning a mess of wild
ducks a week before the legal season.
I merely suggested it so 1 wouldn't have
Hannah breathing down my neck while I
wrote the editorial.

“"Murder Will Out”™—I leaned back,
lighted a cigarette, felt sick as 1 stared
at the typed words. I'm too fundamen-
tally intellectually honest for my own
good!

And honestly, my intelligence told me
murder does not out. Stafistics would
prove a big percentzge of homicides never
get solved—if 1 wanted to look up the
figunesson it. 1 didn't bother becanse
the statistics wouldn't tell the whole
troth, anyway. They don't include the
really clever killings which are disguised
to look like suidde or aoddental death.
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Can I help it if that's the way my brain
works, always plunging straight to the in-
side, low-down, secret truth of things?

OR instance, I immediately saw it

wasi't fair to argue thet 2 man can't
get away with murder because Buck Bled-
soe didn't! You might just as welll argue
a man can't fly because 2 Buck Bledsoe
couldn't handle a P-38 without any previ-
ous training.

“After all,” 1 reasoned, “‘committing
murder is just about the most serious,
single step & man may take in a lifime?
Nobody would expect to step euit 6n a
meyor league dlamond and ggjh a8 ne-hit
game thefiratme he ever bad 2 bl
in bis handl, weuld he? OF walk eate a
Hﬁﬁﬂd &y to play Harmlet withewt even

gring 8 l@@fﬁ the lines?”

Murder was like that, I figured — a
highly specialized art or science, requiring
preparation the same as any other. Even
a moron of Buck Bledsoe's type wouldn’t
stretch himself out on an operating table
to have his appendix removed by an ama-
teur witheut any medleal traiming; prob-
gbly he weuldn't even sit down 1n a bat-
ber ehaif to be shaved by a skdent taking
his Hest lessen with a fazer. And if he
had an 2iling radie, he'd take it to 2 radie
repaif store and net o 2 blagksmith shep:
Y%I this lamebrain, witheut aRy advanee

%@8&‘ even elemeﬁafy YRderstand:
iﬂgim HH&B gs ivohved, had fahed
B 6 deadly- $eFIBus Business
8F MHFgEr:

So what did # prove that he'd been
caught red-handed?

"It doesn't prove a damned thing!" I
reflecied. “And what's more—I could
bump off that fat old fool of a Henry
Bascomb without asoybody knowing it s
homicidie.™

The next instant the thought struck me,
why didir¥ tl JddiR?

It was a brand-new thought, a notion
that had never remotely entered my head

before. Why should it? You see, people
in Meadsville thought old Henry Bas-
comb had taken over the management of
the Gaastte while Ed Beale was away,
They imagined Hannah was handling the
reporting end of the bussiness, andl to direm
1 was enly 2 4-F and all-areund
printer's devil. They'd have been suf-

prised to knew 1 Breught in éwe-thirds ef
the leeal news items, and 2 et mere sUF-

prised 9 find eut Henry Bascomb never
authered his signed editerials in e
paper:

My feelings weren't slighted; on the
contrary, that was the way 1 wanted it.
Bascomb was {be tiowin’'s banker, and metu-
rally his word earrled welght In the eem-
munity. Wiiting under bls name gave
fiy ideas an Awlherity they wouldsr other-
wise hawe iat), contieeTl it
let myseif have full play. Afier all, Bas-
esmb read the skuif afier it get in print.
So 1 euldR't eamme Hghttqlt ahd say wiat
1 meant 2Bout the President and fhe Su-

Ferhe Eguit and €A Hel 1SS
sulq 1 sﬂéséa S%QH F eraek a¥ the

But then I:haatwas all right. 1 couldnt
have, anyway, because the general public
was just as dumb as Bascomb himselif, [
had to educate them to the facts by grad-
usl degrees, starting with kindergacten
lessons about the Communists and Bu-
reaverats and Labor Racketeers on one
hand, and Wall Street Bankers and Big
Business en the ethef. ARd fer hat pur-
pese, Bascemb made 2 swell frone; ) cowld

injeet a lirtle p Rda inte Ris
editarials, #hd s9 the better If
people didn't reslize # was there:

That is, I could do it if only the old
fool would let me stick to the really vital
national issues of cracking down on the
government and capital and lgbor. If
oenly he wouldn’t keep butting In wilh his
idiotic suggestion for editorfals about the
priee of potatoes, or paving Maln Street,
oF Buying War Bends.
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I had my head poked out from under the running boandi—

The worst, of course, was this latest
braimstonnm—"Murder Will Out™ It
made me sick even to think of it! Be-
cause how the hell can you stir up the
public to reform the country by telling
them everything is hunky-dory, that mur-
der will out of its own accord? You have
to tell ihem the exact opposite! In plain
woerds, erife 15 en the rampage—they're
Hable te be slaughtered in thelr beds any
ﬂi t new—and #here isn't 2 Ehing thele

silly pluto-demecsatle form of govern-
fhent ean do to save them.

All at once I heard a giggle behind
me. "Gracious, Steve, 1 wish the
Muse would inspire me to write like
that™

Will you believe it, in my mental ex-

citement I'd actually started pounding the
keys and hammering out this editorial the
way it ought to be written!

I made a quick grab, tore the paper
out of the machine, whirled around. Han-
nah was just closing the door, though—
she wasfiifteanfeet swey, andl dhe couldn’t
possibly have read my stuff from that far
away.

“What about the woman amgle?™ I
asked her.

She gave a headshake. "There just isn't
one. That Bledsoe brute ism't interested
in the fair sex in the slightest. He’s sit-
ting there in his cell poring over a maga-
zine called the Ouwideors Digest, and he
wouldn't even lay it aside leng enough to
talk te me.”



and saw Buck swing the gun, club-fashion, again and again.

1 thought a minute; szid, “There's
something funny behind that, Hannzh!
Bledsoe can't be interested in the out-
doors any more—the literature he ought
to be studying is how to live inside and
like it. I'm going to investigate his pecu-
lar resding tastes™

So 1 hustled down to the drug store
and bought a copy of Ouideors Digest.
Even if there’d been nothing in it, going
out gave me a chance to pause in an alley
and touch a match to my editorial under
the pretense of lighting another cigarotte,
just in case Hannah wanted to see what
I'd wrltten.

But the Outdioons Digest was impor-
tant, even though at fiirstglance it seemed
to be just another capitalistic smokescreen,

devoted to ducks and deer and fish s0's to
distract public opinion from the polit-
ical and economic issues of the day. Not
until I thumbed through to the back pages
did I find the gold-mine; in fact, two

“Hannah," 1 pretended after I got back
to the GazeWe office, "I'm having trouble
with the linotype again, so you better not
wait, It'll be eight o'clock before I €an
get this editorial set up in type, and so
I'll bring the proof by your heuse on the
way heme.”

Whhat I'd found in the back pages was
8 department on and asmmumittion,
beginning with a lead-off article advocat-
ing restricting automatic weapons as a
means of presetrving wild game. Part of
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thak 1 lifted and used in my editorial—it
showed how Buck Bledsoe's mind had
been corrupted by reading Communistic

! Buck was a tool of the
Reds! That whole arfiide was nothing but
typical Communist underhandedness, be-
ing a hellish trick to pass a law keeping
modernffireammssout or the hamds of hon-
est citizens. And this was followed by a
question-and-answer column giving the
scientific, ballistics facts on various guns
—in other words, enlightening the radi-
cals just which secondhand weapons to
buy in preparing for a bloody uprising.
From the political angle, it struck me this

Outdinoys IV pges tmusstbee requpisiedd readd-

ing in all the anarchistic clubs and secret
societies in the country!

But what specially and personally
gripped my atieniion was a boxed notice
in the middle of thefiireanmsspage. With
the hunting season coming on, it warned
against the practice of shooting high
velocity, smokeless powder loaded shells
in old-fashioned shotguns equipped with
Damascus steel, twist or laminated bar-
rels. That certainly surprised- me, inas-
much as I'd always imagined Damascus
steel was the ne plus ultra. Yet the warn-
ing was dear, any hunter who made that
mistake was likely to blow off ahand and
maybe his head besides.

Henry Bascomb's shotgun, unless I was
badly mistaken, was an old-timer dating
away back to pre-World War I days.

YOU RE beginning to see what he
started with his mulish insistence on
2 editorfal en murder? He laid the pow-
der train, a6 1 said before; otherwise my
theughits would never have turned in that
drection, Hannah would never have re-
vealed her soul to me, 1 wouldn't have
sent ber to the jail, consequently I'd never
have dreamed of looking inside the covers

of an Outdinpysilipgsst.
He wasiit through playing the mule;
1 hadin’t heard the lest atiwmttthreteckitoriid)

because when I took the proof to Henry
Bascomb's home a couple of hours later I
found his next door neighbor, Moxris Ep-
stein, sitting in the parfor. Epstein's kid
was in the Marlnes. He'd sent home some
Jep trophies from the Marshall Islands,
and the twe old eronies were admiting
the stuff when I walked in.

Erankly, I can’t go Epstein even if he
is the smartest lawyer in the county. But
when Bascomb offered me a drink, what
could I do but ?

But while he was pouring it, Morris
Epstein picked up the proof page where
Bascomb had laid it down on the table.
He gave it 2 quidk glamce, saitt:

"Henry, sometimes I wander. . . . You
cam't even write two hundred words about
a8 local murder without dragging in poli-
tics. My God, man, you don't really think
Bueck Bledsoe’s a dangerous Bolshevist,
do you?

Bascomb's jaw dropped about a foot.

I said, quickly: "Nobody says he is,
Mr. Epstein. He's just an unconscious
tool of the Third Internationsle. He’s a
fellow-traveler, a poor dupe whose braln
has been poisoned by that insidlous Red
literature.”

Epstein shook his head, “But the Out-
doors Digest is no parlor piak organ. 1
know because I read it regularly mysdi”

"Certainly,” I came back at him, “they
don't come out in so many words and sy
they're un-American! But read between
the lines! You admit, don’t you, they're
In faver of testrieting the salle of fiveaasiixrs?
And den’t you agree Bledsoe’s In faver of
mwmaiz? if peeple didn't ewn

dn't pursue killees? Yeu
é@ﬁfi the Reds ahd OmitinnssDvjaest
2nd Buek Bledsee are all felloatiravelers
ein _ﬁielgg the same read In the same
qik r

Lawyer or no lawyer, old Epstein saw
lie couldn't stand up against my barrage
of inexorable logic, so he shrugged and

v, 3]

, shut up. Unfotuneaitely; Heasy Bascomb
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by this time was readiing the proof to sce
what caused the fircsvookks.

He glared: "Hell, so am I against a
lot of game hogs running wild with their
automatics and super-souped-up ammuini-
tion! They cripple more birds than they
kill—but never mind, Sieve, you wouldn't
understand what I'm talking about. For-
get the whole thing. I'll write this week's
editorial mysdf.”

Morris Epstein opened his eyes at us,
then quickly jerked them away. He pre-
tended to be suddenly interested in a belt
of Pap mediiime-gun buillets, butt of course
he knew the soore now.

T THOUGHT fast, reallizing that if once
a Bascomb saw his own words set up in
type, from that time on he'd insist on
writing all the editorials, Up to now, I'd
been able to kid him he was too busy to
waste his time on mere jouenalism. But
I'd be wasting my time talking, if ever I
let the authorship bug bite him.

"I'm sorry,” I told him, “but the lino-
type's out of order again, and in fact it
broke down completely just as I finisiteed
this. If you want to write a different
editorial, okay. But if you do, the Ga-
zette can't come out tomorrow, and it may
be Friday before I get the machine work-
ing agaim."

To show you how little he knew about
the newspaper game, he was so dumb he
didn't sawvy the editorial could easily be
set by hand out of the ad cases.

"Oh, well,” he scowled, “let it go this
time! But I'm tired of you sticking & lot
of words in my mouth all the time!™

I knew 1 couldn’t lie zivout the linotype
being broken every week.

So when 1 left the house, I walked
around back to the garage.

It was a good guess on all three counts.
Henry Bascomb hadn't bothered to lock
his garage, he hadn't locked the car,
either, and the shotgun lay in its case
across the bade sestt

1 switched on the dome light, held the
gun up to the light. The fourth guess
was okay also. Bascomb's old double-
barrel boasted "Damascus Stssll" engraved
right into it—probably the manufacturer
had been proud of the fadt, thirty or farty
years ago.

I helped myself to a couple of shells
from the box he had stowed in the gun
case. Not until I closed the old cowhide
case did 1 notice the name stamped oh its
lid—Hemney Basoomfs, Sr.

Well, I might have suspected that-the
weapon had been handed down to him
from his father! He was that kind of a
reactionary conservative, what was good
enough for his father would be- good
enough for him.

As a matter of fact, I'd known it all
along. Henry Bascomb didn't belong to
the wave of the future at all—he was
mentally a holdover from the horse and
buggy days of old fogies like Lincoln-and
George Washington. I could use him for
lambasting the Communists and Con-
gress, but deep down in my heart Fd
never doubted he'd balk at the next logi-
cal step. He wouldn't admit the country
was in such a mess our only hope lay in
starting all over again, and this time with
a sirong man dictator in charge of things!

I'd been aware of his pluto-déenmnraic
prejudices from the first;, only up to now
I hadim’t seen any way of helping-it.

1 was Ihegrimmimg) to see 2wy mow. Syp-
pose something happened to Henry Bas-
comb, such as a shotgun blowing-up in
his face while he was duck hunting?

That kind of an accident would -leave
Hannah in sole charge of the Gazette—
and Hannzh, I'd learned today,-conlitl be
educated to the vital political issues of the
times. Of course, she needed a whole lot
of education before she'd go all the way
with me; but 2k leasit 1 coulld Inope tio make
some progress with her, which T couldn't
with Henry Bascomb.

I got so exdted thinking zbout it, I had

{
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to slow down and remind myself there
was no hurry—the duck hunting season
didn't start until next week. All I could
do tonight was fix the linotype. Of course
it didn't need fikiirgy. But that gave me
a reason for stayiing late inside the locked-
up Gazettte office, in case anybody was
curious.

HAT I really did was set up a hand-

bill exposing the International
Bankers' plot to overthrow our govern-
ment. Naturally, the handbill wasin't for
use in Meadsville — the local yokels
weren't ripe far receiving a real, red-hot
revelation like ¢his.

What 1 did with these handbills, I
mailed them to Mr. X in Chicago. For
every thousand I sent in, I gat a silver
star, and when I'd saved up ten stars, I
mailed those in and got a gold one. In
turp, ten gold stars entitled me to a pro-
motion in rank.

Allready I'd worked up from private to
the level of captain in the Secret Army
to save America. But it was slow work,
especially when you consider I could get
promoted by merely sending in the names
of five new members—besides keeping
half of the ten-dollar initiation fee!

I COULD hardly wait for people to get

good and scared, so I eould come out
in the and organize a couple hun-
dred recruits, That'd make me & four-
star secret general, not to mention I could
use the money, too, But now I was glad
1 had waited, beeause oebviously it'd be a
tertific help to have the local newspaper
éndorse the movement with a lot of favor-
gble publicity.

In fact, I felt so pepped up about it
that after I ran off thefirsitthousand hamd-
bills on the job press, I kept right on go-
ing and printed another five hundred to
be used right here in Meadsville after
Heary Bascomb had his sad accident.

Wauldn't you know there'd be a catch

to it? I went around to the hardware
store first thing in the morning intending
to help myself to a box of the highest
velocity smokeless powder shotgun shells.
But diere were none on the shelves, so 1
was compelled to come right out and ask
the clerk.

Risky? Wedl, yes, but I could cover up
later by saying Henry Bascomb told me
to buy them for himAr&fi amyone asked
questions. I didn't thmk anyone would,
because during the night I'd thought up
something else to divert Meadsville's at-
tention from such minor matters as hunt-
ing accidents.

But coming back to the cattrlin—the clerk
looked at me as if T musttbeearegy. “Gomd!
Lord," he said, "don’t you know there's
been a sporting ammunstion shortage
since Pear] Harbor? I haven't any shells
in stock, and if 1 did have, I couldn’t sell
them except to a farmer or rancher with
a priority pesmit.”

I couldn't believe my ears. Even though
I was wise to the Red plot to disarm law-
abiding citizens, I frankly never dreamed
Congress and the President would be so
short-sighted as to make it impossible for
patriotic Americans to defend themselves
against riots and rebellions on the home
front. But worse than the political angle
was my personal problem of where to get
my hands on some high-velocity smoke-
less powder.

For ten minutes or so, I was really
disoouraged—until I walked by the bank
and saw Henry Bascomb and Morris Bp-
stein fixing up a window display of those
Jap trophies in order to peddle War
Bonds.

So I went in and helped them do it.

And slipped a handful of Imperial
Japanese Army high-powered cartridges
in my pocket.

They never noticed.

Next, 1 stopped at the variety store and
bought a plug of child's modeling clay
off the toy counter. [ could boy that
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openly because who'd ever dream how I
used it?

Finally, 1 stopped a the jail to ask
Sheriff Hacklees if there was any last-
minute news on the Buck Bledsoe case
before 1 put the Gezste on the press.
His big iron jail key lay right there on
his desk. 1 leaned against the desk,
pulled the plug of modeling clay from my
hip pocket, and pressed it down behind
me on top of the key.

Hacklees never noticed, either.

Now all I had to do was empty the
black powder out of Bassomb's shotgun
shells and fill them up with high velocity,
mtro-cellulose smokeless explosive. I
had a whole week to do it in, so 1 took
my time and figured out exactly what I
was doing. Those shells had been loaded
with 4 drams of the black powder—ap-
proximately 109 grains. The car-
tridges, still loaded, held 33 grains of
powder each, and 1 emptied five of them
into each shell—165 grains of concen-
trated military manikiller. 1 didn't put in
gy shot af all. Instead 1 soaked filller
wads in glue and tamped these down one
on top of the other. When I set these
aside to dry, 1 had a product packing
enough wallop to rip Henry Bascomb's
old-fashioned gun barrels to ribbons, and
blow the hammers back through s iszim.

But 1 didn't count on it. Just so the
gun blew zpart was all I cared. An
accident like that could easily kmock a
hunter unconscious, make him fall out of
his boat and drown — or he could be
pushed out and held under the water.

I whittled @ hardiwood key, amd bought
some rak poison zmdl 1| wes zlil swit. Nothing
less than broken bones would keep Henry
Bascomb and his dog and his pal Epstein
off thie river at sunrise thefiirgtdiay of the
Season.

Y thing. . . . The very night be-
fore the season opened, Epstein
tripped and fell over a wire some fool kid

must have strumg across the sidewalk in
front of his house. I happened to be
right behind him, hurrying to tell Bas-
comb some bad news. 1 fell over the wire,"
too. In fact, 1 landed right on top of
Epstein as he was getting up. 1 wasm't
hurt. Epstein's ankle got busted, though.
1 could hear the bone crack when my
knee came down on it.

The bad news I had to tell Henry Bas-
comb was that his dog had got into some
rat poison behind the print shop.

My alarm clock went off at four a.m.,
and it wasm't too early. By the time I
was up and dressed, window lights were
showing around Meadsville. Duck hunt-
ers like to be in their blinds before day-
light—the blind is the hide-out they shoot
from. Henry Bascomb's blind was down
the river about two miles, located in a flew
acres of marsh he'd bought and bullt a
boathouse on. He needed a beat to get
around the property, it was mostly under
water with just a few hummocks of dry
land sticking up here and there.

That's where 1 headed for, but first I
stopped outside the jail and threw a sione
through Buck Bledsoe's cell wiindiow/The
breaking glass would wake him up, but
nobody else because he was the only pris-
oner in the hoosegow. 1 figured whea
he found the key tied onto the sione. a
guy going to be sent up for second-de-
gree murder would know what to dbo-=
even if he was hallf-witted. Then at bredic-
fast time the sheriff would find him milss-
ing, and in the excitement of the jailtyralt
people would overlook any slightly sus-
pleious circumstances connected with
Henry Bascomb's death.

Sooner or later they'd catch the pook
sap, but he couldn't tell them who
plied the key. Even if he looked, it was
too dark to see me runming across the jail
yard. It was still practically pitch-black
when I reached the boathouse, and the
sky had barely turned a little gray when
Henry Bascomb's car fame chugging
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down the lane from the river road.

Erom where 1 stood peeping around
the corner of the building, he was just a
dimly visible human haystack silhouette
spouting white vapor from his nostrils as
the old fool sniffed the air in caveman

The ducks out tliere in the dark must
have heard the car—they started quacking
and gab-gabbling. So he quickly grabbed
2 bamileo whistle out of his disguise and
quacked and gabbled soothing talk back
& them.

You'd have laughed your head off. He
was all dressed up in a camouflage suit of
grass until he looked like a marsh hum-
mock on two legs. First he reached in
and got his gun out of the car and leaned
that against the fender and then he got
out & double armful of imitation, decoy
dueks and started down the path to the
beathease.

1 knew he wouldn't be back in @ Inanmy;,
I'd jammed a twig iintte tiine toztinowss k-
hole, and it'd take him a minute to fish
that out.

And 1 didn't need a minute—only a
couple of seconds to pounce on his gun
and break it. The shells in it partly
popped out when I opened it, and fast as
you could say, “Little lambs- est ivy," I'd
picked them out and pushed those super-
charged deathdealers into the barrels.

Then I heard him coming, and I dived

flettanddirobhbebl caistodt sijghivtunideer Hiiscoar.

But it wasn't him, it was some other

QUZML Bascomis?" this other guy said.
“Mt. Basoomb, you got to help me!™

Of course when he heard that, Henry
Bascomb started back up the path feom
his boathouse. "Who’s there?* he wanted
to know.

“It's me—Buck Bledsoe."

I guess 1 gasped, but Bagwoumdy's gasp
was louder. He had reasmmn—~the killee
being between him and the car, and yards
closer to the gun.

Probably the old fool wasn't really cool
—just scared ice-cold, 1 imagine. “Well,
Buck, what can I de for you?"

Bledsoe laughed and said, “It's okay,
1 aan’t 20y damgerous Red Bolshevik like
you said in the paper. I'm just as good a
member of the seeret army 26 pow aed!”

"The what?"

Bledsoe laughed again and said,
"Hell, Mr. Bascomb, you can't kid me. A
lot of them editorials you took just about
word for word from Mr. X’s secret news-
paper, the Bronwn [Froem Bapilg|cLdsasyiin-
ter 1 had a factory job in Chicago, and
that's when 1 joined thls great erganiza-
tlon to liberate the U. S. A. frem the grlp
of the Belsheviks and pre-BEitish, up-
Arerlean Wall Street big shets.”

TT'S almost lucky I was already lying on

the ground—I might have fallen over
on hearing Buck Bledsoe prove he wasn't
the dumb hick everybody thought, but ac-
tuzlly had one of the most outstamdiing,
enlightened, political visions in Meads-
ville. It took me so by surprise I couldn’t
warn him until it was too late.

“Oh," said Henry Bascomb, “that
makes all e difference in the world!
Naturzlly, as your fellow member I8 a
Fascist crusade to make the werld safe
for Hitlerism, it's up to me to help you.”

He was moving while he said it. He
grabbed the shotgun, and his voice
changed.

"Hands up, you stupid tramp! You're
going back to jail, and you're not tlie only
one—"

That was when Bledsoe quick-wittedly
geabbed the gun barrels. I heard a couple
of dry clicks, itikeaindddct donnee]

Basoomb cocking the hamimers. But Bled-
soe belng the superior man physieally as
well as mentally, he easilypgzigtealyﬁie
weapen free befere any harm was dane.

I poked my head out from under the
rummingboard just in time to see Buek
swing the gun dub-fashion. Henry Bas-
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comb threw up his arm to save his head,
but thefiirsithlow kmocked him sprasillimg.

Ther Buck hit him a couple of more
licks, stamding over him and wielding the
shotgun like an axe. The third stroke
the gun stock broke off, after which he
threw the pleces away from him into the
water beyond the boathouse.

Bledsoe took to his heels. 1 wanted to
tell him he could go a lot farther and
faster by taking Bascomb's car.

I figured, though, 1'd better not say
anptthinng. He might have killed me be-
fore I could convince him we were both
loyal to the same high ideals, only I asa
captain was even more so.

I went over to make sure Henry Bas-
comb was beyond the help of flirst aid. His
wristwatch had been broken when the
shotgun crashed across his outfiung arm.

I moved the hands so they pointed o fiixe-

thirty.

Five-thirty gave me plenty of time to
walk back to Meadsville and be having a
eup of coffee in the Victory Hamburger
Hut. That being the only place open that
early, 1 eould eount on a few early-bird
witnesses to eonfirm my alibl,

Only it wasn't open, there was a sign
in the window that said, "Gone Hunt-
ing.”
gi had to have an allibi, didn't 1?

So I went and routed Sheriff Hacklees
out of bed. 1 told him I'd come down
early because the linotype was out of or-
der, and that I was pretty sure I'd wit-
nessed Buck Bledsoe dodge around a cot-
ner. I said that was about twenty min-
utes ago, and at first I hadn't belleved [t
was Bael, but finally 1 thought 1'd better
play safe and netify the Law. 1n eep-
Reetien with mentiening the tme, 1

uiled eut My wateh and sad it esuldn't
six-thirty already!

Hacklees looked at his watch, and of
course I'd looked at mine wrong—it was
five-ttittyyonrthbeldat.

After that, 1 went over to the Gazette

office and diddled around taking the dis-
tributor mechanism off the linotype. I
was still doing it when Hannah came in
ak eight o'dock, crying because a couple
of other hunters had just found Heary
Bascomb's body.

Pretty soon after that, Sheriff Hacklees
walked in and he had a gun in his fiist.
"Steve," he said, "you're under arrest for
murder."

I told him he was crazy, if amybody
had «murdered Henry Bascomb it - was
Buck Bledsoe.

He shook his head. "Buck's in his cell,
and has been there all night. You made
up that clumsy lie to give yourself an
a]ﬁ."

AT'S the trouble with secret organi-
zations. They always include a few
unreliable persons you sifmply ean't eount
on. Buck had rusined back and lecked
himself in his eell, figuring he'd use that
weoden key some other night. And these
hunters in the meanwhile had leeked
areund and reseued Henry Bascomb's
breken shetgun.

"You made an awful dumb mistake,
Steve,” the sheriff told me. " You assuimed
Henry would blow his head off with:his
own gun—you didn’t know a black pow-
der primer in a shotgun shell won't ex-
plode a dharge of smokeless powser!- So
when he pulled ihe trigger and nething
happened, you grabbed the gun and
bralned him {nstead” A

That shows you What to expect from
the so-called legal justice in this, pluto-
democratic country! Sheriff Haddees is so
ineredibly dumb he's still sticking stub-
bornly to his crazy theory that. I.wient
hunting with Henry Basecomb that mern-
Ing. He Inslists some dueks flew over, and
Basconb's gun enly elicked when he tried
to sheet both bafrels at them . . . and 1
had te kill him %o keep the eld feel frem
finding eut what ailed his ammwaGent

(Continued on page 112)
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COURTROOM, which had been
crowded only a few weeks before with
morbid curiosity seckers, was now

enpty, except for the defendant and his
attorney, the from the D.A.s office,
a few detectives, and the bored aitendants.
The defendant had been found guilty of
murder in the first degree by a jury of his
peers, There had been no recommendation
of merey and the death sentence was
anaetory.

104

Murder

“Youwng mam” spoke the solenm-faced
judge, his voice echoing through the empti-
ness of the court, “you have committed
fientisthmuardeefds pphltyyppoftitYalsoanse
of good family and you have had an excel-
lent education. Fortunately, your brilliant
schemes bore 0o frult, and you were ap-
prehended before you had perpetrated
more death and destruetion” The judge
paused. He hed always found the actual
sentencing diffisullt “I sentence you,” be
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He was stil a medical stu-
dent when his crimes started.

The murderer's screams were so loud

that his words made no sense, and he was

_— led away, to await his meeting with destiny.

eontinued, “to be hanged by the neck until One of the attendants, who had viewed
dead” There were further details as to many such dramas, turned to the .man
where and when, and, finsllly, the words, from the district attorney’s office. “I just
“Dlay God have mercy on your soul.” can’t make it out. There was a guy whe

Murder for profit is understandable. Murder in a
fit of passion has its own logic. But murder without
motive is always an enigma. Here is the true story
of a man who killed for many reasons—but
primarily because he enjoyed the thrill of murder
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bad everything, brains and ability. He
could have made a fortune honestly. Why,

I wonder, did he kill for measly peamuits?"

There was no answer, nor could there
be one. Criminologists and psychologists
have not yet been able to determine why
some men of education, background and
personality should see fit to five lives of
crime, when by remaining honest and law-
abiding, they might have amassed fortunes
and been pillars of respectability in their
communities. Why should a who ean
make nwoney legltimately strive to make
1ess money 1n erime? And why should some
fnen be driven to mwrder when there is Ao
apparent need for kjlling? Unfertunately,
we do net knew the answer. About all we
6an do is 16 study the many reeorded 6ases
of mwrder for pf@ﬁt, and murder just for
the d@k@ of murder, and then silently
Wehaer:

Just such a man, who, had he -thrown
his energies into lawful pursuits, might
have been a very successful and respected
merpber of his comnruiity, was born in the
8 town of Gilmanton, New Hanip-
shire, in the year 1860. His name was
Herinan W. Mudgett. In later years he
was to assume the other names and other
origlas, and he was to become one of his-
tory’s most fiendish murderers, How many

grsons he aetually nurdered will never be

ewa, altheugh estinates range from
erty to a eouple of hundred. And hew
§B€§@ P l@ were murdered will never be
lnewn el althaugh it is believed that
§eme wefe ch Qf@f@ﬁ’ﬁe » seme strangled,
and sem beaten, 9
death A§ a ﬂﬂ@; ﬂae Beaieg 8t hi§ vietims
d 17 egllar pits eentainin

llEﬁ@ ’a‘ﬂd ’a‘é!d§ But eften this etfielen
erer WQH 8ave §8§H? gt their
€{Qﬁ§; % 8W19§€! o megical
eeﬁaﬂdtei F Be was always
€E€f ined £ Fealize @V@fy pebny ef prekt

IS EGHiRIEs:

To rank with the “great” criminals of
history, a nmurderer ought to conform to
a certain rigid pattern. There should be
many vietims, preferably female, who are
killed over a period of years. The mur-
derer should have unusual ways of disposing
of the bodles. And he should be scieintif-

ically inclined. Also, he shoulld be young,
goodslooking, and suave. This men, born
Herman W. Mudgeti, all these
qualifications, and more, He was a physi-
cian, hypnotist, liar, and skillful business
man, and he was hanged when he was
thirty-five in Philadelphia.

IS murderer's downfall can be traced
to a string of events whieh were sef in
motlon on September 4, 1894, A é@ll@ﬁ
tbinking it wAusual that an offiee af 1816
Callowhill Street, Philadelphia, sheuld be
locked, summened the pelies. The pelice
arrived, forced the deef, and found the
bedy of a man whe, apparenily, was the
vietim of an %%?I@ﬁ he f@%@eN@ﬂd lfhft
arm were eempletely saF the
bedy lay a pips; %mem@@f
én bettle eh might Have eeﬁtaiﬁed
lerosene. The esrensf estipated that the
man had been dead threg days:

Identification was difficyilt, but the dead
man was finally discovered io be B, F.
Perry, who had been the tenant of the
office. In his pockets, poliee found several
letters, presumably from his wife in St.
Louis, which Indicated that Ms wile In-
tended to join him shortly. Neighbers kiew
very little about him, exeept that he was
supposed 10 have been some kind of im-
ventor, It is not surprising, therefors, that
the official verdict was that death was due
to bufﬁs as a result of an aceident. The

lay uﬂalaimed in the Philadelphia
gue tor ten days, and then was butied
tter's Field.

Shortly thereafter, the Fidelity Mutual
Life Association of Philadelphia received a
letter from St. Louis. The letter said that
the B. F. Perry who had died was really
Benjamin F. Pitzel, whose life had been
insured by them. A few days later, tweo
professional men, a Dr, H. H. Holmes, the
widow’s feiend, and a Jeptha Howe, her
sftorney, called at the offices of the eom-

any. With them was Alice Pltzel, aged

Fteen, the dead man's daughter, 1a due
6ourse, the body was exhumed and proper-
ly identified. The 1nsuyrance maﬁegﬂl 10,000,
was paid to Holmes, acting on behalf of the
widew and the five ehildren,

But the mafter was not to end there.
One Marian Hedgepath, a notorious train



robber and petty swindler, feeling that he
had been cheated his rightful share in the
loot, disclosed to Police Chief Larry Har-
rigan' the details of a plot to cheat a
Philadelphia insurance company. Hedge-
path was questioned and he revealed that
several months before a fellow prisoner
named Howard had offered him $500 it he
would suggest the name of an attorney
who could assist 1A a scheme to make
$10,000. Heward planned to insure the life
of B. P, Pitzel, 10 fake a fatal aceident,
to send Pitzel inte hiding, and then to
obtain a bedy at the mergue which he
would identify as Pitzel's. Heward had said
that he was an eld hand at this kind ef
fraud, having perpetrated many similar
frauds at gf ties: The atierney sug-
gested for the géeb was Jeptha Hews, whe
was to get $2500 fer his part 1A the een:
Spiraey.

Chief Harrigan suspected some fraud,
and communicated with the Philadelphia
insurance company. The police and Pink-
erton detectives were called in, and soon
investigators were hot on the trail of
Howard, allas H. H. Holmes, who was
apprehended in Boston on November 17,
1894, By that tilme, warrants had been
issued charging him with conspirasy to
defraud, murder, and horse thievery. 1t
was not leng before he confessed the in-
suranee fraud, but he denied the fuFder,
He claimed that Pitzel was net dead, but
was in Seuth Awmeriea. The bedy 6f the
dead inventer was exhuined a seeond time
and the autepsy revealed that be had died
ef peisening By ehlereferm, administered
befare the explesien and fire. The net was
beginning te tighten. Seen many details
of his weird past were unesvered. The
proved this man Helmes 16 have Been the
mest fentastie ericinal of his generation.

OLMES, or Howard, or Mudgett, had
B % spent a rather uneventful ehildhoed
ln his home town of Gilmanten, New
Hampshire, Before he was twenty-one, he
married the daughter of a refined, well-to-
de New Hampshire family, whe helped
finaice his education, He studied first in
Verment apd then at the medical scheel
of the UﬁiV@fﬁitg of Miehigan, where he
was knewn as a brilliant, altheugh erratie,
student. One night while be was still a
student at the medieal seheel, a eadaver
dl§§§£§g§gd_ while being taken te the eel-
iege tien reem. OR the same night, a
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PRIVATE DETECTIVE STORIES

resident of the town mysteriously died
after a short illness. Holmes collected the
insurance. Thus he started on his long
road of crime.

After he had finishedl with medical
school, his wife and child returned to New
Hampshire. They were not to see him again
until ten years later, when he reappeared,
this time a fugitive from justice. In the
intervening yeams, he left a long trail of
muwrder and fraud behind him.

In 1885, he turned up in Chicago as
H. H. Holmes. Casting aside his past, he
married bigamously the daughter of a
wealthy family of Wilmette, a Chicago
suburh. No longer interested in medicine,
he aftempted to carve ont a business career
for himsef. His money-making schemes
vatied somewhst, but followed a pretty set
pattern. Fiest, with worthless notes and
smooth talk, he would borfow enough

to buy some unimproved property.
Te repay the original loan, he weuld bor-
row ep the property, Then "he would build
a heuse en the property. Onee the heuse
was eompleted, he weul eafge huge quan-
tities of furnjture and other items for it.
All these purohages were on eredit, of
éaurse. By the time the fueniture company
gat around to repossegsing the fyeniture,
it wetld find enly an empty heuse god no
Helmes, who in the fmeantitie, weuld have
disappeared. There is a record that he was
ehee in an henest business, but that was
of very shert dufatien.

In between his various frauds, Holmes
found, time to father three children and to
establish himself as a solid citizen of the
community. His wife knew nothing of his
many criminal activities. How he managed
to keep the details from her is something
of a mystery.

Finally Holmes began the activities
which were to give him lasting infamy.
He started off humbly enough, as a clerk
in a drugstore in the Englewood section
of Chicago. Before long, he had bonght out
or driven ont the proprietress, and then
ia 1892 he commenced building his nwurder
castle on the opposite corner, on Sixty-
third Street. It was an enormous, strangely
construeted structure. It was huge and
ugly, more than a hundred and fifty feet
long and more than fifty feet wide, with

three storeys and a basement. The fiirst
floor was cut up into stores, ineluding a
drugstore which Holmes operated for a
time. The third floor consisted of apart-
ments. But the second floor and the base-
ment contained medieval chambers of
horror.

How Holmes got the money to ffimance
his mmrder castle is not known, but he
suceceeded in furnishing it through a master
swindle. He bought trugkloads of furniture,
mattresses, chinaware, hardware, and gas
fixtures from the Tobey PFurnlture Com-
pany and ordered them delivered to the
house on Sixty-third Street. Th furniture
cempany, still unpald a week later, sent

ent to wateh the heuse and then de:
maﬁ ed payment. When payment was net
f@:-th@amiﬁg, the eempany sent vans apd

bt‘-aWB Fepossess its pF
f@ﬂﬂd %%li&@ Wﬁ voi

the ent §W6f8 ma; He Mﬂi-
ﬁufe é‘g Bssﬂ £aageﬂ ent ang,
y, it had $een talken in. Bat EH@ a 1%95

gg%%,sgmgg et
Eﬁﬁ g@dﬂf é‘ﬂmﬁ; Bﬂﬁ d 4B %@ E&aef ﬁﬁé

It has never been determined whethef
Holmes, when he built the house, eontem-
plated merely these simple nnerehandise
swindles or the mass murders which were
later attributed to him. However he was
not prosaguted by his ereditors, and ha was
thus able to complete bis hewse ef erime.

TH'E murder house was completed in
time for the opening of the @Hiease
Fair of 1893, Helmes had deeiae& te
inte the business of mass muFder faF Pre t,
At this time, be was in Hi§ H1rtigs
and he had reaehed the height ef
aﬂa physieal ﬁewefé Wi Ens yeafﬁ
§f@wa mere %ﬁ §ems, with W
@@mﬁ exien eph: By afls;
?gaeﬁ g%f gta§efbea §EHQSHE ef ﬁet
)
and mesmerism, and he had sveivs geFtain
&fﬁﬁg@ thearigs EBHE@fﬂi the BH%S &Eﬂé
Patupe 6t human 11 u iH %
961 days, he B 8 iﬂ%‘a st
{0 EBFRREs &P E §V€f§ NG £
10 eondHet varieus %B@Fimeﬂﬁﬁ 6h HEHQE:




bodies. What it was that he hoped to prove
or establish through his experiments will
never be known. Possibly it was a diseased
mind that impelled him to murder. But
now his laboratories were complete, and,
nmore important, he had found nieans to
dispose of dead bodies. He was at last ready
to go into the murder buslness.

Although the number of his vietims will
never be known, it is sufficient to say that
newspapers of the day estimated that at
least two hundred women lost their lives
at his hands. Only when it Is realized that
Holmes operated his muider castle for only
two years, Is the tremendeous scope of his
“gnterprise” seen,

Holmes' pattern for murder and profit
was pretty much the same in all eases, He
wggllghy manage to ﬂm;!l , beaugggklw and
Wi women, especi Wi , 18
who- he would represent gimself to be a
of great fortune. As a fule, these
woen fell in leve with him. Net lea
after, they would be ma¥ried to him, an
corme to live with him at the murder castle
on Sixty-third Street. From that heuse
they never returned: After seehiring their
wealth for himself, Helmes weuld i1l and
artfully dispese of his vietims:

When police broke into the murder
castle after Holmes' death, they found it
contained neasrly a hundred rooms. There
were staircases that led newhere in par-
tleular, blind passageways, hinged walls,
false partitions, rooms with fany doors,
and rooms with no deors. 1t was ne wender
that ne vietim ever emerged alive. Holmes’
ewn apartment was at the frent ef the
heuse; A trap deer was 6ut in his bathreem,
and from it led @ shert hidden staivease
to a windewless eubicle jn-bBetween HeRks,
‘é@él?%ﬂf@@ a ehute dropped straight te 19 the

Near the rear of the house was an

asphyxiation chamber, an asbesiosdined,
windowless room. Apparently, it was the
murderer's pfaetiee to leek his vigtims into
this reom and then to turh on pas, Hew
meny of his vietims met their death this
way is not known, But direestly behind the

jation chamber was ahether ehute
dewn whieh the bodies eould be sent to the
basement. The deers t9 all the reems en
this second Heer were wired 16 ah elaberate
alarm system whieh rang a buzzef in the
miFderer's apartaments.

But the cellar was by far the eerlest
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FRIVAYE DETECTIME SYORIES

section of the building. Dark and damp,
it was filledl with a variety of operating
tahles, a erematory, pits containing quick-
lime and aclds, surgical instruments, and
strange pieces of apparatus which resem-
bled mediieval torture racks.

Some have held that Holmes used these
appliances to wring from Ms victims the
wheresbouts of their wegllh; others that
he used them to demanstrate his pet theorg
thai the human body could be stretche
indefinitely, so as to be able to produce
a race of giants by artificial meams. It was
in, this cellar that the bodies of his victims
were sometimes completely destroyed, and
other times merely stripped of their flesh
and then sold to medical institutions which
had advertised for ‘“well-jpreserved skele-
tons”.

It was toward the end of 1893 that the

murder mill ceased operations. Before the
year was out, Holmes was driven from his
castle, hotly pursued by an@% creditors
and a fire insurance co at he had
tried to defraud. Being in desperate need
of money to hold his mamy creditors at
bay, he set fire to his castle in November,
1893. He tried to collect on a $60,000 in-
suiance policy, but the proof of loss looked
fra:udulent as did the building's ownerslmp
and an investigation wasflinal WY
Thc investigation might have ended up a
blind alley, had not his old creditors begun
to make serious trouble. Holmes owed about
$50,000. Up to that time, he managed to
hola his creditors off with all sorts of
cajolery and smooth talk. But finally, on
November 22, 1893, they met in a body,
and decided to take some affirmeitive aciiom.
Their attorneys swore out warrants for the
arrest of Holmes, but he had already fled
from Chicago. He had finally become a
fugitive, and he wandered about the
eountry trying to aveid apprehension.

T is to be noted that up to thls tlme

mes was not m tro e
F&}"ﬁs \%@So g
by 1%"’33196‘ 6’6? CI efS

ursmt But so

take another ehance with his tried-amdi-true
insurance fraud. He convinced an old
friend, Benjamin P. Pitzel, that some easy

was to be made. Pitzel's widow
agreed with the plan, for she was under
the impression that there would be no
murder. Unfortunately, in his last erime,
Holies resorted to murder, and, because
of a dissatisfied confederate (Hedgepath,
who had not been given his $500 share),
the erime eame to the attention of the
police, who were successful in tracking him
dewn. Helmes was caught 1A Boston on
Neovember 17, 1894, He was brought back
6 Philadelphia, to stand trial.

Needless to say, the trial became a na-
tional sensstion. On QOctober 28, 1895, the
first day of his trial for Pitzel’s murder,
Holmes dismissed his attorneys. He boldly
undertook to try his case. Although he
displayed a remarkable familiarity with
the law, and oontinually read law books,
he offered no witnesses in his defense, and
the evidence adduced against him was sueh
that the jury w@s unantmous in finding
him guilty. Whether he weuld have besp
found gui 13' today under the same eireum-=
staﬁ@es 1§ questionable, sinee the evidenee
against him was ciroumstantial, But he was
eonvieted of murder, and he was duly
hanged at Meyamensing Prisen,

Although the murderer was convieted
and executed, many interesting questions
still remain. Since Holmes was trled in
Philadelphia for murder committed in that
city, no really thorough investigation was
ever made of his murder castle erimaes.
There is still the g uestion; Hew many
people did he kill? And also these others:
Why did he kill? Did he kill for meney
alomel OF for Passiom Or simply beeause
he enjoyed Kkilling? 'I‘hese guestions ean
never be answer there seems 1o be
no adequate explaﬁatieﬁ. But for his in-
diseretion in taking Hedge]path inte ene of
his sehennes, he might stil Be dlive today,
a free nien, and p sl ensaged 1n
his queer business of murder.



Detective Plays
a Hunch

EADQUARTIERS was on a man-
hunt. The most daring gang-
leader of recent months was still

on the loose, and the daily press was be-
ginning te ery for the mayor's scalp and
the police eommissioner's hide. If the
beys wanted t6 k@é&ﬂ?@lf jebs, semething
weuld have to be dene quiekly.

Pictures of the criminal, together with
detailed descriptions of his physical char- |,
acteristics, were immediately posted on all
public bulletin boards, and the radio sta-
tions kept up & constant of “lookout”
bulletins. Every policeman on the force,

down to the youngest rookle en the mest | 1&

outlylng beat, was lectured on the ImpoE-
tance of swift apprehensien. One lmp@f
tant physieal eharaeteristie of the

was stressed. 1t was knewn at' Ehe
erifmingl's eyes were very Bad indeed, that
he suifered from 2 severe ease of MYOpIa, (B
#nd that he eould Ret see two feet ahead
of him witheut the #4d of his HRUSUa]l
thiels ghasses:

One day shortly thereafiter, a detective,
on a routine job of investigation, noticed
a man who vaguely resermbled the racket-
eet. Only this man were no glasses,
seened to be perfectly able to do witheut
them, and also he had 2 mustache. How-
eve, anlﬂg hunehes, the detegtive
E@eked im up and breught him aleng te

adguarters, where he was beeked en a
eharge ef vagraney until the reesrd esuld
be ehecked. The detective was abeut te
be severely reprifanded By his superier
fer unduly aRneying law-abidiRg eftizens
when the report 8n thefhngerprttscame
through: Strangely eneugh, £m§ FAgR;
g}ggsut glasses; was the Mah they were

Wihat miracle had been wrought which

enzbled this man to see without glasses?

The answer is asiimpleore.
after criminal had discarded his old-fash-

CLASSIFIED SECTION

NURSES' TRBAINING SCHOOL

MAKE P TO $23-$35 WEEK AS A TRAINED prac-
tical norsell Lefrn quickly at home, Booklet Free.
Chicago School of Nursing, Dept. D35, Chicago.

DETECTRVES

DETECTIVES — Make secret Investigatiom. Experi-
ence unnecessary. DETECTIVE particulars free. Write
GEORGE WAGNER, B-125, West 86th 8t., New York.

MISCELLANEOIS

Receive mails, magazimes, samples. Your name In
&“W;Olli molling lists, 10¢. Hm GDG Broadway,
ew Yor!

PPORRONITEES—+Literatuze, Mf mail 10¢. Schell,
2003 Morris Ave., Birmingham, A

OLD COINS WANTED

WILL PAY $10.00 EACH FOR csn‘mm LIN@QLN
PENNIES! lndhnhca(lq $50.00; Dimes §1 6903 %
logue 10¢. Federal Coln Exchengs, & &.CF, Columbne

We purchase all lndlanhaed nnies. Complete catn-
logl!g 10¢. Wa B-N By, New ¥ork.

SONG POEMS WANTED

SONGWRITERS: Send for immediate. consider:
ation and FBEIE seﬂ ul;’::l? Diletionary. BICHARD
BROTHERS, 45 Bullding, €hicage.

Blaey

U. S.
WAR

BONDS
and

STAMPS




ioned pair of thick glasses for a set of the
new contact lenses, which are practically
invisible to the naked eye!

For contact lenses are. fittteld directly
over the eyebazll, and rotate with the eye
iteellf. It cannot fall off, and it can rarely
be broken while beipg worn, Although
they are said to correct vision defeets even
better than the “old-fashiened” s
tacles, they are so tiny that they are o
misplaeed.

A contact lens is made today either of
glass or plastic. Before the patient can
be fittedl for a pair, & mould is made of
his eyes, exact in every detail of structure
and curvature, and then glass or plastie is

tzken and ground to fit the mould. Once
that is done, the rest is easy, except for the
fact that the patient must accustom him-
self to wearing them, much the same as
owners of new false feetlin.

In many ways, these new lenses have
proven a boon to a world at war. An
aviator who would ordinarily be rejected
by the Air Carps for slightly under par
vision may be accepted now if his eyes
will meet the tough standards now re-
quired when 'wearing the “contacts™
And the captaln of a libetty ship findis
them 2 great eonvenlence, for he knows
that these “gllasses” will net get sprayed
6F feaged.

DAMASCUS GUN
(Contivnreliffomryppged 083)

Moreover, it looks very much as if ihey
might hang me on just such a
case! Nobody in Meadsville believes my
story—nobody except Morris Epstein. The
reason he believes it is that Hannah found
those five hundred hamdbills and showed
them to him.

That's why I've sat down and wrote all

-

this out. Because Epstein honestly be-

lieves I'm just an insane nut—and he

thinks if 1 tell the jury all about Mr. X,

and being a captain in. die sseowt amy to

overthrow the Reds and Capital and

Labor and Congress and everybody else,
rebably Il send e te the looney
use 1 of a death cell.

I
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